NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY

Effect of Lattice Misfit on Microstructural Evolution and Mechanical Properties in Gamma-Prime Strengthened Cobalt-Based Superalloys

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Field of Materials Science and Engineering

By

Ding-Wen Chung

EVANSTON, ILLINOIS

March 2020

 \bigodot Copyright by Ding-Wen Chung 2020

All Rights Reserved

Abstract

Effect of Lattice Misfit on Microstructural Evolution and Mechanical Properties in Gamma-Prime Strengthened Cobalt-Based Superalloys

Ding-Wen Chung

Superalloys strengthened by $\gamma'(L1_2)$ -precipitates in $\gamma(\text{f.c.c.})$ -matrix exhibit superior high temperature mechanical properties and environmental resistance over long periods of operation, making them ideal candidates for aerospace and energy conversion applications. The emerging class of superalloys based on Co-Al-W ternary system was identified with a melting temperature 50-100 °C higher than conventional Ni-based superalloys, which after decades of incremental development, are operating at their temperature limit. However, before Co-based superalloys may be considered for practical applications, numerous materials related challenges, such as the inferior mechanical properties, need to be addressed.

Studies are performed to investigate the effect of lattice misfit on microstructural and mechanical properties of Co-based superalloys, where Cr alloying is used to adjust the lattice misfit. The evolution of microstructure is studied using scanning electron microscopy (SEM) to characterize the stability of γ - γ' microstructure and morphology of γ' -precipitates. Atom-probe tomography (APT) provides accurate measure of elemental distribution between the γ' -precipitate and γ -matrix phase. The elevated temperature mechanical properties are assessed by creep experiments. The effect of alloying addition and lattice misfit are then correlated to the observed microstructure and mechanical properties.

Additions of Cr have shown to gradually alter the lattice parameter of γ - and γ' phases leading to a decreased lattice misfit and a transition from cuboidal to spherical γ' -morphology. The Cr-containing alloy has demonstrated a superior environmental resistance due to an improved ability to form a passivating chromium and aluminum oxide upon exposing to an oxygen atmosphere. Chromium was found to deteriorate the compressive creep resistance in quaternary (Co-9Al-9W-xCr) and quinary (Co-30Ni-10Al-7W-xCr) alloys but poses minimal impact in multicomponent systems with more than 7 alloying components. The discrepancy in creep behavior is attributed to the combined weakening effect of a reduced lattice misfit and a strengthening effect from additions of Ni, Ti and Ta.

Through both phase-field simulation and experimental observation, lattice misfit was shown to alter the stress induced directional coarsening (rafting) behavior, where tensile stress results in p-type rafts while compressive stress leads to a n-type rafted microstructure. After creep, the alloy with a higher lattice misfit exhibit an extensively rafted microstructure while alloys with a low lattice misfit maintain its initial microstructure. APT analysis suggests that compositional re-distribution occur along the γ - γ' interface and within the γ -matrix to facilitate the rafting driven diffusion during creep. The impact of γ' -raft orientation on the creep resistance was also assessed via tensile creep, and show that a n-type rafted microstructure demonstrates a creep resistance that is twice of p-type rafted microstructure. However, the instability of n-type morphology under prolonged tensile load prompts additional work to maintain the microstructure during creep.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to my thesis advisors, David Dunand and David Seidman. Without their timely mentoring over the course of my doctoral study, my research direction may have strayed away and lost track of the essentials. David Duand, I am extremely grateful for all the encouragement you gave both on and off research. You provided me with high degree of flexibility to chart my own research direction and support my decision such as in applying for ISEN cluster fellowship, DOE SCGSR fellowship and Kellogg management program. David Seidman, I am not only appreciative to your thoughtful mentoring and attention to detail, but also all the academia anecdotes and life lessons you shared with me during our unscheduled meetings when I knocked on your door. Your support for me pursuing extracurricular projects such as developing a data management schema for NUCAPT and collaborate to apply machine learning to analyze APT data has opened additional career opportunity for me.

I would also like to thank my committee members and other faculty member who contribute to my doctoral study, Professor Eric Lass, Professor Peter Voorhees and Dr. Olle Heinonen. Eric, thank you for the mentoring while I visited NIST summer of 2016. Visited NIST without much experimental background, you have taught me numerous valuable experimental skills and helped repair the mounting machine that I broke. I am also grateful for the support on alloy development you shared with us over the last five years. Professor Voorhees, while our interaction is limited, I thoroughly enjoy working within CHiMaD. The many use-cases and tool-groups you fostered within CHiMaD resulted in many of my collaborations. Olle, thank you for hosting me at ANL, teaching me the fundamentals of the phase-field method. The technique really complements my thesis by adding a mechanistic aspect to it.

In addition, I would like to acknowledge many of my colleagues who made my doctoral journey both memorable and enjoyable, including not limited to: Sung-Il Baik, Anthony De Luca, Dinc Erdeniz, Christoph Kenel, Chunan Li, Francesca Long, Richie Michi, Qingqiang Ren, Fernando Reyes, Jacques Toinin and Stephen Wilke. In particular, I would like to thank few of my colleagues who have gone above and beyond in assisting my Ph.D. endeavor. Amir Farkoosh, thank you for always offering assistance in troubleshooting our lab instruments and discussing anything on and off the academic subject. Daniel Ng, while you were my undergraduate mentee, I have profound respect to your work ethics and shrewd insight on research subject. I found that I was able to learn from you more than I was able to impart on you. Thank you for working with me for over 3 years during your undergraduate study. Nando Reyes, thank you for joining the Co subgroup and being an intellect peer who can I bounce idea and discussion off from. You attitude toward work-life balance has inspired me tremendously. Daniel Sauza, thank you for spending countless hours during the busiest time of your Ph.D. study to help me get started on my project. Without your relentless mentoring at the start of my Ph.D. education, I would not be able to get a foothold for this thesis. Wenkun Wu, thank you for teaching me about MOOSE and phase field during my term at ANL. You had helped me expanded upon my limited computational background and make connection with the experiments I performed at Northwestern University. Furthermore, I would like to express

my appreciation to Dieter Isheim, Carla Shute and Zugang Mao for the technical support of NUCAPT and MatCi facility.

My sincere and unparalleled gratitude to my family for their support throughout the years. Mom, without the privileged of receiving a formal education, you have always wanted to give Joe and me the best education to your ability. Your resiliency toward life have taught me more than any book can. Dad, thanks for laying down a solid foundation to my education. Without your support and sacrifice, I would never been able to attend an international school let alone come to U.S. for education. Joe, it is extremely satisfying to see you mature over the course of my doctoral study. I hope we will continue to motivate each other over the years to come. Finally, to Teresa, thank you for all the love and encouragement over my "seasoned" Ph.D. career. You have witnessed me failed in many ways, but have always stayed along my side and offered your never-ending support. This thesis and educational milestone would not been possible without you.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Acknowledgements	6
Table of Contents	9
List of Tables	13
List of Figures	16
Chapter 1. Introduction	31
1.1. Ni-Based Superalloys	31
1.2. Co-Based Superalloys	37
1.3. Rafting in γ' -Strengthened Superalloys	42
1.4. Present Research	45
Chapter 2. Effects of Cr on the Properties of Multicomponent Cobalt-Based	
Superalloys with Ultra High γ' Volume Fraction	47
2.1. Introduction	48
2.2. Experimental Methods	49
2.3. Results and Discussion	53
2.4. Summary and Conclusion	70
Supplemental Information	

Chapte	er 3. Effect of Cr Additions on a γ - γ' Microstructure and Creep Behavior of	
	a Cobalt-Based Superalloy with Low W Content	77
3.1.	Introduction	78
3.2.	Experimental Methods	80
3.3.	Results and Discussion	83
3.4.	Conclusion	100
Supp	blemental Information	102
Chapte	er 4. Creep Behavior and Rafting Mechanisms in Cr-Containing γ' -	
	Strengthened Cobalt-Based Superalloys with Different Lattice	
	Misfit	104
4.1.	Introduction	105
4.2.	Experimental Methods	107
4.3.	Results and Discussion	110
4.4. Summary and Conclusions		129
Supp	Supplemental Information	
Chapte	er 5. Influence γ' -Raft Orientation on Creep Resistance of Monocrystalline	
	Cobalt-Based Superalloys	136
5.1.	Introduction	137

5.2.	Experimental Methods	140
5.3.	Results	141
5.4.	Discussion	151
5.5.	Summary and Conclusions	164

		11
Supp	lemental Information	167
Chapte	r 6. Predicting Morphology of γ' -Precipitate via Phase Field Simulations	170
6.1.	Introduction	170
6.2.	Theoretical Framework and Simulation Method	171
6.3.	Results and Discussion	175
6.4.	Summary and Conclusion	181
Chapte	r 7. Summary and Recommendation	183
7.1.	Summary of Results	183
7.2.	Suggestions for Future Work	185
Referen	ICes	190
Append	lix A. Evaluation of Cobalt-Based Superalloy Thermodynamic Database	211
A.1.	Introduction	211
A.2.	Evaluation	211
A.3.	Conclusion	216
Append	lix B. Derivation of Residuals and Jacobians for Cahn-Hilliard Equation	
	with Anisotropic Interfacial Energy	217
B.1.	Introduction	217
B.2.	Energy Functional with Anisotropic Gradient Coefficient	218
В.З.	Derivation of the Residuals	219
B.4.	Derivation of the Jacobian	221
B.5.	Summary	223

Supplemental Information	225
Appendix C. Phase Segmentation in Atom-Probe Tomography Using Deep	
Learning-Based Edge Detection	229
C.1. Introduction	229
C.2. Methodology: Segmentation of Phases	233
C.3. Data Acquisition and Preparation	236
C.4. Results and Discussion	239
C.5. Summary and Conclusion	248

List of Tables

2.1Nominal composition (at.%), with values in parentheses given in (wt.%) and phase transformation temperatures measured by DSC of the L24 series of Cr-containing high γ' -volume fraction Co-based superalloys. The composition of the alloys are measured using SEM-EDS in at.% to compare with the nominal composition. 50Composition of γ - and γ' -phases, γ'/γ partitioning coefficient κ , 2.2lever-rule and stereologically derived $\gamma'\text{-volume}$ fraction of L24-0Cr, 60 -4Cr and -8Cr. 3.1Nominal (Nom.) and ICP-OES and EDS-measured compositions (at.%) of Co-based superalloys with their solvus, solidus, and liquidus temperatures (°C). The 0Cr alloy has the same nominal composition as alloy L19 in Ref. [1]. An asterisk (*) indicates that the value is below the EDS detection limit. 81 3.2Elemental compositions (at.%) of the bulk material and far-field (ff) concentrations in γ - and γ' -phases measured by atom-probe tomography, and the calculated partitioning coefficients $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma}$. The

far-field concentrations have a global average error of ± 0.12 at.%. A

	range of values is given for the B concentration in γ' due to the lack	
	of a plateau.	91
4.1	Nominal composition of the D-xCr series alloy given in at. $\%$ and	
	(wt.%) along with the phase transformation temperatures measured	
	by DSC.	107
4.2	APT measured composition (at.%) of γ -, γ' -phase and $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	
	partitioning coefficient in the as-aged and post-creep 2Cr alloy.	124
4.3	APT measured composition (at.%) of γ and γ' phases and $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	
	partitioning coefficient for the as-aged and post-creep 6Cr alloy.	127
4.4	APT measured tip composition (at.%) of γ -and γ' -phases, $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	
	partitioning coefficient of each of the D-xCr alloy under 900 $^{\circ}$ C / 168	
	h as-aged condition.	135
6.1	Model parameters and materials properties input for the phase field	
	model used to simulate equilibrium $\gamma'\text{-morphology.}$	173
A.1	EDS measured composition, SEM derived and thermodynamically	
	calculated volume fraction of γ' phase in an in-house arc-melted	
	quinternary alloy series with varying concentration of Cr.	213
A.2	Comparison of the literature reported phase composition and volume	
	fraction of Cr containing Co based superalloys measured by APT [2]	
	and calculated from PanCo_TH.	214

A.3	Comparison of the phase composition and volume fraction of L24Cr	
	alloy series measured by APT and calculated from PanCo_TH.	215
A.4	Comparison of the phase composition and volume fraction of L19	

alloy measured by APT and calculated from PanCo_TH. 216

List of Figures

1.1	(a) γ - γ' microstructure in γ' -strengthened Ni-based superalloy.	
	Crystal structure of (b) L1 ₂ ordered intermetallic $\gamma'\text{-phase}$ and (c)	
	disordered f.c.c. γ -matrix.	32
1.2	Variation of CRSS as a function of mean particle radius. Region 1	
	corresponds to strengthening by weakly coupled superdislocation,	
	region 2 to the strongly coupled superdislocation, and region 3 to the	
	Orowan mechanism [3].	33
1.3	Anomalous yield stress for various single crystal Ni-based superalloys.	34
1.4	Typical creep behavior of a Ni-based superalloy, plotting creep strain	
	as a function of time under constant stress.	35
1.5	Cross sectional schematic of a typical oxidized surface structure in	
	γ' -strengthened superalloys.[4]	37
1.6	Plot of weight gain as a function of oxidation time for different oxide	
	growth kinetic mechanisms $[5]$.	38
1.7	Comparison between 10 and 30 at.% on the effect of γ' phase field in	
	Co-Ni-Al-W system [6].	40

1.8Creep behavior of Co-Al-W-2Ta and Co-Al-Ta-2Ta-2Ti at 1000 °C / 137 MPa, demonstrating the creep strengthening effect of Ti addition [7, 8]. 41 1.9(a) Simulated morphology of γ' -precipitate under stress-free condition. Simulated morphology of (b) p-type and (c) n-type rafted γ' precipitates that occur when tensile or compressive stress is applied along z-axis [9]. 44 2.1Microstructure of a) L24-0Cr, b) -4Cr, c) -8Cr and d) -12Cr aged at 900 °C for 168 h. In, L24-8Cr, the μ -phase precipitates can be seen around the grain boundaries, while in L24-12Cr, the μ -phase appears throughout the microstructure. Insets of c) and d) illustrate the 54morphologies of the γ' -precipitates. 2.2X-ray diffraction pattern displaying γ -and γ' -peaks for: a) L24-0Cr, b) -4Cr, c) -8Cr, and d) -12 Cr aged at 900 °C for 168 h. Peaks for the μ -phase are observed in both L24-8Cr and -12Cr. 552.3Lattice parameters and lattice parameter misfits between the γ and γ' -phases measured employing high-energy synchrotron X-ray 57diffraction. 2.4APT reconstruction and elemental proximity histogram of: a) L24-0Cr, b) -4Cr, and c) -8Cr heat treated for 24 h at 900 °C. 582.5Plot of elemental partitioning coefficient, κ , of L24-0Cr, -4Cr and -8Cr. 61

2.6	Oxide structure and elemental distribution of a) L24-0Cr and b) -12Cr	
	measured by SEM-EDS after 20 h at 900 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ to permit isothermal	
	oxidation.	63
2.7	Oxide scale thickness and parabolic rate constant, k , as a function of	
	Cr concentration. The oxidation tests were performed at 900 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ for	
	20 h.	65
2.8	Norton plot of L24-0Cr, -4Cr and -8Cr subjected to compression	
	creep at 850 °C. The stress exponents, n , are derived from the	
	Mukherjee-Bird-Dorn power law creep model.	66
2.9	Post-creep microstructure of a), b) L24-0Cr, c), d) -4Cr and e), f)	
	-8Cr. Planes perpendicular and parallel to the loading direction are	
	shown to illustrate γ' rafting direction.	69
2.10	$\gamma'\text{-solvus}, \ \gamma\text{-solidus}$ and $\gamma\text{-liquidus}$ temperature as a function of Cr	
	concentration.	72
2.11	Volume fraction of γ' and μ phase for -0Cr, -4Cr, -8Cr and -12Cr heat	
	treated at different temperature and duration. The volume fraction	
	was estimated using stereological method.	73
2.12	Pseudo-Voigt fitting of the superimposed γ and γ' synchrotron x-ray	
	diffraction peaks for L24 a)-0Cr, b)-4Cr, c)-8Cr and d)-12Cr. Using	
	the stereologically derived volume fraction as the constraint, the	

fitting was performed via JADE, x-ray diffraction analysis software.

- 2.13 (Color online) Oxide scale elemental distribution of L24-12Cr after 900°C 20 h of isothermal oxidation which illustrate the distinct layer between the top Cr_2O_3 scale and the bottom Al_2O_3 scale. 74
- 2.14 (Color online) Oxide scale elemental distribution of a) -4Cr and b)
 -8Cr after 900°C 20 h of isothermal oxidation.
 75
- 2.15 a) Δm and b) $(\Delta m)^2$ for -0Cr, -4Cr, -8Cr and -12Cr during isothermal oxidation at 900°C for 20 hours. 75
- 2.16 Strain as a function of time for the mechanical creep tests. a), b) two distinct -0Cr samples, c) -4Cr and d) -8Cr. -0Cr sample is highly brittle and enter tertiary creep earlier than -4Cr and -8Cr, thus two samples were crept to ensure data validity.
 76
- 2.17 Post-creep microstructure of -0Cr, a) different rafting direction between grains and b) grain that does not raft. 76
- 3.1 Secondary electron micrographs of: (a) 0C; (b) 4Cr; (c) 8Cr; and (d) 12Cr alloys aged at 900 °C for 168 h, showing γ - γ' microstructures in grains (seen at higher magnification in insets), as well as grainboundary precipitates consisting of coarsened γ' (0Cr and 4Cr) and μ phase (8Cr and 12Cr). 84
- 3.2 Secondary electron micrograph of a 12Cr alloy aged at 900 °C for 1000h, showing needle-like secondary precipitates at grain boundaries and

- 3.3 Microstructural evolution of alloys aged at 900 °C in terms of: (a) γ' volume fraction, (b) equivalent precipitate radius, and (c) number density. Error bars represent a 95% confidence interval. 88
- 3.4 APT reconstructions and proximity histograms for (a) 0Cr, (b) 4Cr, and (c) 8Cr samples heat-treated at 900 °C for 168 h. Concentration profiles in the proximity histograms are labeled with their corresponding elements and can be read on one of the two concentration axes.
- 3.5 Partitioning coefficient $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma}$ in 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr samples heat treated at 900 °C for 168 h, with values greater than 1 indicating partitioning to the γ' -phase. 95
- 3.6 Double logarithmic plot of minimum, steady-state strain rate at 850
 °C vs. compressive stress for our 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr alloys, compared to literature data for Co-9Al-9W-0.04B alloys containing Cr (dashed lines labeled CoAlW-xCr) from Povstugar *et al.* [2]. Stress exponents *n* are given in parentheses.
- 3.7 Post-creep SEM micrographs of (a, b) 0Cr, (c, d) 4Cr, and (e, f) 8Cr samples, showing rafted γ' structure for 0Cr and 4Cr in two orientations with respect to applied stress σ . 99

86

94

3.8	Phase diagram of γ' solvus and γ solidus and liquidus temperatures	
	determined by differential scanning calorimetry.	102
3.9	Secondary electron SEM micrograph of 0Cr aged at 900 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ for 2000	h
	showing coalescence of γ' -precipitates.	102
3.10	Post-creep SEM micrograph of 4Cr sample displaying grain-boundar	У
	cracking.	103
4.1	Microstructure of D-xCr alloys, (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr and (d) 6C	'n
	aged at 900 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ for 168 h. Insets show the grain boundary of each	
	alloy decorated with boride precipitates.	112
4.2	Double-logarithmic plot of minimum creep strain-rate vs. applied	
	compressive stress at 900 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ for D-xCr alloys. The slope of each allo	у
	corresponds to the stress exponent, n , derived from the power law	
	creep model Eq. 4.1. Total accumulated creep strain and elapsed	
	time of each creep specimens is as follow, 0Cr: $\epsilon_f=10\%$, $t_f=75h_z$;
	2Cr: $\epsilon_f=14\%$, $t_f=47h;$ 4Cr: $\epsilon_f=11\%$, $t_f=43h;$ 6Cr: $\epsilon_f=9\%$,
	$t_f = 15h.$	114
4.3	Post-creep microstructure of D-xCr alloys (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr	
	and (d) 6Cr after multi-stress creep at 900 $^\circ\mathrm{C}.$ Micrographs shows the	ıe
	planes parallel, perpendicular to the loading axis and the post-creep)
	grain boundary microstructure.	117
4.4	Plot of creep strain as a function of time for each of the D-xCr alloy	τ

during 150 MPa / 900 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ compressive creep experiments lasting for

50 h. The strain rates measured from the last 10 h of the experiment are shown for each alloy. Primary creep strain and elapsed time are estimated by extrapolating steady-state creep strain rate to t = 0. 119Post-creep microstructure of D-xCr alloy series (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr and (d) 6Cr after the 150 MPa / 50 h / 900 $^{\circ}$ C of compressive creep. All microstructures correspond to cross section parallel to the applied stress. 120APT reconstruction of the 2Cr alloy (a) in as-aged condition and b) after compressive creep for 50 h (150 MPa / 900 °C). Iso-concentration surface inset of both (a) and (b) highlights the γ - γ' interface in yellow (Co=52 at.%). Co (Co=64 at.%) and Cr (Cr = 4 at.%) enrichment within the γ -matrix are highlight by blue and magenta surfaces, respectively. The compressive stress was applied along the x-y direction and γ' -precipitate is rafting along the y-direction. 121Compositional profile of Co, Ni, Al, Cr and W in the crept 2Cr alloy, across both the transverse and horizontal γ -channel, in a n-type rafted microstructure. Compositional gradients exist for Co, Ni and Al across the γ -channels while Cr and W concentrations remain unchanged. 123Atom-probe tomographic reconstruction of the 6Cr alloy in (a) as-aged condition and b) after compressive creep for 50 h (150 MPa / 900 °C). Iso-concentration surface inset of both (a) and (b) highlights

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

of γ -stabilizers at Co=61 at.% and Cr = 11 at.% reveal no local solute enrichment in these nanotips. The compressive stress was applied along the z direction in the crept specimen. 125

- 4.9 Compositional profile of constituent elements of crept 6Cr alloy across both the transverse and horizontal γ-channel shown in Figure 4.8. No significant inhomogeneity is observed across the γ-channels. 126
 4.10 Schematic illustration of rafting mechanism [10, 11, 12, 13] in a compressively crept positive-misfit superalloy. (a) Under applied load, γ' forming elements (*i.e.*, Ni, Al and W) diffuses from horizontal to transverse interfaces. Directionally coarsened γ' exudes γ-stabilizers into transverse γ-channel. (b) Local enrichment of γ-stabilizers coupled with a receding horizontal γ-γ' interfaces lead to cross-flux of γ-stabilizers toward the horizontal channels. (c) γ'-precipitates coalesce forming a rafted microstructure. 130
- 4.11 Illustration of focus-ion beam lift out of a rafted region in post-creep
 D-2Cr. (a) Microstructure of a rafted region. (b) Pt deposition was applied onto the region to prevent ion-beam damage during life-out.
 (c) Lift-out of the region of interest. (d) Specimen is mounted onto Si pillar, (e) sharpen via ion milling for atom-probe experiment. (f)
 Final tip shape with a tip radius of ≈ 20 nm.
- 4.12 Microstructure of boride decorated grain boundaries of (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr and (d) 6Cr after boride precipitation heat treatment at 1050 °C for 12 h. 133

- 4.13 Atom-probe tomographic reconstruction and proximity histogram of D-xCr after heat treatment at 900 °C for 168 h; (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr and (d) 6Cr. 134
- 4.14 Plot of elemental partitioning coefficient, $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$, of D-xCr. The uncertainty of B partitioning coefficient is not plotted due to its miniscule concentration. 134
- 5.1 Pre-rafting experiments lasting 50 h, showing time dependence of
 (a) creep strain (absolute value) and (b) creep strain rate (absolute value) as a function of time for monocrystalline Co-based superalloys
 (L19C) under +150 MPa tensile stress at 900 °C (blue) and -150 MPa compressive stress at 940 °C (green).
- 5.2 Secondary electron micrographs of L19C after 50 h of pre-rafting creep (as shown in Figure 5.1). (a) Control specimen (not subjected to an applied stress during 50 h) showing (100) planes with cuboidal γ' -precipitates, (b) rafted specimen showing p-type γ' -precipitates on (100) and (001) planes after +150 MPa tensile stress at 900 °C / 50 h, and (c) rafted specimen showing n-type γ' -precipitates on (100) and (001) planes after -150MPa compressive stress at 940 °C / 50 h. 144
- 5.3 305 MPa tensile creep at 900 °C of (a) creep strain and (b) creep strain rate for cuboid (red), p-prerafted (blue), and n-preraft (green) specimens. Two specimens of p-preraft and n-preraft were crept to ensure reproducibility. 146

- 5.4 Secondary electron micrographs of the (a) cuboid, (b) p-preraft, and
 (c) n-preraft microstructure after tensile creep at 305 MPa at 900 °C.
 All micrographs show the (100) plane that is parallel to the applied stress axis.
- 5.5 250 MPa tensile creep at 900 °C of (a) creep strain and (b) creep strain rate as a function of strain for cuboid (red), p-preraft (blue), and n-preraft (green) specimens. Dotted lines correspond to the average creep strain rate at different times during the creep experiment, highlighting the different creep behavior regimes after primary creep. 148
- 5.6 Secondary electron micrographs of the (a) cuboid, (b) p-preraft, and (c) n-preraft microstructures after tensile creep at 250 MPa. All micrographs show the (100) plane that is parallel to the applied stress axis. 149
- 5.7 205 MPa tensile creep at 900 °C of (a) creep strain and (b) creep strain rate for the cuboid (red), p-preraft (blue), and n-preraft (green) specimens. Dotted lines correspond to the average creep strain rate at different time during the creep experiment, highlighting the different creep behavior regimes after primary creep. 151
- 5.8 Secondary electron micrographs of the (a) cuboid, (b) p-preraft, and (c) n-preraft microstructures after tensile creep at 205 MPa. All micrographs show the (100) plane that is parallel to the applied stress axis. 152

- 5.9 Schematic illustration of local stress state on γ -matrix and γ' precipitates in a positive-misfit superalloy during (a) stress-free, (b)
 tensile stress, and (c) compressive stress. Red arrows indicate a more
 tensile and blue arrows a more compressive stress state with respect
 to the stress-free condition. 153
- 5.10 Microstructure and creep deformation mechanism for the cuboid, pand n-preraft specimens after (a) pre-rafting, (b) 305 MPa, (c) 250 MPa and (d) 205 MPa tensile creep. The gray shades correspond to the primary deformation γ -volume during tensile creep. 156
- 5.11 Double-logarithmic plot of minimum strain rate vs. tensile stress for creep at 900 °C of monocrystalline L19C with cuboid (red squares), p-preraft (blue upward triangles) and n-preraft (green downward triangles) microstructure. The minimum strain rate of the cuboid specimen at 150 MPa is extracted from the rupture test shown in Supplemental Figure 5.13. A Ni-based superalloy, SRR99, with cuboidal (black opened circle) and p-type pre-rafted (black opened diamond) microstructure crept at 1000 °C highlight the similar creep strengthening behavior from the rafted microstructure [14]. 162
- 5.12 Double-logarithmic plot of time to reach 3% creep strain vs. tensile stress for creep at 900 °C of monocrystalline L19C with cuboid (red squares), p-preraft (blue upward triangles), and n-preraft (green downward triangles) microstructure. The time to 3% creep strain of the cuboid specimen at 150 MPa is extracted from the rupture test

shown in Supplemental Figure 5.13. Data for the Ni-based superalloy SRR99, with cuboidal (black opened circle) and p-type pre-rafted (black opened diamond) microstructure crept at 1000 °C [14], are plotted for comparison. 164

- 5.13 Tensile creep rupture test, performed at 150 MPa and 900 °C, for L19C with unrafted cuboidal γ' starting microstructure, showing (a) strain evolution with time and (b) strain-rate evolution with strain. 167
- 5.14 Creep strain (absolute value) during pre-rafting for monocrystalline L19C. Blue (tensile 150 MPa at 900 °C) and green (compressive 150 MPa at 940 °C) curves are shown in Figure 5.1(a). Red curves are the tensile pre-rafting creep behavior generated when producing p-preraft specimens. 168
- 5.15 Tensile creep behavior, pre- and post-creep microstructure of p-type pre-rafted and unrafted Ni-based superalloy SRR99 under (a) 300, (b) 200 and (c) 150 MPa at 1000 °C. Reproduced from Ref. [14]. 169
- 6.1 Two-dimensional simulation domain with a γ' -precipitate embedded in a γ -volume. All external stress is applied in the y-direction. 174
- 6.2 (a) Equilibrium morphology of the γ' -precipitate with different lattice misfit, ranging from $\delta = -0.5$ to 0.5%. The shear stress, σ_{xy} component of the γ - γ' system with (b) $\delta = -0.5\%$, (b) $\delta = 0.0\%$ and (c) $\delta = 0.5\%$ highlight the large shear stress at the {110} and {111} lattice plane that arise from lattice misfit of an superalloy. 176

- 6.3 Plot of precipitate aspect ratio as a function of lattice misfit when the system is subjected to a 400 MPa of tensile stress. 177
- 6.4 (a) Plot of precipitate aspect ratio as a function of applied stress for a superalloy with a lattice misfit of $\delta = 0.5\%$. (b) Experimental observation demonstrating that γ' -precipitates in Co-based superalloy coarsen at a different rate when creep under tension and compression. The γ' -microstructure is significantly more rafted when loaded in tension than in compression. Both micrographs show the 110 cross-section after the creep specimens reached 5% creep strain. The creep experiments was performed along the [100] direction at 850 °C at 400 MPa and lasted 755 h under compression, 380 h under tension [15].
- 6.5 Map of stress state at the interface and the γ -matrix surrounding a γ' -precipitate under (a) zero applied stress, (b) 400 MPa of tensile stress and (c) -400 MPa of compressive stress. The corresponding chemical potential, $\mu = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \eta}$, under (d) 400 MPa of tensile stress and (e) -400 MPa of compressive stress. 180
- 7.1 Microstructure and interfacial outline of Co-based superalloys after (a) compressive -150 MPa, (b) tensile 150 MPa and (c) un-stressed 0 MPa of creep for 50 h at 900 °C. The compressive, tensile and un-stressed micrograph each exhibit an interfacial length per unit area of 6.57, 7.60 and 8.94 μm^{-1} , respectively. 188

A.1 Co-Al-W ternary phase diagram at 900°C a) measured experim		7
	[16] and b) reproduced from the PanCo_TH database [17].	212
A.2	Comparison of experimentally measured [6] and PanCo_TH calculated	1
	quaternary Co-Al-W-Ni 900°C phase diagram with a)10at% Ni andb) 50at% Ni.	212
B.1	Precipitate morphology a) with a low $\{100\}$ interfacial energy and b)	
	with a low $\{111\}$ interfacial energy.	218
C.1	Sample training image from BSDS 500 dataset	235
C.2	Two- and three-dimensional edge detection map in a synthetic Co-Al	
	alloy generated from MD simulation.	240
C.3	Two- and three-dimensional edge detection map in synthetic Co-Al-W	7
	alloy generated using IVAS.	242
C.4	Two- and three-dimensional edge detection map in the experimentally	7
	obtained APT data set from an L1 ₂ -strengthened Al-Si-Sc-Er	
	superalloy.	243
C.5	Two- and three-dimensional edge detection map of the experimentally	7
	obtained APT data set from a Co-based superalloy.	245
C.6	Comparison of iso-concentration interface generated using IVAS	
	software and the HED generated interfaces.	246

C.7 *Proxigram* comparisons on the MD and IVAS generated synthetic data sets. *Proxigram* concentration profile derived from IVAS display a narrower interfacial width in comparison to the HED method. 246

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1. Ni-Based Superalloys

The superior mechanical properties at high homologous temperature coupled with the minimal degradation in highly corrosive environment over extended operation, Ni-based superalloys have long been the materials of choice for turbine blades and discs in jet engines and thermal electrical power conversion applications. The superior mechanical properties of Ni-based superalloys can be attributed to the coherent ordered intermetallic γ' -precipitate (Ni₃Al) with L1₂ crystal structure embedded in the disordered face center cubic (f.c.c.) γ -matrix (see Figure 1.1). Over the last 70 years, significant effort has been devoted to improve the performance of Ni-based superalloys through composition tailoring, process optimization and microstructure design. However, after decades of development, Ni-based superalloys are reaching their performance limits. The materials properties and underlying strengthening mechanisms in Ni-based superalloys are summarized below.

In a typical precipitation strengthened metallic system, mechanisms such as stacking fault energy, interfacial energy and Orowan strengthening all contribute to the increased critical resolved shear stress (CRSS) of the materials. However, in Ni-based superalloys, the effect of order strengthening outweighs other contributions. In the γ -phase, slip deformation occurs by dislocation glide on the $a/2 \langle 1\bar{1}0 \rangle \{111\}$ system. In order for the





Figure 1.1. (a) γ - γ' microstructure in γ' -strengthened Ni-based superalloy. Crystal structure of (b) L1₂ ordered intermetallic γ' -phase and (c) disordered f.c.c. γ -matrix.

dislocation to shear through an ordered γ' -precipitate, a pair of superpartial dislocation must form to prevent the energetically unfavorable bond in Ni₃Al. The superpartial dislocation pair is referred to as the superdislocation. Superdislocation creates a faulted strip, anti-phase boundary (APB), raising the system energy. The energy cost for superdislocation formation upon shearing defines the CRSS in the system [18].

At a low homologous temperature, when γ' -particles are small, with a low volume fraction and a low APB energy, the superdislocation is considered as weakly coupled since they do not necessarily reside in a single γ' -particle (region 1 in Figure 1.2). In this case, the CRSS scales with $(fr)^{1/2}$ where f is the γ' volume fraction and r is the γ' particle radius. In the case where APB spacing is comparable to the particle size (large γ' particle size), the elastic repulsion force between two superpartial dislocations becomes critical since they now reside in one γ' -particle and are considered to be strongly coupled (region 2 in Figure 1.2). The energy penalty for superdislocation to shear through γ' particle scales with $r^{-1/2}$ when $r \to \infty$. Thus, the peak CRSS occurs at the transition from weakly to strongly coupled superdislocation as shown by region 3 in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2. Variation of CRSS as a function of mean particle radius. Region 1 corresponds to strengthening by weakly coupled superdislocation, region 2 to the strongly coupled superdislocation, and region 3 to the Orowan mechanism [3].

In contrast to most materials which have a yield strength that decreases with temperature, Ni-based superalloys exhibit anomalous yielding where yield stress increases with temperature. Figure 1.3 shows the anomalous yielding behavior in various single crystal Ni-based superalloys. The peak stress is reached around 800 °C followed by a rapid decline. The specific mechanism of anomalous yielding behavior is still subjected to debate, but it is widely accepted that upon deformation at elevated temperature, superpartial dislocation cross-slip from the octahedral {111} planes to the cubic {100} planes. Upon cross-slip, the leading superpartial dislocation is immobilized on the cubic {100} plane without its trailing superpartial. Additional stress is needed to promote a cross-slip back to the octahedral {111} planes. With increasing temperature, more superdislocations are thermally activated onto the {100} planes, resulting in an increase in γ' yield strength. Beyond the peak stress, the materials become cubic $\{100\}$ slip dominant and the yield strength of γ' -phase decreases with temperature.



Figure 1.3. Anomalous yield stress for various single crystal Ni-based superalloys.

When Ni-based superalloys are subjected to mechanical stress at elevated temperature, the primary deformation mechanism is creep. During creep, plastic deformation accumulates over time, ultimately leads to failure. Typical creep processes are classified into three regimes, primary, secondary and tertiary creep as shown in Figure 1.4. The rapid initial transient primary creep is characterized by rapid dislocation accumulation within the γ -matrix, which is more compliant compared to the γ' -phase. In secondary creep, dislocation annihilation and multiplication is balanced, resulting in a constant dislocation density. During the secondary creep, as the γ -matrix becomes saturated with dislocations, fractions of matrix dislocations begin to shear through γ' -precipitates via various mechanisms such as stacking fault and superdislocation reaction at the interface [10]. The final tertiary creep regime is characterized by a rapid increase in strain rate and internal cavity formation. Since superalloys spend majority of operation in secondary creep, quantification of steady state creep rate is critical in predicting the creep resistance. Assuming no significant microstructural evolution occur during creep, the steady state creep strain rate $\dot{\epsilon}_{ss}$ of the alloy is characterized by:

(1.1)
$$\dot{\epsilon}_{ss} = A\sigma^n \exp\left\{-\frac{Q}{RT}\right\}$$

where A is a constant, σ is the applied stress, n is the stress exponent, Q is the creep activation energy, R is the gas constant and T is the temperature. In Ni-based superalloys, creep resistance may be improved through various methods, such as solid-solution strengthening, optimization of γ' volume fraction, increased stacking fault and APB energy, etc.



Figure 1.4. Typical creep behavior of a Ni-based superalloy, plotting creep strain as a function of time under constant stress.

At elevated temperature, Ni-based superalloys are required to exhibit superior oxidation and corrosion resistance to avoid surface or grain boundary embrittlement. To ensure an adequate intrinsic environmental resistance, Ni-based superalloys usually contain high concentration of Al and/or Cr, which facilitate formation of self-passivating oxide when exposed to an oxygen atmosphere. Following that, a metallic bond coat is applied along with ceramic thermal barrier coatings (TBCs) to further enhance Ni-based superalloy's environmental and thermal resistance [19]. In the interest of bulk metallic properties, only the intrinsic oxidation properties of the alloy will be addressed here.

Under an oxidizing environment, layer of oxide scale will form on metal surface spontaneously. Figure 1.5 shows an oxidized surface microstructure of a superalloy. The formation of oxide consumes certain γ' forming elements resulting in a γ' depletion zone. In general, an oxide layer is thin, dense and thermodynamically stable within the operation temperature and adheres to the metal surface. Chromium forms a protective chromia scale, Cr_2O_3 , when exposed to oxygen at an intermediate temperature. Chromia exhibits a low oxygen ion conductivity, effectively passivates further oxidation. However, at temperature above 1000 °C, chromia is further oxidized to form a volatile CrO_3 . In contrast to Cr, Al promotes high temperature stability above 1000 °C by forming α alumina, Al₂O₃. The oxygen ion conductivity of alumina is lower than that of chromia, and is stable within the operating temperature of Ni-based superalloys. Nonetheless, at low temperature, other metastable allotrope of alumina, namely γ -, δ - and θ -alumina are formed. Metastable alumina allotrope are porous and contain larger concentration of vacancies, thus less effective in passivating further oxidation[**20**].

As shown in Figure 1.6, in an oxidizing metallic system, the kinetics of oxide growth may be categorized into: parabolic, logarithmic, and linear growth. Under the conditions where the oxide layer is dense and ion diffusion is rate limiting, the oxide growth follows the parabolic law. This is the most common method to characterized the passivating


Figure 1.5. Cross sectional schematic of a typical oxidized surface structure in γ' -strengthened superalloys.[4]

ability of a superalloy. At moderate or low temperature, oxidation profile may follow the logarithmic kinetics at the initial growth stage that is determined by interfacial kinetics. In the condition where the oxidation is not limited by ion diffusion or interfacial reaction rate, a linear trend may occur. This is commonly observed in cracked or porous oxide films [5]. The breakdown of the protective oxide layer may result in breakaway oxidation and facilitate mechanical failure.

1.2. Co-Based Superalloys

In 2006, Sato *et al.*[16] re-discovered the ternary Co-Al-W system with a γ - γ' microstructure parallel to that of Ni-based superalloys^{*}. With the performance of Ni-based superalloys approaching its thermodynamic limit, γ' -strengthened Co-based superalloys with a melting temperature 50-100 °C higher than that of Ni-based superalloys offer a potential to supplant traditional Ni-based superalloys in turbine applications. However, for

^{*}Co-Al-W γ' -strengthened Co-based superalloys was originally discovered by C.S. Lee in 1971, but the finding was never published [21].



Figure 1.6. Plot of weight gain as a function of oxidation time for different oxide growth kinetic mechanisms[5].

Co-based superalloys to be considered for practical usage, numerous materials challenges need to be overcame:

- The Co-Al-W system exhibits a lower γ'-soluve temperature, such that the strengthening γ'-precipitates dissolve back into the γ-matrix at a lower temperature than commercial Ni-based superalloys.
- Due to the heavy reliance on W, Co-based superalloys have a higher mass density, imposing additional mechanical stress when used in a rotating turbine blade.
- Co-based superalloys exhibit a lower intrinsic oxidation resistance since Co is more likely to oxidized compared to Ni.

• Co-based superalloys, in general, have a worse high temperature mechanical properties, *e.g.*, creep resistance, compared to commercial Ni-based superalloys.

To overcome these materials challenges, approaches such as multicomponent composition design, microstructural engineering and process control were used to improve individual or collective materials properties. Gaining insight on the fundamental difference between Ni- and Co-based system in terms of atomistic, meso-scale properties and microstructure evolution may also allow us to devise an improved alloy.

Early experiments and first principle calculations shown that γ' in the ternary Co-Al-W system is metastable. After prolong aging at 900 °C, the volume fraction of γ' decreases and decomposes into D0₁₉ and B₂ phase[**22**, **23**]. To stabilize γ' -phase and enhance the performance of Co-based superalloys, numerous alloying elements have been added to study their effect [**24**, **25**].

Nickel additions expand the γ' phase field, allowing the addition of other elements without forming topological close-packed (TCP) phases. Figure 1.7 compares the γ' phase field in 10 and 30 at.% Ni system. Since Ni₃Al γ' is the strengthening phase in Ni-based superalloys, a continuous γ' phase field exist from the Co side to the Ni side in Co-Ni-Al-W system. Nickel also increases the γ' solvus temperature [**6**, **26**]. Recently designed Co-based superalloys include up to 30 at.% of Ni to ensure accommodation of elements such as Cr, Ti and Ta does not result in TCP formation.

Tantalum serves as a γ' -former in Co-based superalloy as it partitions strongly to the γ' -phase in replacement of Al and W in the Co₃(Al,W) superlattice [27, 28]. Tantalum stabilizes the γ' -phase, resulting in an increased γ' volume fraction and solvus



Figure 1.7. Comparison between 10 and 30 at.% on the effect of γ' phase field in Co-Ni-Al-W system [6].

temperature [29, 30, 31]. It also increases the anomalous yield strength due to the increased stacking fault energy [32, 33, 34]. Nano-indentation experiments show that Ta increases the hardness of γ' -phase while the hardness of γ -channel remain constant [28]. However, due to the high atomic weight of Ta, mass density increases significantly with Ta addition.

Similar to Ta, Ti addition stabilizes γ' , raises γ' solvus temperature and improves mechanical properties by increasing the stacking fault energy [28, 29, 35, 36, 37, 38]. Figure 1.8 illustrates the significant creep resistance enhancement of Ti in a quinary Co-Al-W-2Ta-2Ti alloy when compare to a quaternary Co-Al-W-2Ta alloy. In addition, Ti also increases the lattice misfit between γ - and γ' -phase which improve the ability for γ - γ' interface to impede dislocation motion. However, during prolong aging, phases such as D0₁₉ and B2 may form and degrade the mechanical properties [39, 40]. Combination of Ni, Ti and Ta alloying results in a solvus temperature compared to that of commercial Ni-based superalloys [41].



Figure 1.8. Creep behavior of Co-Al-W-2Ta and Co-Al-Ta-2Ta-2Ti at 1000 $^{\circ}$ C / 137 MPa, demonstrating the creep strengthening effect of Ti addition [7, 8].

In the effort to further lower the alloy density, numerous W-free variants have been developed based on ternary and quaternary system such as Co-Ta-V [42], Co-Nb-V [42], Co-Ti-Cr [43], Co-Ti-Mo [44] Co-Al-Mo-Nb [45, 46, 47]. However, W-free Co-based superalloys generally exhibit a lower γ' solvus temperature compared to the W-containing alloys. Addition of Mo, Nb and V in partial substitution for W were also extensively studied due to the opportunity to reduce mass density. Atom-probe tomography shows that Mo partitions equally between γ - and γ' -phase, with occasional segregation at the γ - γ' interfaces to lower the interfacial excess free energy [1]. Nb and V both weakly partition toward the γ' -phase. To date, there are no systematic study on how Mo, Nb and V impact the mechanical properties. However, these elements generally weaken the creep resistance of Co-based superalloys as less strengthening effect is provided compared to the W substitute [48]. In polycrystalline Co-based superalloys, grain boundary sliding is a primary failure mechanism during creep and fatigue testings. Addition of elements such as B and Zr which segregate to grain boundaries prevents grain boundary sliding and improves ductility [49, 50]. The enhancement is based from the cohesion provided by the ductile boride or zirco-ride formed at the grain boundary.

Similar to Ni-based superalloys, oxidation resistance in Co-based superalloys relies on formation of thin, dense and thermodynamically stable oxide films upon exposure to oxygen atmosphere. While the exact oxide layer formation mechanisms in Co-based superalloys are not fully understood, the effect of different elements in forming passivating oxide film have been studied. Yan *et al.* [51] show that the mass gain profile under oxidizing conditions follow the parabolic behavior with the following oxidation resistant trend: 10Cr > 20Fe > 1Si > 20Ni > 2Ta > Co-Al-W > 2Mo > 2Ti > 6Ni-4V > 2V. Results suggest ≤ 10 at% of Cr is sufficient in forming a continuous oxide film. Furthermore, Yan and coworkers [4] showed that a high Co concentration causes a worsen oxidation resistance, indicating the weaker oxidation resistance of a Co-based system. Moreover, B addition which tends to segregate to grain boundary and surface results in an improved oxidation resistance due to an improved adhesion of surface oxide scale [52, 53].

1.3. Rafting in γ' -Strengthened Superalloys

One of the primary distinction between Ni- and Co-based superalloys that impacts both the microstructural evolution and mechanical properties is the difference in lattice misfit. Lattice misfit, δ , is characterized by the difference in lattice parameter between the γ' -precipitates and γ -matrix:

(1.2)
$$\delta = \frac{2(a_{\gamma'} - a_{\gamma})}{a_{\gamma'} + a_{\gamma}}$$

where $a_{\gamma'}$ and a_{γ} are the lattice parameter of the γ' - and γ -phase, respectively. The magnitude of lattice misfit influences the microstructural properties such as γ' particle size and morphology. For an alloy that exhibits a large magnitude of lattice misfit, *i.e.*, $|\delta| > 0.2\%$, γ' -precipitates typically display a cuboidal morphology. With increasing magnitude of lattice misfit showing a more cuboidal γ' -morphology with a larger {100} facet and sharper {110} edges and {111} corners. As the magnitude of lattice misfit decreases, *i.e.*, $|\delta| < 0.2\%$, the precipitates transition toward a spherical morphology.

Co-based superalloys primarily exhibit a positive misfit $(a_{\gamma'} > a_{\gamma})$ [2, 26, 37, 38, 54], while Ni-based superalloys often show a negative misfit $(a_{\gamma'} < a_{\gamma})$ [18]. The difference in lattice misfit amounts to different elevated temperature stress induced directional coarsening (rafting) behavior during creep as shown in Figure 1.9. In a positive misfit superalloy, γ' rafts perpendicular to the applied compressive stress axis and parallel to the applied tensile axis, forming n-type and p-type rafted microstructures, respectively. On the other hand, the rafting direction is reversed in a negative misfit superalloy, where p-type rafts form under compression and n-type rafts form under tension. The difference in rafting direction leads to a different microstructural evolution pathway, hence a different mechanical properties between Ni- and Co-based superalloys.

During rafting, the creep resistance of a superalloy is impacted by the ability for γ' rafts to impede dislocation motion. In general, the creep behavior can be categorized into
two separate mechanisms: low temperature high stress (LTHS) and high temperature low



Figure 1.9. (a) Simulated morphology of γ' -precipitate under stress-free condition. Simulated morphology of (b) p-type and (c) n-type rafted γ' -precipitates that occur when tensile or compressive stress is applied along z-axis [**9**].

stress (HTLS) [10, 18, 55]. Under LTHS, the dominant creep deformation mechanism is via dislocation shearing of γ' -phase; whereas in HTLS, dislocation motion is primarily restricted within γ -matrix since the applied stress is insufficient for dislocations to cut through the stiffner γ' -phase. At LTHS, a rafted microstructure provides a lower creep resistance since dislocation can directly cut through the elongated γ' -rafts. In HTLS, the rafted γ' leads to a lengthen γ - γ' interfaces. This increases the dislocation glide/climb distance needed to circumvent the precipitates, thus enhances the creep resistance. However, as microstructure continues to evolve during creep, the mechanical properties will deteriorate from an extensively rafted microstructure under a prolong creep condition. The non-uniform γ' -morphology and spatial distribution will negatively impact the creep resistance. Therefore, rafting is generally considered as an unavoidable microstructural evolution that negatively impact the mechanical properties of a superalloy.

1.4. Present Research

The effect of Cr on microstructural stability, coarsening-, oxidation- and creepresistance was first investigated in multicomponent Co-based superalloys that are designed via CALPHAD approach (Chapter 2 and Ch 3). Addition of Cr is facilitated by the the need for an improved oxidation resistance. Through Cr alloying, it was found that Cr progressively alters lattice misfit and, unlike existing studies in the literature, poses minimal impact on the creep resistance. An in-depth study on the influence of lattice misfit on both the creep resistance and rafting behavior was conducted, where the lattice misfit is adjusted by adding 0, 2, 4 and 6 at.% of Cr to a Co-Ni-Al-W-B alloy (Chapter 4). APT characterizations of both rafted and unrafted microstructure shed light to a potential diffusion mechanism that enables γ' -rafting. The influence of γ' -raft orientation on the macroscopic tensile creep resistance is assessed by pre-rafting a monocrystalline Co-based superalloy in both tension and compression to achieve p- and n-type rafts (Chapter 5). The contrasting creep behavior between the p- and n-type rafted microstructure provides opportunity for microstructural engineering to enhance the creep resistance in Co-based superalloys. Finally, to gain a more mechanistic understanding on the parameters and properties that influence γ' -morphology, phase field method was used to study γ' -morphology evolution under different conditions (Chapter 6). Simulation results show a qualitative agreement with the experimentally obtained rafted microstructure.

The effects of lattice misfit are extensive within Co-based superalloys, from mesoscale interaction along the γ - γ' interfaces to determining γ' -precipitate morphology to the stress-coarsening behavior, which all impact the bulk mechanical properties. This thesis

aims to correlate the influence of lattice misfit on multiple length-scale for both understanding the fundamental mechanisms that govern microstructural evolution and facilitate design of commercially viable Co-based superalloys with improved mechanical properties.

CHAPTER 2

Effects of Cr on the Properties of Multicomponent Cobalt-Based Superalloys with Ultra High γ' Volume Fraction

Chromium is known to confer oxidation resistance on Co-based superalloys. Herein we studied the influence of Cr concentration on the properties of a Co-based superalloy, Co-30Ni-11Al-2Ti-5.5W-2.5Ta-0.1B (at.%), with high γ' -volume fractions (up to 98%). Additions of 4, 8, or 12 at.% Cr decreased the γ' -solvus temperature and the γ' -volume fraction, while also reducing the mean radius of γ' -particles. Synchrotron X-ray diffraction and atom-probe tomography confirmed that Cr reduces the lattice parameter misfit by altering the partitioning behavior of W between the γ - and γ' -phases. Concomitantly, an increase in Cr content significantly improved the oxidation resistance of the alloy. The results indicate that 4 at.% Cr is sufficient to decrease the oxidation rate by two orders of magnitude. A creep study at 850 °C revealed that Cr does not affect adversely the creep performance in high γ' -volume fraction Co-based superalloys, but the tendency toward γ' rafting changes with Cr concentration. Compared to Ni₃Al intermetallic compounds, the materials with high γ' -volume fraction studied exhibited a significantly higher creep resistance. This may be attributed to the increase in antiphase boundary energy caused by the addition of Cr, Ti, or Ta, and significant solid-solution hardening in the Co-based intermetallic γ' -phase.

2.1. Introduction

Over the past decade, the need for more efficient aviation and power generation materials, has fueled a heightened interest in the development of Co-based superalloys consisting of a FCC matrix (γ) strengthened by L1₂ precipitates (γ'). These alloys, which are based on the Co-Al-W system, exhibit high solidus and liquidus temperatures, so that their maximum operating temperature may be higher than for Ni-based γ - γ' superalloys [16]. Nevertheless, several challenges need to be overcame before these γ' -strengthened Cobased superalloys can be employed commercially. The currently available Co-based superalloys exhibit a lower γ' -solvus temperature than Ni-based superalloys, which limits their mechanical and microstructural stability at high temperatures [6]. Members of the Co-Al-W system, are also susceptible to oxidation and corrosion when prepared without the presence of Cr, a strong oxidation-retarding element [51, 56, 57]. Moreover, Co-based superalloys currently exhibit a lower mechanical creep strength than Ni-based superalloys [26].

The necessity of adding chromium to all Co-based superalloys to improve their oxidation resistance, is generally accepted. However, Cr additions may affect different properties ranging from precipitate size to creep performance. Yan and Dye [24] reported that Cr alloying destabilizes the γ - γ' structure by forming topologically close-packed (TCP) phases, and the addition of Ni widens the γ - γ' phase field, thereby restoring the γ - γ' microstructure [25]. Chromium has been shown to partition strongly to the γ -matrix, although its effect on the γ' -solvus temperature and volume fraction is not fully understood. There is some evidence that Cr decreases the γ' -solvus temperature and also decreases the volume fraction [34, 35, 58], while others have shown that Cr increases the γ' -volume fraction [36, 59]. Studies of the oxidation resistance of Cr containing Co-based superalloys have verified that increasing the concentration Cr results in reduced oxidation kinetics [25, 52]. Recently, Povstugar *et al.* [2] systematically studied the effect of increasing Cr concentration in Co-Al-W, and found that Cr decreases the lattice parameter misfit between the γ -and γ' -phases and increases the minimum strain rate during creep. Using a computational thermodynamic approach [41], the base alloy without Cr was designed to maximize the γ' -solvus temperature for a fixed Ti-content of 2 at.%. The high γ' -solvus temperature of the base alloy results in a very high γ' -volume fraction for the base and Cr-containing alloys at the aging and creep temperature. The smaller Ti concentration compared to other Co-based superalloys was intended to limit the detrimental effects of Ti on oxidation resistance and solidification, while providing an adequate degree of γ' -stability [25, 39].

Herein, we present a systematic study of the influence of Cr on a multinary Cobased superalloy in order to investigate the progressive effect of Cr on different superalloy properties. The Cr concentration was increased in 4% increments to 12 at.%, to assess the effect on microstructure, elemental partitioning, oxidation, and creep performance.

2.2. Experimental Methods

The initial alloy had a Cr-free composition of Co-30Ni-11Al-2Ti-5.5W-2.5Ta-0.1B (at.%), representing a Co-Al-W basis, with the addition of Ni to broaden the γ - γ' phase field, Ti and Ta to increase the γ' -solvus temperature, and B (in trace amounts) to strengthen the grain boundaries [49, 50, 60]. The computational thermodynamic approach reported previousl [1, 41] was used to maximize the γ' -solvus temperature of the

Table 2.1. Nominal composition (at.%), with values in parentheses given in (wt.%) and phase transformation temperatures measured by DSC of the L24 series of Cr-containing high γ' -volume fraction Co-based superalloys. The composition of the alloys are measured using SEM-EDS in at.% to compare with the nominal composition.

Alloy	Co	Ni	Al	Ti	W	Ta	В	Cr	γ' -solvus (° C)	γ -solidus (° C)	γ -liquidus (° C)
0Cr	48.9	30	11	2	5.5	2.5	0.1	0	1225	1337	1399
	(44.3)	(27.1)	(4.6)	(1.5)	(15.6)	(6.7)	(0.02)	(0)			
EDS	48.3	29.0	12.1	2.24	5.8	2.66	-	0			
$4\mathrm{Cr}$	45.7	30	10.9	1.92	5.3	2.4	0.1	4	1188	1318	1390
	(41.8)	(27.3)	(4.4)	(1.4)	(15.1)	(6.7)	(0.02)	(3.2)			
EDS	45.6	29.2	11.1	2.04	5.68	2.28	-	4.1			
$8\mathrm{Cr}$	42.5	30	10.1	1.85	5.1	2.3	0.1	8	1152	1308	1380
	(39.2)	(27.5)	(4.3)	(1.4)	(14.6)	(6.5)	(0.02)	(6.5)			
EDS	42.3	29.5	10.5	1.85	5.14	2.69	-	8.02			
12Cr	39.3	30	9.7	1.77	4.9	2.2	0.1	12	1118	1299	1368
	(36.5)	(27.7)	(4.1)	(1.3)	(14.1)	(6.3)	(0.02)	(9.8)			
EDS	39.3	28.9	10.1	1.86	5.09	2.3	-	12.5			

base alloy, termed L24-0Cr. This base alloy was modified by the addition of 4, 8, or 12 at.% Cr to obtain L24-4Cr, -8Cr, and -12Cr, alloys, respectively. For a given amount of Cr, the concentration of Co was reduced by 4/5 and the concentrations of Al, Ti, W and Ta by 1/5, to maintain a constant γ' -volume fraction. The characteristics of each alloy are described in Table 2.1. The composition distribution ratio was based on the Cr partitioning coefficient, $\kappa_{\rm Cr} \approx 0.25$, where approximately 80% of the Cr partitions to the γ -matrix and 20% to the γ' -phase [**24**, **61**]. The Ni concentration was maintained at 30 at.% to maintain a wide γ' -phase-field and to minimize the formation of the topologically close-packed (TCP) phases expected after addition of Cr [**6**]. Table 1 also presents the γ' -solvus, γ -solidus, and γ -liquidus temperatures of the four alloys. All three parameters decreased with increasing Cr content, to yield slopes of 8.4, 3.4, and 1.8 °C/at.% Cr, respectively (Fig. 2.10). The alloys were prepared from pure metals (99.9+% purity) by arc-melting under an argon atmosphere and each ingot (≈ 50 g) was remelted eight times to ensure homogeneity. The material was then homogenized at 1250 °C for 48 h in sealed argon-backfilled quartz tubes, followed by furnace cooling. Aging was performed at 900, 1000, and 1100 °C in evacuated and sealed quartz tubes for 24, 168, and 1000 h, which was terminated by water quenching to room temperature. The liquidus, solidus and γ' -solvus temperatures were measured using as-homogenized samples under a flowing Ar atmosphere (20 mL/min) employing differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) (Netzsch 404c), with a 10 K/min heating and cooling rate. DSC results were analyzed following the guideline provided by National Institute of Standard and Technology [**62**] where the liquidus, solidus and γ' -solvus temperatures are determined from the first visible onset of phase transformation in the heating curve.

An Hitachi SU8030 scanning electron microscope (SEM) equipped with a cold-fieldemission source was used for microstructural characterization and energy dispersive spectroscopy (EDS). An operating voltage of 25 kV and a 15 mm working distance were utilized. X-ray Diffraction (XRD) for phase identification was performed employing a Cu source X-ray diffractometer (XDS 2000, Scintag Inc). Each sample was scanned from $2\theta = 30^{\circ}$ to 100° with a step size of 0.05° and a dwell time of 2 s per step. Roomtemperature lattice parameter misfit measurements were performed using the 5ID beam line of the Advanced Photon Source (Argonne National Laboratory, IL, USA). Due to the coarse grains produced by arc-melting, only the most intense γ - γ' peaks were used for peak deconvolution and misfit calculations. Phase identification and lattice misfit were both measured on samples heat treated at 900 °C for 168 h. Isothermal oxidation tests were performed using thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA/SDTA851, Mettler Toledo) with a ground cylindrical specimen, 4 mm in diameter and 3 mm in height, aged at 900 °C for 168 h. Specimens were placed in an alumina crucible to prevent spallation. Dry air was supplied at 50 mL/min for 20 h at 900 °C and the resulting mass change was calibrated using a reference alumina crucible.

Atom-probe tomography (APT) specimens were prepared using an FEI Helios Nanolab microscope equipped with focused ion-beam (FIB) capability (FEI Helios Nanolab 600 dual-beam FIB/SEM) [63]. APT of L24-0Cr, -4Cr and -8Cr aged at 900 °C for 168 h were performed using a local-electrode atom-probe tomograph (CAMECA 4000X-Si) with a pulse laser energy of 30 pJ, pulse frequency of 200 kHz, temperature of 25 K, and a maximum evaporation rate of 5% [1] using a picosecond laser (355 nm wavelength). APT data were analyzed using the IVAS software package, version number 3.6, from CAMECA Instruments Inc [64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69].

Cylindrical samples with a 5 mm diameter and a 10 mm height were prepared by electro-discharge machining from samples aged at 900 °C for 168 h. Each sample was placed between boron-nitride-lubricated silicon carbide platens and heated without an applied load to the creep temperature of 850 ± 2 °C. For each stress, the applied load was held constant until a minimum strain rate was observed to be two orders of magnitude larger than the sampling error. Sample displacements were measured using a linear variable displacement transducer with a resolution of 10 µm. A test was terminated at the onset of tertiary creep, typically below 8% strain.

2.3. Results and Discussion

2.3.1. Microstructure

Fig. 2.1 displays the microstructure of the four alloys with Cr concentrations ranging from 0 to 12 at.%, aged at 900 °C for 168 h. The Cr-free alloy displayed a γ - γ' microstructure with a high volume fraction of cuboidal γ' -precipitates. As the Cr concentration increases, the γ' -precipitate morphology transitions from cuboidal with sharp corners to rounded corners. Concomitantly, the increase in Cr, results in a decrease in the γ' -volume fraction, which in turn is correlated with a decrease in the γ' -solvus temperature (Figs. 2.10 and 2.11). In addition, an increase in Cr caused a decrease in the size of γ' , with the γ' edge length decreasing by approximately an order of magnitude; from 2 µm in L24-0Cr to 200 nm in L24-12Cr. This decrease in size also affects their appearance. While, both the γ and γ' -phases appear highly aggregated and percolating in L24-0Cr and -4Cr, the degree of γ' -percolation decreases with a decrease in the γ' -volume fraction. This is also observed in alloys, such as Co-9Al-8W (at.%) with a 64% volume fraction of the γ' -phase [70] and in L24-8Cr and -12Cr, where fewer γ' -precipitates coalesce into aggregates.

Chromium additions are known to destabilize the γ - γ' microstructure in both Ni- and Co-based superalloys by facilitating the formation of TCP phases [18, 25]. The effect becomes more pronounced in high γ' -volume fraction alloys because they have a smaller γ volume to accommodate Cr in solid-solution. Figs. 2.1c) and 2.1d) demonstrate that the addition of Cr at 8 and 12 at.% results in the formation of the μ -phase (Co₇W₆). In L24-8Cr, the μ -phase was only observed along grain boundaries as discrete precipitates with an irregular morphology, Fig. 2.1c). In contrast, in L24-12Cr, the μ -phase is observed



Figure 2.1. Microstructure of a) L24-0Cr, b) -4Cr, c) -8Cr and d) -12Cr aged at 900 °C for 168 h. In, L24-8Cr, the μ -phase precipitates can be seen around the grain boundaries, while in L24-12Cr, the μ -phase appears throughout the microstructure. Insets of c) and d) illustrate the morphologies of the γ' -precipitates.

throughout the microstructure as rods, 20 to 50 μ m in length, at approximately 3% volume fraction. The μ -phase, with a binary composition of Co₇W₆, was first identified by measuring the elemental ratio in the precipitates, where the (Co + Ni):(W + Cr) ratio correlates closely to the Co:W atomic ratio in binary Co₇W₆. The phase, identified as (Co,Ni)₇(W,Cr)₆, was further verified using XRD, Fig. 2.2. In L24-0Cr and -4Cr, the diffraction peaks correspond to the γ -and γ' -phases, whereas multiple μ -phase diffraction peaks were identified in L24-8Cr and L24-12Cr. Due to the coarse grains resulting from

arc-melting, peak intensities vary among samples and the unidentified peak in L24-4Cr may represent a surface oxide.



Figure 2.2. X-ray diffraction pattern displaying γ -and γ' -peaks for: a) L24-0Cr, b) -4Cr, c) -8Cr, and d) -12 Cr aged at 900 °C for 168 h. Peaks for the μ -phase are observed in both L24-8Cr and -12Cr.

Klob *et al.* [60] reported that the solubility of B in a Co-Al-W ternary system is less than 0.04 at.%, so that the addition of boron beyond the solubility limit segregates at grain boundaries forming tungsten boride [50, 60]. The alloys described herein all include 0.1 at.% of B for grain-boundary cohesion. Interestingly, no boride was observed in the grain boundary microstructure. Their absence may be due to increased B solubility in both the γ - and γ' -phases, produced as a result of alloying with additional elements, such as Ti, Ta, and Cr.

2.3.2. Lattice Misfit

Lattice misfit, δ , which affect the γ' -particle size and strength in superalloys [11, 71], is defined as:

(2.1)
$$\delta = \frac{2(a_{\gamma'} - a_{\gamma})}{a_{\gamma'} + a_{\gamma}}$$

where $a_{\gamma'}$ and a_{γ} are the lattice parameter of the γ - and γ' -phase, respectively. In high γ' -volume fraction superalloys, the mechanical properties may be significantly influenced by the internal misfit strain in the narrow γ -channels [72]. Furthermore, the narrow γ -channels may result in a higher dislocation density and a more localized stress upon loading.

Fig. 2.3 displays the room temperature lattice misfit in L24-0Cr, -4Cr, -8Cr, and -12Cr. The lattice parameter misfit decreases from 0.64% in L24-0Cr to 0.20% in L24-12Cr. The measured misfit in L24-0Cr is smaller than the room-temperature misfit (0.78%) for the ternary Co-9Al-9W ternary system [73]. Chromium, which partitions preferentially to the γ -matrix, is also present in the γ' -phase where it displaces W to the γ -matrix. Povstugar *et al.* [2] reported that Cr decreases $a_{\gamma'}$, while increasing a_{γ} due to W being displaced from the γ' -to the γ -phase. A trend consistent with these observation is observed with a decrease in $a_{\gamma'}$, and an increase in a_{γ} (and thus an overall decrease in lattice parameter misfit) from L24-0Cr to L24-4Cr. However, due to the formation of a W-rich μ -phase in the γ -matrix, a further increase in the Cr concentration depletes W from both the γ -and γ' -phases, resulting in decrease in both $a_{\gamma'}$ and a_{γ} [74]. The reduction in a_{γ} and $a_{\gamma'}$ is more pronounced between L24-8Cr and L24-12Cr than between L24-4Cr and L24-8Cr due

to the larger volume fraction of the μ -phase, which is formed in alloys with a higher Cr concentration. The increase in the μ -phase in L24-12Cr means that more W is removed from the γ - and γ' -phases, leading to a larger decrease in both $a_{\gamma'}$ and a_{γ} .



Figure 2.3. Lattice parameters and lattice parameter misfits between the γ and γ' -phases measured employing high-energy synchrotron X-ray diffraction.

2.3.3. Elemental Partitioning

The L24-0Cr, -4Cr and -8Cr alloys were analyzed by atom-probe tomography (APT). Fig. 2.4 shows the reconstruction and proximity histogram across γ - γ' interfaces. The γ - γ' interfaces are highlighted by isoconcentration surfaces of Co at 56, 50 and 47 at.% for L24-0Cr, -4Cr and -8Cr, respectively. The γ -channels in both L24-0Cr and -4Cr are less than 5 nm thick as a result of the high γ' -volume fraction. The decrease in the γ' volume fraction results in a wider γ -channel (≥ 10 nm) in L24-8Cr.



Figure 2.4. APT reconstruction and elemental proximity histogram of: a) L24-0Cr, b) -4Cr, and c) -8Cr heat treated for 24 h at 900 °C.

The partitioning behavior of each element can be clearly seen from the proximity histograms [75, 76]: (i) Co and Cr partition toward the γ -matrix and (ii) Ni, Al, W and Ta partition to the γ' phase [28, 31, 39, 77]. The elemental partitioning is described by the partitioning coefficients:

(2.2)
$$\kappa_i = \frac{C_i^{\gamma'}}{C_i^{\gamma}}$$

where $C_i^{\gamma'}$ is the concentration of element *i* in γ' and C_i^{γ} is the concentration in the γ -phase. Table 2.2 displays the nanotip composition, elemental concentration in both phases, partitioning coefficients κ for each element, and the γ' -volume fraction derived from the lever rule based on the nanotip composition and stereological analyses [78].

The larger reduction of the γ' -volume fraction in L24-8Cr indicated by the APT analysis is probably due to local inhomogeneities, since stereological analysis demonstrated that L24-8Cr exhibits 83% of γ' (see Fig. 2.11).

As shown in Table 2.2, the APT measured tip composition does not wholly agree with the EDS-measured composition. This discrepancy may arise from spatial inhomogeneity between the bulk sample and the miniscule tip volume. The composition of B was shown to be approximately 0.04 at.% with majority partitions toward the γ' phase in L24-0Cr and -4Cr while the partitioning was reversed in L24-8Cr. The remaining B probably segregates to the grain boundaries [49, 50, 52, 60]. The switch in partitioning behavior of B may be induced by the addition of Cr or may be caused by the spatial inhomogeneity in the sample or lack of a sufficient number of B atoms in the miniscule tip. While Bsolubility changes with Cr content, no grain boundary boride formation was observed in the sampled alloys suggesting that the increase in γ' -volume-fraction compared to ternary Co-Al-W system [60] may result in a lower degree of B segregation at grain boundaries.

In L24-8Cr, Ni has supplanted Co to become the major component within the L1₂ structure in the γ' -phase. As the Cr concentration increases, an analysis of the composition distribution of the alloys reveals a dramatic decrease in the Co content. In this context, the majority element switches from Co=30.9% to Ni=40.4% in the γ' -phase of L24-8Cr. The formation of (Ni,Co)₃(Al,W,Ti,Ta) may be explained by an increase in the γ -phase.

Fig. 2.5 displays the evolution of κ as a function of Cr concentration. As the Cr content increases, the partitioning trend for most γ' -forming elements remain relatively constant. In the case, however, of Al, Ti, and Ni, an increase in the concentration of

		Composition (at.%)									
		Со	Ni	Al	W	Cr	Ti	Та	В	$\phi_{\gamma'}$ -lever (%)	$\phi_{\gamma'}$ -stereological (%)
0Cr	nanotip	54.5	27.5	11.6	2.90	-	1.77	1.40	0.04	$98{\pm}1.3$	$90{\pm}0.7$
	γ	70.0	20.5	6.80	1.49	-	0.52	0.35	0.02		
	γ'	50.5	28.4	13.4	3.60	-	2.39	1.64	0.04		
	κ	0.72	1.39	1.97	2.42	-	4.58	4.69	2.88		
4Cr	nanotip	55.2	31.5	14.7	3.60	6.50	2.00	1.20	0.04	$98{\pm}1.8$	$86{\pm}3.1$
	γ	58.4	18.3	6.2	1.70	15.0	0.39	0.82	0.02		
	γ'	46.5	29.0	13.6	3.39	4.46	1.92	1.49	0.04		
	κ	0.80	1.59	2.19	1.99	0.30	4.89	1.88	1.56		
8Cr	nanotip	41.2	33.9	11.6	2.88	18.6	1.88	1.45	0.06	59 ± 12	83±0.4
	γ	42.2	21.4	6.31	2.56	26.5	0.58	0.36	0.08		
	γ'	30.9	40.4	15.0	2.62	5.72	2.93	2.36	0.03		
	κ	0.73	1.89	2.37	1.02	0.22	5.09	6.63	0.38		

Table 2.2. Composition of γ - and γ' -phases, γ'/γ partitioning coefficient κ , lever-rule and stereologically derived γ' -volume fraction of L24-0Cr, -4Cr and -8Cr.

Cr concentration results in a strong degree of partitioning toward the γ' -phase, probably because Cr partitions primarily toward the γ -phase. The elements Ta and B do not follow the same trends as other γ' -forming elements. Tantalum partitions strongly towards the γ' -phase in L24-0Cr and -8Cr, although the partitioning was reduced in L24-4Cr. The peculiar partitioning behavior of Ta may be attributed to the very narrow γ -channels in L24-0Cr and L24-4Cr in which low concentration components such as Ta and B may be influenced by the interdiffusion between the two phases in the narrow γ -channels. The proximity histogram shows that the widths of the γ -channels are 4 and 3 nm for L24-0Cr and L24-4Cr, respectively. The γ - γ' interface is diffusive with an interfacial width of 3-5 nm [28, 79]. The narrow γ -channels may also be not representative of the bulk partitioning behavior, where diffusion fields between neighboring γ' -precipitates do not overlap. The opposite partitioning trends for Ta may also be a result of precipitation of the μ -phase, which affects the γ - γ' phase equilibrium.



Figure 2.5. Plot of elemental partitioning coefficient, κ , of L24-0Cr, -4Cr and -8Cr.

Tungsten, unlike other elements, becomes increasingly equipartitioned between the γ -and γ' -phases upon addition of Cr. In the absence of Cr, W partitions strongly to the γ' -phase with $\kappa_W = 2.42$. In contrast, in L24-8Cr, W shifts toward equipartitioning with $\kappa_W = 1.02$. This change in partitioning behavior is probably due to the preferential displacement of W by Cr in the L1₂ structure. Povstugar *et al.* [2] showed that κ_W decreases from $\kappa_W = 2.3$ in the Co-Al-W ternary system to $\kappa_W = 1.5$ in a quaternary composition (Co-Al-W-8Cr). In the present study, the partitioning tendency of W was even further reduced. The equipartitioning of W in L24-8Cr is probably due to the competition of additional γ' -forming elements, such as Ta and Ti for W lattice sites in the Co₃(Al,W) L1₂ lattice structure. Precipitation of the W-rich μ -phase in L24-8Cr may result in additional

W accommodating capacity in the γ -matrix, further shifting W partitioning from the γ' to the γ -phase. A similar partitioning reversal behavior has been observed in Ni-based superalloys where Ta preferentially displaces W from the γ' -phase into the γ -phase [80]. In addition, it is also possible that the increased Ni to γ' forming elements ratio, *i.e.*, Al, W, Ti and Ta, promotes formation of (Ni,Co)₃(Al,W,Ti,Ta), leading to a lower partitioning coefficient of W between γ -and γ' -phases.

2.3.4. Oxidation

Fig. 2.6 shows the surface oxide structure and the corresponding elemental distribution. Oxidation damaged surface layers are typically composed of an outermost oxide scale, followed by an oxide intrusion zone, and a deeper γ' -depletion zone [4]. The oxidation resistance of an alloy is characterized by the cohesion and oxygen-ion impedance of the oxide scale [81]. The surface oxide structure of L24-0Cr after 20 h of 900 °C isothermal oxidation is displayed in Fig. 2.6a), where the outermost oxide scale is composed primarily of CoO and NiO. Based on their porous nature and high-oxygen ion-diffusivities, these oxides can not prevent further oxidation [82]. The oxide intrusion zone for L24-0Cr is composed mainly of Al₂O₃ with Ti and W impurities. It is known that the oxidation resistance of the Al₂O₃ layer diminishes when doped with Ti due to the vacancies introduced by Ti ions [83]. Additionally, the sluggish formation kinetics of Al₂O₃ may result in the formation of less oxidation resistant Al₂O₃ allotropes, *e.g.*, γ -Al₂O₃ instead of the thermodynamically stable α -Al₂O₃ [82]. Following the oxide intrusion zone, there is a thin layer of a Ni-rich γ' -depletion zone. Nickel enrichment is likely a consequence of the

rejection of Ni from the oxide intrusion layer. Constituents such as W and Ta contribute less to the formation of surface oxides due to their smaller mobilities.



Figure 2.6. Oxide structure and elemental distribution of a) L24-0Cr and b) -12Cr measured by SEM-EDS after 20 h at 900 °C to permit isothermal oxidation.

Fig. 2.6b) and 2.13 shows the surface oxide structure of L24-12Cr. In contrast to L24-0Cr, L24-12Cr exhibits a thinner oxide scale and an oxide intrusion zone. In fact, the thickness of the oxide layer is an order of magnitude smaller than that observed in L24-0Cr. The oxide scale of L24-12Cr contains a layer of Cr_2O_3 followed by Al_2O_3 . Both these oxides are highly passivating, hence the thinner oxide scale. Due to the protective oxide scale formed on the surface, the adjacent oxide intrusion zone and depletion zone are also thin with no significant CoO or NiO. Like 0Cr, neither W or Ta contribute to the formation of a surface oxide. Fig. 2.14 presents the surface oxide structure and elemental

distribution of L24-4Cr and L24-8Cr. With an increase in Cr content, the surface oxide becomes progressively thinner and more Cr_2O_3 is formed.

For most alloys, steady state oxidation follows a parabolic growth behavior [84]:

$$(2.3)\qquad\qquad (\Delta m)^2 = kt$$

where Δm is the oxidation mass gain, k is the parabolic rate constant and t is the time. Transient oxidation was observed for the first 5 h of isothermal oxidation, followed by steady state parabolic growth (see Fig. 2.15). Fig. 2.7 displays the the oxide scale thickness and the parabolic rate constant k as a function of Cr concentration. The results indicate that 4 at.% of Cr lowers k by two orders of magnitude as compared to L24-0Cr. Increasing the Cr concentration to 12 at.% resulted in a further order of magnitude reduction in k. The oxide scale thicknesses measured from cross-sectional SEM correlates closely with k indicating that with increasing Cr concentration, a thinner oxide scale is sufficient to form an oxidation resistant surface. A higher Cr concentration facilitates the formation of Cr₂O₃ and Al₂O₃, which exhibit a low oxygen ion diffusivity, effectively passivating the alloy surface and preventing further oxygen ion diffusion into the bulk [**26**, **51**, **52**].



Figure 2.7. Oxide scale thickness and parabolic rate constant, k, as a function of Cr concentration. The oxidation tests were performed at 900 °C for 20 h.

2.3.5. Creep

Fig. 2.8 displays a double-logarithmic plot of the minimum creep strain-rate vs. applied compressive stress for L24-0Cr, -4Cr, and -8Cr. The data were fitted using the Mukherjee-Bird-Dorn power-law equation

(2.4)
$$\dot{\epsilon} = A\sigma^n \exp(\frac{-Q}{RT})$$

where $\dot{\epsilon}$ is the steady state strain rate, A is a constant, σ is the applied stress, n is the stress exponent, Q is the activation energy, R is the gas constant and T is the absolute temperature. Fig. 2.8 demonstrates the effect of Cr on creep resistance. Increasing the Cr concentration increases the stress exponent from n = 3.2 to 9.5 and to 11.6 in L24-0Cr, -4Cr and -8Cr, respectively, suggesting that the addition of Cr is associated with a change in the deformation mechanism. The relative strength also increased moderately with increasing Cr concentration, where L24-8Cr was more creep resistant than L24-0Cr in the tested stress range. Given the very high γ' -volume fraction, the samples show cracking along the grain boundaries and tertiary creep was initiated after 8% accumulated strain (see Fig. 2.16 for strain vs. time plots of each sample).



Figure 2.8. Norton plot of L24-0Cr, -4Cr and -8Cr subjected to compression creep at 850 °C. The stress exponents, n, are derived from the Mukherjee-Bird-Dorn power law creep model.

Povstugar *et al.* [2] showed that Cr is detrimental to creep performance in Co-9Al-9WxCr alloys, and reported a two order of magnitude increase in the steady-state strain-rate when the Cr concentration was increased from 0 to 8 at.%. The diminishing effect of Cr can be attributed to a reduction in the lattice parameter misfit. While a similar reduction in misfit can be observed from L24-0Cr to L24-8Cr, which did not result in a significant change in the strain rate in the alloys studied herein. The discrepancy between these results is probably due to the γ' -volume fraction difference in the two studies. The alloys studied by Povstugar *et al.* exhibited γ' -volume fractions ranging from 38 to 64%, while the materials L24-0Cr to -8Cr described herein, contain up to 98% of the γ' -phase. Our current results suggest that the effect of lattice parameter misfit reduction on creep properties may be diminished as the γ' -volume fraction increases and percolates through the microstructure. Moreover, as the microstructural evolution during the creep was not presented by Povstugar *et al.*, it is plausible that the increase in strain rate caused by their Cr addition was a consequence of changes in the microstructure after creep, *e.g.*, rafting or decomposition of γ' due to a lack of Ni to serve as a γ' -stabilizing element.

Fig. 2.8 further compares the L24-Cr alloy series, which is very close to pure γ' (albeit with a highly alloyed composition) with the intermetallic polycrystalline γ' -Ni₃Al containing trace amounts of Zr and B added to enhance the grain-boundary ductility (Ni-21.7Al-0.3Zr-0.1B at.%) [85]. An additional comparison was made with α -Cr precipitationstrengthened (Ni-20.2Al-8.2Cr-2.44Fe at.%) [86] and multiphase-strengthened (Ni-21.9Al-8.1Cr-4.2Ta-0.9Mo-0.3Zr at.%) [87] Ni₃Al based alloys. To the best of our knowledge, no creep studies on a pure γ' Co-rich intermetallic have been reported in the literature. The results of the comparison revealed that Ni₃Al intermetallic compounds are significantly weaker than their Co counterparts, with the steady-state strain-rate up to three orders of magnitude higher. While Co₃(Al,W) was demonstrably weaker than Ni₃Al [88, 89], the increase in creep strength in the Co-based superalloys studied herein may be attributed to an increase in anti-phase boundary energy resulting from the addition of Cr, Ti, and Ta, and the large extent of solid-solution strengthening [90]. A comparison among Ni₃Al compounds revealed that precipitate hardening may improve the creep properties of Ni₃Al, since the addition of elements such as Fe achieve the same creep resistance as seen in the heavily alloyed high γ' -volume fraction Co-based superalloys.

Directional coarsening of γ' -precipitates during mechanical creep, commonly referred to as rafting [91, 92, 93], is observed in the post-creep microstructure of L24-0Cr, as displayed in Fig. 2.9. Unlike their Ni counterparts, cobalt-based superalloys exhibit a positive lattice parameter misfit. Under compression, the γ' -phase undergoes n-type rafting where the the precipitates coarsen perpendicular to the applied stress axis. Figs. 2.9a) and 2.9b) show the post-creep microstructure of L24-0Cr. No rafting was detected in the plane perpendicular to the applied load. In contrast, rafting could be seen in the plane parallel to the applied load, where the γ' -precipitates coarsen and coalesce along the $\langle 100 \rangle$ crystal direction. Due to the polycrystallinity of the samples, rafting behavior varies among grains (Fig. 2.17). The variation in grain-to-grain crystallography orientation and inter-grain load transfer results in multiple rafting directions. Under certain conditions, misalignment with the load axis may prevent certain grains from undergoing rafting [9, 18].

Figs. 2.9c) and 2.9d) show the post-creep microstructure of L24-4Cr, which is singlephase γ' . From the original γ' -volume fraction of 98% created during aging at 900 °C, the remaining γ -matrix transforms into γ' -phase upon creep at 850 °C. The trace



Figure 2.9. Post-creep microstructure of a), b) L24-0Cr, c), d) -4Cr and e), f) -8Cr. Planes perpendicular and parallel to the loading direction are shown to illustrate γ' rafting direction.

amounts of the μ -phase along the grain boundaries, are probably the consequence of a creep temperature lower than the aging temperature.

The post-creep microstructure of L24-8Cr is shown in Figs. 2.9e) and 2.9f). Like L24-4Cr, the γ' -volume fraction increased significantly, from 83% before creep to 92% after creep. The increase in γ' -volume fraction is responsible for the percolated γ' -network observed in L24-0Cr and -4Cr. L24-8Cr does not raft at the testing temperature and stress range. This is probably because of the reduction in the lattice-parameter misfit at elevated temperatures resulting from the higher coefficient of thermal expansion of the γ -phase [8, 48, 73, 94, 95]. At 850 °C, the lattice-parameter misfit between the γ and γ' approaches zero as evident by the rounded morphology of the γ' -precipitates, which significantly reduces the rafting driving force [79, 96]. A similar effect is observed in other Co superalloys with zero lattice-parameter misfit at their creep temperature [97]. In the absence of a lattice-parameter misfit, γ' -precipitates are not subjected to an anisotropic local stress-field, and hence there is no rafting [98, 99].

2.4. Summary and Conclusion

A Cr-free Co-based superalloy, L24-0Cr, with the comoposition Co-30Ni-11Al-2Ti-5.5W-2.5Ta-0.1B (at.%), was cast. The composition of this material was selected according to a computational thermodynamic method to maximize the γ' -solvus temperature and volume fraction [1, 41]. This alloy was then modified by increasing the concentration of Cr (4, 8, or 12 at.%) with the primary goal of increasing the oxidation resistance. The following conclusions are drawn from the results of the study:

- Microstructural characterization indicated that increasing the concentration of Cr caused the morphology of the γ'-precipitates to become increasingly spherical. Upon aging at 900 °C, the volume fraction of the γ'-phase remained high at 98% for L24-0 and L24-4Cr and decreased to 83% and 69% for L24-8Cr and -12Cr, respectively, coinciding with the formation of a (Co,Ni)₇(W,Cr)₆ μ-phase at the grain boundaries and within grains.
- The lattice parameter misfit decreased with increasing Cr concentration, decreasing from 0.64% in L24-0Cr to 0.2% in L24-12Cr. This reduction may be attributed to the shift in W partitioning, when Cr is added to the alloy. Chromium preferentially displaces W from the L1₂ lattice to the γ-matrix decreasing the lattice parameter of the γ'-phase and increasing the lattice parameter of the γ-phase.
- Atom-probe tomographic analyses of the L24-Cr alloys revealed that Ni, Al, W,
 Ti, Ta, and B partition to the γ'-phase, while Co and Cr partition to the γ-phase.

With the exception of W, the partitioning coefficient of all γ' -forming-elements decreased for L24-4Cr, but increased for L24-8Cr.

- Oxidation resistance improved monotonically with increasing Cr concentration. Based on the oxide parabolic growth rate, adding 4 at.% of Cr proved sufficient to reduce the oxidation rate by two orders of magnitude. Without a Cr addition, Al alone cannot form a protective oxide scale on the surface at 900 °C. However, chromium could facilitate the formation of stable Cr₂O₃ and Al₂O₃.
- Chromium did not significantly affect the steady-state strain-rate, but did increase the stress exponent, indicating a change in the deformation mechanism during creep. The rafting behavior of the alloy depends on the lattice parameter misfit at the loading temperature, so that reducing the lattice parameter misfit by adding Cr, results in a lower degree of γ'-precipitate rafting.
- A comparison between L24-Cr and Ni₃Al intermetallic compounds revealed that L24-Cr is significantly more creep resistant than single-phase Ni₃Al and precipitation strengthened Ni₃Al. The enhancement in creep properties is probably a consequence of the extensive solid-solution strengthening of the γ'-phase in L24-Cr.



Supplemental Information

Figure 2.10. $\gamma'\text{-solvus},$ $\gamma\text{-solidus}$ and $\gamma\text{-liquidus}$ temperature as a function of Cr concentration.


Figure 2.11. Volume fraction of γ' and μ phase for -0Cr, -4Cr, -8Cr and -12Cr heat treated at different temperature and duration. The volume fraction was estimated using stereological method.



Figure 2.12. Pseudo-Voigt fitting of the superimposed γ and γ' synchrotron x-ray diffraction peaks for L24 a)-0Cr, b)-4Cr, c)-8Cr and d)-12Cr. Using the stereologically derived volume fraction as the constraint, the fitting was performed via JADE, x-ray diffraction analysis software. The blue peaks correspond to the γ' diffraction and the green peaks to the γ .



Figure 2.13. (Color online) Oxide scale elemental distribution of L24-12Cr after 900°C 20 h of isothermal oxidation which illustrate the distinct layer between the top Cr_2O_3 scale and the bottom Al_2O_3 scale.



Figure 2.14. (Color online) Oxide scale elemental distribution of a) -4Cr and b) -8Cr after 900°C 20 h of isothermal oxidation.



Figure 2.15. a) Δm and b) $(\Delta m)^2$ for -0Cr, -4Cr, -8Cr and -12Cr during isothermal oxidation at 900°C for 20 hours.



Figure 2.16. Strain as a function of time for the mechanical creep tests. a), b) two distinct -0Cr samples, c) -4Cr and d) -8Cr. -0Cr sample is highly brittle and enter tertiary creep earlier than -4Cr and -8Cr, thus two samples were crept to ensure data validity.



Figure 2.17. Post-creep microstructure of -0Cr, a) different rafting direction between grains and b) grain that does not raft.

CHAPTER 3

Effect of Cr Additions on a γ - γ' Microstructure and Creep Behavior of a Cobalt-Based Superalloy with Low W Content

Nickel- and cobalt-based superalloys derive their excellent oxidation and corrosion resistance from the surface oxidation of Al and Cr, which form protective oxide layers. Starting from an existing Cr-free cobalt-based superalloy (Co-30Ni-7Al-4Ti-3Mo-2W-1Nb-1Ta-0.1B at.%) with a γ - γ' microstructure, we create three alloys with 4, 8 and 12 at.% Cr additions. Chromium lowers the γ' solvus temperature (from 1129 °C for 0% Cr to 1075 °C for 12 at.% Cr) and alters the γ' precipitate morphology (from cuboidal-to-spherical), but does not affect the coarsening kinetics (which follow the Lifshitz-Slyozov-Wagner model). The alloys with 8 and 12 at.% Cr exhibit minor amounts of a Mo-rich intermetallic phase at grain boundaries after homogenization, and the 12 at.% Cr alloy displays an additional 3 vol.% intragranular refractory-rich secondary precipitates upon aging at 850 °C for 168 h. Atom-probe tomography reveals that Cr partitions strongly to the γ -matrix, with a partitioning coefficient of $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma} = 0.33$ and 0.26 for Cr additions of 4 and 8%, respectively. These additions halve the creep rate of the original alloy at stresses between 275 and 400 MPa, reflecting significant changes in γ' precipitate composition, volume fraction, morphology, and rafting tendency.

3.1. Introduction

Research into Ni-based superalloys has largely been driven by the need for creep-, fracture-, oxidation-, corrosion-, and coarsening-resistant alloys capable of withstanding the extreme operating conditions of aircraft engines and industrial gas turbines for generating electricity [18]. Building upon decades of research and development, many commercial precipitation-strengthened Ni-based superalloys have been developed, with a microstructure consisting of a γ -(f.c.c.) matrix containing a high-volume fraction of submicron γ' -(L1₂) precipitates. The 2006 discovery by Sato *et al.* [16] showed that Co₃(Al,W) γ' -precipitates could be formed in the ternary Co-Al-W system, which opened new possibilities for Co-based superalloys with γ - γ' microstructures as potential alternatives to Ni-based superalloys in high temperature applications [29, 51, 100, 101, 102].

The incorporation of additional alloying elements to the ternary Co-Al-W system has demonstrated that Ti and Ta are beneficial for γ' -stability [28, 29], while an alloy's mass density is decreased by replacing W with Mo and Nb [45, 103]. Furthermore, replacing some Co with Ni results in a larger γ plus γ' phase-field and minimizes the formation of secondary intermetallic phases [6]. Additions of elements such as Ti, Ta, Mo and W increase ambient- and elevated-temperature strength via solid-solution and precipitation strengthening [104, 105, 106], while refractory elements such as Ta, Mo, Nb, Re, and Ru decelerate γ' coarsening kinetics [96, 103, 107]. The rapid development of compositionally complex Co-based alloys to match or exceed the mechanical performance of conventional Ni-based alloys has not focused substantially on chromium [35, 61, 106, 108], despite it being of upmost importance for oxidation and corrosion resistance [51, 52, 102], provided by the protective oxide scale formed by Cr and Al, as in Ni-based superalloys [109]. The few studies on Cr-containing Co-based superalloys report that Cr additions lowers the γ' solvus temperature, alters precipitate morphology, and destabilizes the γ plus γ' microstructure by forming additional intermetallic phases [25, 34, 58], changes that may have detrimental impacts on mechanical performance. In particular, Povstugar *et al.* [2] reported that the minimum creep rate at 850 °C of the Co-9Al-9W ternary alloy was increased dramatically, by two orders of magnitude, when 8% Cr was added to the alloy. While additions of 8 at.% Cr or more indeed promote secondary phase formation in Ni-free Co-based alloys, Knop *et al.* [61] and Neumeier *et al.* [110] have demonstrated that as much as 12-15 at.% Cr can be added to Co-based alloys containing 30-35 at.% Ni without degrading the two-phase microstructure.

Lass *et al.* [1, 41] recently reported a multicomponent Co-based alloy, Co-30Ni-7Al-4Ti-3Mo-2W-1Nb-1Ta-0.1B at.%, labeled L19. This alloy exhibits an excellent combination of a high γ' solvus temperature (1126 °C), high γ' volume fraction (65 %), low mass density (8.89 g/cm3) due to its low W plus Ta content, and excellent γ' coarsening resistance (at 900 °C) [1]. To obtain acceptable oxidation resistance at elevated temperatures, Cr additions as high as 15 at.% are required without significantly affecting microstructural stability and creep resistance. In the present study, three levels of Cr-additions to the base alloy of Lass *et al.* [1] (4, 8 and 12 at.% Cr) are investigated. Characterization of microstructure, phase stability, composition, coarsening resistance, and creep performance are carried out to study how these Cr additions affect microstructural evolution and mechanical performance.

3.2. Experimental Methods

Table 3.1 displays the nominal compositions of the studied alloys, which were based on the Cr-free L19 alloy composition reported by Lass *et al.* [1] (labeled herein as 0Cr). Also listed are the compositions as measured via inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy (ICP- OES) and energy dispersive spectroscopy (EDS) (for the 12Cr alloy), which were performed to verify that the alloys had the expected compositions. For the three alloys containing Cr at concentrations of 4, 8, and 12 at.% Cr (labeled herein as 4Cr, 8Cr and 12Cr), the Ni concentration was fixed at 30 at.% to ensure a consistently wide γ plus γ' phase-field [6]. Likewise, the B concentration was also maintained at a constant value of 0.1 at.% to improve grain-boundary cohesion, either by forming borides or via solid solution partitioning along grain boundaries [49, 60]. Previously measured partition coefficients of Cr in Co-based superalloys are $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma} \approx 0.25$ [49, 61], indicating that 80 % of the Cr partitions to the γ matrix. With the goal of maintaining a constant γ' phase-fraction, Co was thus replaced by 80% of the total Cr-addition, while the remaining 20% was subtracted from the γ' -forming alloying elements (Al, Ti, Mo, W, Nb, and Ta), maintaining the same ratio between these elements as found in the base alloy.

Alloys with a ≈ 50 g mass were created via arc-melting under an argon atmosphere (Arc Melting System AM0.5, Edmund Buhler GmbH) of pure elements (99.9+% purity). Approximately five additional percent (by mass) of Al was added to the melt to compensate for evaporation losses (*e.g.*, for the 0Cr alloy with a Al target composition of 7.00 at.%, 7.35 at.% was added). The charge was remelted at least eight times to ensure composition homogeneity, resulting in 10 x 15 x 50 mm ingots. These ingots were then encapsulated in argon-backfilled quartz capsules, homogenized at 1250 °C for 48 h and

Table 3.1. Nominal (Nom.) and ICP-OES and EDS-measured compositions (at.%) of Co-based superalloys with their solvus, solidus, and liquidus temperatures (°C). The 0Cr alloy has the same nominal composition as alloy L19 in Ref. [1]. An asterisk (*) indicates that the value is below the EDS detection limit.

Alloy	Cr	Ni	Al	Ti	Mo	W	Nb	Ta	В	γ' -solvus (° C)	γ -solidus (° C)	γ -liquidus (° C)
0Cr												
Nom.	0	30.0	7.00	4.00	3.00	2.00	1.00	1.00	0.10	1129	1305	1378
EDS		29.3	7.72	4.17	3.33	2.02	1.10	1.16	*			
ICP-OES	0	30.7	7.48	4.15	3.19	2.14	1.04	1.11	0.068			
4Cr												
Nom.	4	30.0	6.69	3.82	2.87	1.91	0.96	0.96	0.10	1114	1295	1373
EDS	3.94	30.2	7.03	4.22	3.28	2.09	1.07	1.07	*			
ICP-OES	4.18	31.3	5.56	3.92	3.15	2.10	0.95	1.02	0.119			
8Cr												
Nom.	8	30.0	6.38	3.64	2.73	1.82	0.91	0.91	0.10	1095	1285	1366
EDS	8.11	28.8	7.05	3.86	3.19	1.91	1.14	1.04	*			
ICP-OES	8.11	31.0	6.29	3.73	2.95	1.97	0.89	0.96	0.084			
12Cr												
Nom.	12	30.0	6.07	3.47	2.60	1.73	0.87	0.87	0.10	1075	1280	1359
EDS	12.2	28.7	7.12	3.49	2.94	1.76	0.94	1.05	*			

air-cooled. After homogenization, aging studies were performed at 900 °C in sealed, evacuated quartz capsules for times ranging from 24 to 2000 h, terminated by water quenching to room temperature.

For each alloy, the γ' solvus, solidus, and liquidus temperatures were measured using a Netzsch differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) 404C thermal analyzer with a 10 °C·min⁻¹ heating rate under a 20 mL·min⁻¹ argon flow rate. The γ' solvus temperatures were obtained by averaging values from four heating cycles and the solidus and liquidus temperatures were measured once.

Due to the corrosion resistance provided by Cr, different etchants were necessary for the low- and high-Cr alloys. The 0Cr and 4Cr alloys were etched with Carapella's reageant (5 g FeCl₃, 2 mL HCl, 100 mL methanol) for 5 and 30 s, respectively, while the 8Cr and 12Cr alloys were etched with waterless Kalling's reageant (5 g CuCl₂, 100 mL HCl, 100 mL ethanol), both for 90 s. A Hitachi SU8030 scanning electron microscope (SEM) equipped with a cold-field-emission source was used for microstructural characterization and energy dispersive spectroscopy (EDS) under an operating voltage of 25 kV and a working distance of 15 mm. SEM micrographs were analyzed with the NIH ImageJ software, using Otsu's method for binary thresholding to determine the γ' -precipitate outlines [111]. Average precipitate area A was determined as the product of precipitate edge-lengths, which were measured for at least 30 randomly-selected precipitates per sample. The area equivalent precipitate radii were calculated from $R = \sqrt{A/\pi}$, from which a mean value was calculated. Precipitate areal number density N_A was determined by a manual counting method for areas totalling at least 100 μ m², from which the volumetric number density N_V was calculated from the stereological relationship $N_V = N_A/(2\langle R \rangle)$ [112].

Atom probe tomography (APT) specimens were prepared using an FEI Helios Nanolab microscope equipped with focused ion beam (FIB) capability (FEI Helios Nanolab 600 dual- beam FIB/SEM microscope). Specimens for 0Cr, 4Cr and 8Cr alloys were characterized using a local electrode atom probe (LEAP) tomograph (CAMECA LEAP4000X-Si) with a picosecond pulse ultraviolet (wavelength = 355 nm) laser energy of 30 pJ, pulse frequency of 200 kHz, temperature of 25 K, and evaporation rate of 5 %. APT data were analyzed with the proprietary IVAS 3.6 software package from CAMECA Instruments Inc.

Cylindrical compression samples (5 mm in diameter and 10 mm in height) were produced through electro-discharge machining for the 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr alloys aged at 900 °C for 168 h. For testing, each sample was placed between silicon carbide platens lubricated by boron nitride and then deformed in air at 850 °C under a series of monotonically increasing nominal stresses in the range 275-400 MPa. For each stress, a minimum creep strain rate was determined from the sample displacement rate after exhaustion of primary creep, measured using an extensometer connected to a linear variable displacement transducer with a resolution of 10 μ m. Tests were terminated at the onset of tertiary creep, when the strain rate was observed to increase at a constant stress. The total strain accumulated in each sample was no more than 16 %, while the total time accumulated ranged from 52 to 146 h.

3.3. Results and Discussion

3.3.1. Microstructure and phase stability

Table 3.1 presents the solvus, solidus, and liquidus temperatures of all the alloys, with the base alloys (0Cr) exhibiting values of 1129, 1305, and 1378 °C, respectively. All three temperatures decrease with increasing Cr concentrations at rates of 4.6, 2.2 and 1.5 °C/at.% Cr, respectively (Supplemental Figure 3.8). An 8 at.% Cr addition, which is expected to provide significant oxidation resistance in Co-based superalloys [51, 52] as well as a small decrease in mass density (1.2 %), exacts a relatively modest penalty of 20 °C for the solidus and 12 °C for the liquidus temperatures, but a sizeable 34 °C decrease of the solvus temperature (from 1129 to 1095 °C). For comparison, addition of 8% Cr to the Co-9Al-9W ternary system decreases the solvus temperature by 39 °C (from 986 to 947 °C) [58].

The homogenized alloys exhibited a single-phase γ free of other phases, except for γ' formed on cooling. Figure 3.1 displays the microstructure of the four studied alloys aged at 900 °C for 168 h. Figure 3.1(a) illustrates the cuboidal morphology of γ' -precipitates

in grains with different crystallographic orientations in the 0Cr alloy. As the Cr concentration increases, Figures 3.1(b-d), the γ' -precipitates gradually lose their sharp cuboidal morphology and become increasingly spherical, which is likely due to a decrease in the γ - γ' lattice parameter misfit with Cr-additions to Co-based alloys as reported in Ref [2]. Despite the use of more extreme etching conditions, the etchant only selectively etches the γ - γ' interfaces in 8Cr and 12Cr samples, which is consistent with a higher corrosion resistance with increased Cr concentration.



Figure 3.1. Secondary electron micrographs of: (a) 0C; (b) 4Cr; (c) 8Cr; and (d) 12Cr alloys aged at 900 °C for 168 h, showing γ - γ' microstructures in grains (seen at higher magnification in insets), as well as grain-boundary precipitates consisting of coarsened γ' (0Cr and 4Cr) and μ phase (8Cr and 12Cr).

Figures 3.1(c-d) show that the aged alloys with 8 and 12 at.% Cr additions exhibit secondary phases at, or near, grain boundaries. The addition of Cr in the range 8-20 at.% is known to destabilize the $\gamma + \gamma'$ microstructure in Co-based superalloys by facilitating the formation of D0₁₉- χ and topologically-closed-packed (TCP) secondary-phases such as D8₅- μ [25]. The morphology of the grain-boundary precipitates is similar to the μ -phase found in other Co-Al-W alloys with Cr and Ni additions [25] and Co-Al-W alloys with refractory elements such as V, Ti, Mo, Nb, and Ta [113]. EDS measurements for 8Cr and 12Cr samples also show that the mole fraction of Co plus Ni in the secondary-phase is approximately 54%, and the precipitates are significantly enriched in Mo (25-30 at.%), which is consistent with a μ -(Co,Ni)₇(Mo,X)₆ type intermetallic phase where X consists of the remaining refractory elements [18]. Other studies have found the μ -phase in Co superalloys to be W-rich based on the binary composition of Co₇W₆, but this has only been observed in systems with higher nominal W concentrations (> 5 at.%) [25, 113], whereas the alloys studied here contain ≤ 2 at.% W.

These grain-boundary precipitates could also be σ -phase or a boride phase. The σ phase has not been previously reported in γ' -strengthened Co-based alloys and is therefore unlikely to form in the present alloys. However, since B was added to promote grain boundary strengthening via boride formation, it is possible that these precipitates are a Mo-rich boride. Indeed, their size and morphology are similar to W-rich borides reported in other Co-based superalloys [**35**, **36**, **58**]. Further, Figure 3.2, which presents the microstructure of the 12Cr alloy after aging at 900 °C for 1000 h, shows that the size of the grain boundary precipitates does not change significantly with increasing aging time. This is consistent with the observations W-rich borides observed by Bauer *et al.* in Co-Al-W-B alloys [**35**]. Indeed, the B concentration of 0.1 at.% is well beyond the solubility limit (< 0.04 at.%) in the Co-9Al-9W ternary system, which should result in precipitation of borides at grain boundaries [**60**]. Since the concentration of Mo is higher than that of W, it is possible that Mo substitutes for W in the grain boundary boride phase. Positive identification of the grain boundary phases via transmission electron microscopy and APT will be a subject of future work.



Figure 3.2. Secondary electron micrograph of a 12Cr alloy aged at 900 °C for 1000 h, showing needle-like secondary precipitates at grain boundaries and within the grains. Inset shows a cluster of intragranular secondary precipitates.

Figure 3.2 also demonstrates that further aging of the 12Cr alloy for 1000 h at 900 °C results in precipitation of a small volume fraction ($\approx 3\%$) of an intragranular secondary phase with plate-like morphology. This phase, which was observed in only the 12Cr alloy, is expected to be the hexagonal D0₁₉- χ phase (Co₃W and Co₃Mo) based on its characteristic elongated morphology, as observed in several other similar Co-based alloys [**113**, **114**]. These precipitates were determined by EDS analysis to be significantly enriched in Mo,

Nb, Ta, and Ti, which are known to substitute for W in D0₁₉ Co₃W-type precipitates in Co-based alloys with little or no W content [1, 103, 113]. The appearance of intragranular D0₁₉ after extended aging times suggests that the two-phase γ - γ' microstructure is not stable in the 12Cr alloy. Further, the formation of TCP and other deleterious phases in superalloys is undesirable due to possible deleterious effects on the mechanical properties, as extensive secondary-phase precipitates within the grains are likely to act as sites for crack nucleation and growth. The compositions of the secondary phases in this study also suggest that they deplete refractory alloying elements from the matrix, which may deteriorate mechanical properties by decreasing the effectiveness of solid-solution and precipitation strengthening, and by accelerating coarsening via diffusion in the γ channels [115]. As a two-phase γ plus γ' grain microstructure without additional phases is a design goal in Co-based superalloys, the 12Cr sample was not considered for further investigation in this study due to its significant fraction of intragranular secondary phase.

3.3.2. Coarsening Kinetics

Figures 3.3(a-c) show the temporal-evolution at 900 °C of microstructural parameters for the γ' -precipitates (volume fraction, radius, and number density) in alloys with 0, 4 and 8 at.% Cr. For the shortest time of 24 h, Figure 3.3(a), the volume fraction of γ' -precipitates hasn't yet reached its steady-state value, indicating that the alloy microstructures are still in the growth stage. The γ' volume fractions plateau in the range of 70-80% after 168 h and beyond, indicating a quasi-steady-state coarsening regime [**116**]. Figure 3.3(a) shows that the γ' volume fraction plateau increases slightly from \approx 78% to 81% with addition of 4 at.% Cr, then decreases to 72% with 8 at.% Cr. An increase in γ' volume fraction has also been observed in a ternary Co-9Al-9W alloy with up to 4 at.% Cr addition, but the γ' -precipitates lose their cuboidal morphology upon adding 8 at.% Cr [58].



Figure 3.3. Microstructural evolution of alloys aged at 900 °C in terms of: (a) γ' volume fraction, (b) equivalent precipitate radius, and (c) number density. Error bars represent a 95% confidence interval.

Figure 3.3(b) shows the precipitate radius evolution with aging time, which can be compared to the Lifshitz-Slyozov-Wagner (LSW) [117, 118] model:

(3.1)
$$\langle R(t) \rangle^p = Kt$$

where $\langle R(t) \rangle$ is the precipitate radius at aging time t, p is the temporal exponent, and K is the associated coarsening rate constant. The LSW model predicts a temporal exponent of p = 2 for interface-limited coarsening, and p = 3 for diffusion-limited coarsening. A nonlinear multivariable regression was performed using Equation 3.1 on data given in Figure 3.3(b), resulting in values of p with uncertainties given by the standard error calculated from regression analysis. In Figures 3.3(b) and (c), the data for the 24 h aging time were not included in the regression analysis since the steady-state coarsening regime had not been reached. The data for the 0Cr samples aged for 2000 h were also

not included because the micrographs showed significant coalescence of the γ' precipitates (see Supplemental Figure 3.9). In contrast, individual particles were still distinguishable for the 4Cr and 8Cr samples aged for 2000 h. The best-fit temporal exponents are p = 3.17 ± 0.34 , 3.33 ± 0.48 , and 3.52 ± 0.41 for the 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr alloys, respectively; this is close to p = 3, indicating that diffusion is the dominant rate-limiting mechanism in these alloys. Lass *et al.* [1] previously determined $p = 2.96 \pm 0.34$ for the Cr-free L19 alloy aged at the same temperature of 900 °C, which is in agreement with the present results for 0Cr condition.

Under steady-state conditions, with a constant γ' volume fraction, precipitate number density decreases as t^{-q} with q = 1 according to the LSW theory [119]. Figure 3.3(c) gives $q = 1.05 \pm 0.08$, 0.82 ± 0.09 , and 0.88 ± 0.07 for the 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr alloys, respectively. While experimental p and q exponents are reasonably close to theoretical predictions, minor discrepancies with the LSW model may indicate that a true steadystate has not quite been achieved. Also, the LSW theory may be inaccurate in the present, multicomponent system with a high precipitate volume fraction [120]. However, the addition of Cr to a Co-based superalloy is expected to alter the γ - γ' interfacial energies and lower matrix diffusivity for most alloying elements [115], thereby hindering coalescence, as well as slowing coarsening, consistent with the higher temporal exponents p and lower values for q observed in the 4Cr and 8Cr alloys, as compared to 0Cr.

3.3.3. Elemental Partitioning

Figure 3.4 shows APT reconstructions and proximity histograms for samples aged at 900 °C for 168 h, at the onset of steady-state coarsening. The reconstructions display 1 or 2

partial γ' -precipitates (which are larger than the nanotip), separated by thin γ -channels, with the γ - γ' interface highlighted by isoconcentration surfaces of 56, 51, and 46 at.% Co for the 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr alloys, respectively. The concentration profiles for each phase are obtained from the proximity histograms, in which vertical dotted lines at the origin of the ordinate represent the center of the diffuse heterophase interfaces (\approx 3-5 nm in width). Following Lass *et al.* [1], the error attributed to the concentration measurements is given by:

(3.2)
$$\sigma = \sqrt{C_i (1 - C_i)/N_T}$$

where σ is the statistical counting uncertainty, C_i is the measured concentration of species i, and N_T is the total number of type i-atoms collected in the sampled region. The concentration data is quantitatively summarized in Table 3.2, which gives far-field (ff) concentration values in each phase averaged over the range between 3 and 9 nm away from the interface, along with corresponding partitioning coefficients $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma}$ calculated as the ratio between $C^{\gamma'}$ and C^{γ} , the ff concentrations of an element in γ' and γ , respectively. These $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma}$ values are displayed graphically in Figure 3.5.

In 0Cr, only Co partitions to the γ matrix with $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma} = 0.70$, while all other elements partition to the γ' -precipitates. The Co partitioning behavior remains relatively constant with 4 and 8 at.% Cr addition. As expected from previous studies, Ta, Ti and Nb, which are known to stabilize γ' , show strong partitioning to the γ' -phase [28, 29]. Chromium additions slightly increase the partitioning of Ta, but have little effect on partitioning of Ti and Nb; however, the changes in partition coefficient are within the experimental uncertainty and therefore statistically insignificant. Both Ni and Al show partitioning

Table 3.2. Elemental compositions (at.%) of the bulk material and far-field (ff) concentrations in γ - and γ' -phases measured by atom-probe tomography, and the calculated partitioning coefficients $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma}$. The far-field concentrations have a global average error of ± 0.12 at.%. A range of values is given for the B concentration in γ' due to the lack of a plateau.

Alloy		Cr	Со	Ni	Al	Ti	Mo	W	Nb	Ta	В
0Cr	Bulk	_	57.39	27.51	6.51	3.25	2.55	1.42	0.66	0.67	0.045
	C^{γ}	-	64.53	24.32	4.95	1.86	2.49	1.13	0.41	0.29	0.01
	$C^{\gamma'}$	-	45.31	33.09	9.03	5.55	2.59	1.91	1.06	1.35	0.10
	$\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma}$	-	0.70	1.36	1.82	2.98	1.04	1.69	2.57	4.58	9.65
4Cr	Bulk	3.98	49.47	29.69	6.98	3.67	2.69	1.70	0.73	0.91	0.18
	C^{γ}	6.55	58.86	23.82	4.24	1.49	2.98	1.32	0.34	0.31	0.09
	$C^{\gamma'}$	2.16	41.78	33.97	9.12	5.35	2.54	1.98	1.03	1.39	0.30 - 1.20
	$\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.33	0.71	1.43	2.15	3.60	0.85	1.50	2.99	4.41	3-13
8Cr	Bulk	6.62	42.61	32.19	7.91	4.81	2.35	1.56	0.79	1.08	0.072
	C^{γ}	13.88	52.72	22.44	4.28	1.91	2.92	1.25	0.34	0.24	0.03
	$C^{\gamma'}$	3.62	38.28	36.4	9.37	6.01	2.12	1.70	0.98	1.44	0.09
	$\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.26	0.73	1.62	2.19	3.15	0.72	1.36	2.87	5.89	3.51

coefficients increasing slightly with Cr content, possibly indicating the energetically favorable formation of a Ni₃Al-like γ' -phase instead of Co₃(Al,W) [1]. In contrast, Cr slightly decreases the W partitioning ratio, which is consistent with the literature values suggesting that Cr partially replaces W in the L1₂ sublattice and hence decreases the concentration of W in γ' precipitates [2]. Boron has the highest partitioning coefficients ($\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma} = 9.65$ in 0Cr), which decreases with Cr addition. However, as a trace element, the limited number of detected B ions during APT experiments resulted in very large associated measurement uncertainty especially for the 8Cr alloy. Also, for the 4Cr alloy, no concentration plateau was observed for B in the γ' -phase in the proximity histogram (Figure 3.4(b)), hence a range of values are given in Table 3.2. Finally, unlike the other elements, Mo has nearly equipartitioning behavior in the 0Cr alloy ($\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma} = 1.04$) and it segregates at the γ - γ' interface, as seen from the proximity histogram in Figure 3.5(a). However, Mo begins to favor the γ -matrix upon Cr addition, possibly because the two elements compete for sites in the W sublattice of the Co₃(Al,W) γ' -structure [**121**]. Furthermore, the formation of Mo-rich secondary phases in the 8Cr alloy may allow a greater capacity in the matrix to accommodate Mo, thereby shifting the partitioning of Mo to the γ .

Chromium itself partitions strongly to the γ matrix with $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma} = 0.33$ for the 4Cr and 0.26 for the 8Cr alloy. The sum of the Co and Ni concentrations in the γ' -phase is 78.4 at.% for the 0Cr alloy, suggesting that Co and Ni mostly occupy the X sublattice of the $X_3Z L_{1_2}$ -compound (as expected from the Ni₃Al and Co₃(Al,W) parent compounds [16]) and that all other elements occupy the Z sublattice based on known substitutions for Al and W on the Z sublattice [121, 122, 123]. The deviation of 3.4 at.% from the 75 at.% stoichiometric value for the X sublattice is comparable to deviations reported in nano-precipitates from Ni₃(Al,Z) and Co₃(Al,W,Z) in Ni- and Co-based superalloys, with deviations from the 3:1 ratio of several at.% [28, 104, 123]. If Cr is fully assigned to the X sublattice, the sums of the Co, Ni, and Cr concentrations in the γ' -phase are 77.9 and 78.3 at.%, for the 4Cr and 8 Cr alloys, respectively, which are comparable to the 0Cr alloy value. However, Cr has been shown to displace some γ' -forming elements, such as Mo and W, on the Z sublattice sites [2, 124], which could explain the decreased partitioning coefficient of Mo and W with Cr additions. In the present case, the increase in partitioning of Al and Ta (and possibly Ti and Nb) seem to offset these decreases at least partially, which is consistent with previous observations demonstrating Ta displacement of Cr on the Z sublattice sites [124]. The slight increase in γ' volume fraction in the 4Cr alloy compared to 0Cr, from $\approx 78\%$ to 82% suggests that Cr indeed displaces some of the γ' -forming elements. By contrast, the decrease in γ' volume fraction observed from 4Cr to 8Cr consistent with the consumption of γ' -forming elements Mo, W, Nb, and Ta in the secondary phases (μ or borides) observed in Figures 3.1 and 3.2.

3.3.4. Compressive Creep Behavior

3.3.4.1. Mechanical Properties. Figure 3.6 shows double logarithmic plots of minimum steady-state strain rate vs. applied stress σ for the three alloys, 0Cr, 4Cr and 8Cr, with the data fitted to the Arrhenius-Norton power-law equation

(3.3)
$$\dot{\epsilon} = A\sigma^n \exp(\frac{-Q}{RT})$$

where A is a constant, n is the stress exponent, Q is the activation energy, R is the gas constant, and T is the absolute temperature in Kelvin. Comparable stress exponents (n = 6.4 ± 1.4 , 6.1 ± 2.4 , and 7.6 ± 2.2 for our 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr alloys, respectively) suggest that our three alloys have the same deformation mechanism, namely dislocation creep. Furthermore, all samples displayed cracking along grain boundaries after compressive creep deformation of ≈ 10 % (Supplemental Figure 3.10), indicating limited high-temperature ductility. The data of Povstugar *et al.* for three Co- 9Al-9W-0.04B alloys with 0, 4, and 8 at.% Cr additions (abbreviated as CoAlW, CoAlW-4Cr, and CoAlW-8Cr) [**2**] are also shown in Figure 3.6. Despite its smaller γ' volume fraction and lack of additional alloying, elements, the CoAlW alloy from Povstugar *et al.* has comparable creep strength to our alloys, most likely due to a combination of effects including higher W content to slow diffusion, and a high enough B content high to avoid grain-boundary decohesion.



Figure 3.4. APT reconstructions and proximity histograms for (a) 0Cr, (b) 4Cr, and (c) 8Cr samples heat-treated at 900 °C for 168 h. Concentration profiles in the proximity histograms are labeled with their corresponding elements and can be read on one of the two concentration axes.

Nevertheless, our Cr-free multicomponent alloy achieves a similar degree of creep performance with a lower mass density of 8.89 g/cm³ [1], compared to 9.36 g/cm³ for the



Figure 3.5. Partitioning coefficient $\kappa^{\gamma'/\gamma}$ in 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr samples heat treated at 900 °C for 168 h, with values greater than 1 indicating partitioning to the γ' -phase.

Co-9Al-9W-0.04B alloy [**36**]. Density is further reduced to 8.84 and 8.78 g/cm³ for the 4Cr and 8Cr alloys, respectively.

In comparing the Cr-additions to the present alloy with those of Povstugar *et al.*, our multicomponent alloys with 4 and 8 % Cr additions exhibit slightly improve creep resistance (decreasing minimum strain rates by a factor of ≈ 2); whereas the ternary alloy exhibits a dramatic deterioration in the creep resistance upon the addition of Cr, with minimum strain rates increasing by factors of ≈ 8 for CoAlW-4Cr and ≈ 35 for CoAlW-8Cr compared to Cr-free CoAlW. However, direct comparison is difficult for two reasons. First, because Povstugar *et al.* added Cr only by replacing Co (*i.e.*, without altering the Al and W content to account for changes in partitioning behavior), their alloys had varying γ' volume fractions (38, 57, and 64% for CoAlW, CoAlW-4Cr, and CoAlW-8Cr, respectively). Given that optimal creep resistance is typically achieved for γ' volume fractions of 65-70% [125], this suggests that the negative influence of Cr addition on the



Figure 3.6. Double logarithmic plot of minimum, steady-state strain rate at 850 °C vs. compressive stress for our 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr alloys, compared to literature data for Co-9Al-9W-0.04B alloys containing Cr (dashed lines labeled CoAlW-xCr) from Povstugar *et al.* [2]. Stress exponents n are given in parentheses.

creep strength of CoAlW is not caused by changes to γ' volume fraction, as the CoAlW-8Cr alloy has the worst creep performance despite being the closest to this optimal γ' -fraction range. In contrast, the multicomponent alloys in the present study have relatively high γ' -volume fractions of 78, 81, and 72% for 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr, respectively (see Figure 3.3(a)). The volume fraction decreasing towards the optimal range in the 8Cr alloy may play a role in its slightly improved creep resistance, although this does not account for the lower strain rate of the 4Cr alloy as compared to 0Cr. Second, the quaternary CoAlW-8Cr alloy from Povstugar *et al.* exhibited W-rich secondary precipitates within the grains with a $\approx 2\%$ volume fraction (as estimated from their published micrographs [58]), which may deteriorate mechanical properties (e.g., by decreasing ductility and removing solidsolution strengthening elements from the matrix), but their absence in the CoAlW-4Cr alloy also cannot explain the reduced creep strength when compared to ternary CoAlW.

Povstugar et al. [2] suggested that the addition of Cr to Co-9Al-9W-0.04B, beside creating undesirable intermetallic secondary phases, may alter the energy of stacking faults and thereby deteriorate creep properties. However, the observed improvement in creep resistance as Cr is added to our multicomponent alloy suggests that more compositionally complex alloys may in fact be strengthened at elevated temperature by Cr additions. An important factor explaining this discrepancy may be the presence of 30 at.% Ni in our alloy: additions of 18 at.% Ni to the CoAlW-8Cr alloy were shown to progressively improve creep resistance (decreasing strain rates by a factor of ≈ 4) [2]. Furthermore, a study of a series of Co-[0-83]Ni-9Al-8W superalloys showed that the addition of 8 at.% Cr resulted in similar minimum creep rates for Cr-free and Cr-modified alloys with ≈ 20 at.% Ni, and Ni-rich alloys experienced almost two orders of magnitude decrease in creep rate upon Cr addition [126]. This was justified by the improvement in solid-solution strengthening provided by Cr to the γ -phase, due to its pronounced partitioning behavior in Ni-rich alloys. The stacking fault energy and antiphase boundary energy of the γ' may also change with high Ni-content. Further investigation is needed to help clarify the possible beneficial effects of Cr in Ni-containing Co-based superalloys. Thus, the inclusion of at least 20 at.% Ni may be sufficient to offset or mask any detrimental effects of Cr in Co-based superalloys, if they exist. The additional alloying elements (e.q., Ti, Ta, Mo, Nb) may also aid in preventing Cr-induced degradation of creep performance by providing additional solid-solution strengthening and by improving microstructural stability.

3.3.4.2. Post-Creep Microstructure. Figure 3.7 displays SEM micrographs of the 0Cr, 4Cr and 8Cr samples after the creep experiments at 850 °C, with total strains of 14, 9 and 13%, respectively. For a typical 5 mm diameter cross-section, about 40 grains were counted, with grain diameters ranging from 0.3-2.0 mm. Rafting of the γ' -precipitates is clearly visible in the 0Cr and 4Cr samples, with elongated γ' -rafts oriented along $\langle 100 \rangle$ perpendicular to the applied compressive load (n-type rafting), as also reported in other Co-based superalloys and consistent with a positive γ - γ' misfit (*i.e.*, γ' lattice parameter larger than γ) [18, 58, 94]. Directional coarsening and coalescence are especially apparent in the plane parallel to the applied load, Figures 3.7(a) and (c). This rafting behavior is present in the majority of the grains observed in 0Cr and 4Cr samples, and the degree of rafting is more significant in grains with crystallographic orientations such that precipitates can raft perpendicular to the applied stress. Other, less well oriented grains do not exhibit rafting.

By contrast, no rafting is observed in the 8Cr sample after creep testing, as illustrated in Figure 3.7(e). This is consistent with the reported observation that Cr additions decrease the γ - γ' lattice misfit by substitution of the large W atoms in the γ' structure [2]: a smaller lattice misfit results in a reduced driving force for rafting due to the lack of anisotropic stress field around precipitates during unidirectional loading [99], and it has been shown that an alloy with zero misfit when undergoing creep exhibits isotropic γ' coarsening without rafting [97]. The lack of rafting for the 8Cr alloy may indicated a near zero γ - γ' lattice misfit at 850 °C. Furthermore, as observed earlier, the coarsening rate of the γ' -precipitates appears to decrease upon the addition of Cr, and this effect may also contribute to the decreased degree of rafting.



Figure 3.7. Post-creep SEM micrographs of (a, b) 0Cr, (c, d) 4Cr, and (e, f) 8Cr samples, showing rafted γ' structure for 0Cr and 4Cr in two orientations with respect to applied stress σ .

Another Co-based superalloy with significant Ni content was shown to exhibit antiphase boundaries created from dislocation shearing of the γ' -precipitates at stresses over 275 MPa at 900 °C [127]. It has been suggested that rafting has a negative impact on creep performance in Ni-based superalloys, when the main deformation mechanism involves dislocations shearing through precipitates at low temperature and high stress creep regime [97]. In our 8Cr alloy, the absence of rafting due to Cr addition may thus offset any potential weakening effects such as changes to stacking fault energies or precipitation of additional phases that scavenge solid-solution strengthening elements. However, other studies of Co-based superalloys have suggested that rafting may improve creep resistance even when γ' shearing occurs [93, 94]. Differences between our 0Cr, 4Cr, and 8Cr alloys in grain structures, including dimensions, morphology, and orientation with respect the applied load may also impact the creep behavior, so a more systematic study is needed to explain the creep strengthening effect observed here upon Cr addition to the 0Cr base alloy.

3.4. Conclusion

We investigate herein the effect of adding 4, 8, and 12 at.% Cr to the multicomponent Co-30Ni-7Al-4Ti-3Mo-2W-1Nb-1Ta-0.1B (at.%) alloy with γ - γ' structure in terms of microstructure and creep properties.

- Chromium additions monotonically reduce the γ' solvus temperature, as well as the alloy solidus and liquidus temperatures, thereby reducing the maximum operating temperature of the alloy.
- Cr-modified alloys display γ'-precipitates that are less cuboidal in shape and coarsen more slowly. While the alloy with 4% Cr displays a two-phase γ-γ' structure, the alloy with 8 at.% Cr exhibits some Mo-rich intermetallic phases at grain boundaries, and the alloy with 12 at.% Cr additionally shows extensive

secondary phase within the grains upon aging. For this particular alloy series, the optimum Cr content (to balance oxidation resistance and microstructural stability) is therefore in the vicinity of 8 at.%.

- Atom-probe tomography measurements of aged alloys show that Co and Cr partition to the γ-matrix, while Ni, Al, W, Ti, Ta, Nb, and B partition to the γ'-phase. Chromium additions generally increases the partitioning of elements to the γ'-precipitates, except for B and W, which Cr displaces from the Z sublattice into the X₃Z (L1₂)-structure, and Mo, which initially has equipartitioning behavior but mildly partitions to the γ-matrix upon Cr addition.
- The two alloys with 4 and 8% Cr show a two-fold decrease in creep rate (at constant stress at 850 °C) as compared to the base, Cr-free alloy, as well as a decreased degree of rafting during creep, which is attributed to a reduction of γ-γ' lattice misfit. This small, but significant improvement in creep resistance upon Cr addition is in contrast to the previously reported behavior of Co-9Al-9W-0.04B, but agrees with results for Ni- containing Co-Al-W alloys, suggesting that the inclusion of Ni in the multicomponent Co-based alloy is crucial to prevent any detrimental effects of Cr on creep resistance.

Supplemental Information



Figure 3.8. Phase diagram of γ' solvus and γ solidus and liquidus temperatures determined by differential scanning calorimetry.



Figure 3.9. Secondary electron SEM micrograph of 0Cr aged at 900 °C for 2000 h showing coalescence of γ' -precipitates.



Figure 3.10. Post-creep SEM micrograph of 4Cr sample displaying grain-boundary cracking.

CHAPTER 4

Creep Behavior and Rafting Mechanisms in Cr-Containing γ' -Strengthened Cobalt-Based Superalloys with Different Lattice Misfit

The creep resistance and γ' -rafting mechanism are studied in a series of Cr-containing Co-based superalloy, Co-30Ni-10Al-7W-0.1B-xCr (x=0-6 at.%). As Cr concentration increases, the γ' -morphology changes from cuboidal to spherical, and the γ' -rafting tendency decreases, consistent with a reduction of γ/γ' -lattice misfit. The creep resistance of the alloys is unaffected by additions of up to 4% Cr, but decreases significantly for 6% Cr, consistent with a reduced tendency in the latter alloy to create a rafted γ' -microstructure which impedes dislocation motion during creep. Atom-probe tomography (APT) measurements reveal that the rafted microstructure exhibits a local enrichment of γ -stabilizers (Co and Cr) in the γ -matrix, specifically adjacent to a γ - γ' interface or within a narrow γ -channel in between two coalescing γ' -precipitates. For comparison, APT shows that an unrafted microstructure does not display a local enrichment in γ -stabilizers. These results suggest that γ' -rafting leads to a inhomogeneous elemental distribution within the γ -matrix channels, and help elucidate the underlying diffusion mechanism that occur during γ' -rafting.

4.1. Introduction

Co-based superalloys [16] have attracted significant research efforts since the rediscovery of γ - γ' microstructure in the Co-Al-W ternary system, following an early report by Lee [21]. The higher solidus and liquidus temperatures, as compared to Ni-based superalloys, provide opportunity for more efficient jet engines and gas turbines. However, for the Co-based superalloys to be adopted for such critical applications, their deformation-, coarsening- and corrosion-resistance need to be further improved at elevated temperature [59, 101, 128]. In particular, it is crucial to understand the microstructural evolution of Co-based superalloys under creep conditions (combined high temperatures and stresses), as the difference in lattice misfit between the γ' -precipitates and the γ -matrix, affect the latter directional coarsening (rafting). Whereas Co-based superalloys commonly exhibit a positive misfit, Ni-based superalloys typically have a negative misfit [91], thus affecting the direction of γ' -rafting and the resulting mechanical properties. Therefore, understanding the effect of lattice misfit on creep resistance and the underlying mechanism that governs γ' -rafting is key to the development of Co-based superalloys.

In Co-based superalloys, the magnitude of the positive γ - γ' lattice misfit is affected by the partitioning of alloying elements in these two phases. Alloying elements that partition toward the precipitate (γ' -formers) typically increase the lattice misfit by increasing the lattice parameter of the γ' -phase [**38**]. Conversely, elements which partition toward the γ -matrix (γ -stabilizers) typically decrease the lattice misfit through expanding the lattice spacing in the γ -phase [**58**]. In particular, addition of Cr to Co-based superalloys has been shown to consistently reduce the lattice misfit, evident from the change in γ' -morphology, γ' -rafting, and lattice parameter measurement from X-ray and neutron diffraction [**129**]. However, the effect of reduced lattice misfit on creep resistance of Co-based superalloys has yet to be clearly elucidated. Povstugar *et al.* [2] showed that creep resistance of a quaternary Co-Al-W-xCr is negatively impacted by Cr addition, and attributed the deterioration in mechanical properties to the lower lattice misfit in Cr-containing alloys. However, recent studies by Ng *et al.* [130] and Chung *et al.* [131] in multicomponent Co-based superalloys (with 10 and 8 elements, respectively) show that, while Cr reduces the γ - γ' lattice misfit, the creep resistance of the alloy is only weekly reduced, even for additions as high as 8 at.% Cr.

To understand the microstructural evolution and the corresponding vacancy-assisted transport phenomena during creep, previous works have utilized both transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and atom-probe tomography (APT) to study the post-creep micro-segregation behavior in Co-based superalloys. Freund *et al.* [132] employed TEM to study the elemental segregation that occurs during micro-twinning of a polycrystalline Co-based superalloy. It was shown that Co and Cr preferentially segregate toward the twin boundary, lowering local fault energy to facilitate slip of partial dislocations. Makineni *et al.* [133] used APT to show that both partial dislocations and anti-phase boundaries within γ' -precipitates are enriched in Co and Cr. Similar creep-induced defect-assisted segregation behavior has been observed in Ni-based superalloys [134, 135]. While numerous efforts have been focused on characterization of nanoscale creep-induced segregation in γ' -phase of Co-based superalloys, few studies have addressed the effect of rafting on segregation in the γ -phase matrix. Understanding of rafting-induced compositional redistribution on the nanoscale may help design Co-based superalloys with better coarseningand creep-resistance. In this paper, Cr alloying is used to adjust the lattice misfit in a moderately complex Co-Ni-Al-W-B alloy. The effect of the reduced γ - γ' misfit on the high temperature creep resistance is investigated via compressive creep. The effect of γ' -rafting on the local γ -phase composition is then studied by APT to explain the underlying elemental redistribution mechanism that occur during γ' -rafting in Co-based superalloys.

4.2. Experimental Methods

Table 4.1. Nominal composition of the D-xCr series alloy given in at.% and (wt.%) along with the phase transformation temperatures measured by DSC.

Alloy	Со	Ni	Al	W	В	Cr	γ' -solvus (° C)	γ -solidus (° C)	γ -liquidus (° C)
0Cr	53.0	30	10	7	0.1	0	1038	1451	1468
	(48.5)	(27.3)	(4.2)	(20.0)	(0.02)	(0)			
2Cr	51.8	30	9.5	6.7	0.1	2	1016	1448	1464
	(47.7)	(27.5)	(4.0)	(19.2)	(0.02)	(1.6)			
4Cr	50.6	30	9.1	6.3	0.1	4	1043	1462	1469
	(46.9)	(27.7)	(3.8)	(18.3)	(0.02)	(3.3)			
6Cr	49.4	30	8.6	6.0	0.1	6	987	1442	1460
	(46.1)	(27.9)	(3.7)	(17.5)	(0.02)	(4.9)			

The base alloy (0Cr), with a Cr-free composition of Co-30Ni-10Al-7W-0.1B (at.%), was designed from a Co-Al-W basis with Ni addition to broaden the γ - γ' phase field to accommodate subsequent Cr alloying without formation of topologically closed-packed phases [6]. Boron was added to strengthen the grain boundary based on previously observed grain boundary cracking [49, 50, 60]. The base alloy (labelled as 0Cr) was then modified by addition of 2, 4 or 6 at.% Cr (labelled as 2Cr, 4Cr and 6Cr) to examine the effect of Cr on creep resistance and rafting behavior. For a given amount of Cr, the concentration of Co was reduced by 4/5 and the concentration of γ' -formers (Al and W) by 1/5 to maintain a constant γ' volume fraction based on a Cr partitioning coefficient of $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma} \approx 0.25$ [61]. The nominal composition of each alloy is shown in Table 4.1 along with the measured γ' -solvus, γ -solidus and γ -liquidus temperatures.

The alloys were prepared by arc-melting pure metals (99.9+% purity) under argon atmosphere. Each ingots (with a mass of 100g) was remelted at least eight times to ensure compositional homogeneity. After arc-melting, the alloys were subjected to a three-step heat treatment : (i) homogenization at 1200 °C for 24 h ; (ii) boride precipitation at 1050 °C for 12 h. and (iii) γ' -precipitation at 900 °C for 168 h. The boride precipitation step promotes formation of grain-boundary boride without a reduced γ' depletion zone, thus enhancing the high temperature mechanical properties [**60**].

The γ' -solvus, γ -solidus and γ -liquidus temperatures were measured via differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) (Netzsch 404c) using as-homogenized samples under flowing argon (20 mL/min) and heating and cooling rates of 10K/min. DSC results were analyzed following the National Institute of Standard and Technology guideline [**62**] where the phase transformation temperatures were determined from the first visible onset of deviation from the heating curve. Microstructural studies were conducted on a Hitachi SU8030 scanning electron microscope (SEM) equipped with a cold-field-emission source and energy dispersive spectroscopy (EDS). An operating voltage of 25 kV and a 15 mm working distance were utilized.

All compressive creep experiments were conducted at 900 ± 2 °C. Creep specimens were machined into compressive cylinders with a 5 mm diameter and a 10mm height via electro-discharge machining from as-aged ingots. Creep specimens were placed between
boron-nitride lubricated silicon carbide platens and heated without load to the test temperature. For the multi-stress creep tests, each applied stress was held constant until the minimum strain rate was measured to be two orders of magnitude larger than the sampling error. The multi-stress creep specimens were furnace-cooled with load after the tests. For the single-stress creep experiment, a compressive load of 150 MPa was applied for 50 h before unloading and immediately quenching the specimen in water to avoid further microstructural evolution during cooling for atom-probe tomographic (APT) study. Sample displacements were measured using a linear variable displacement transducer with a resolution of 10 μ m.

APT [64, 65] was used to study the rafting induced compositional inhomogeneity before and after creep. For rafted samples, to target the specific rafted microstructure, a FEI Helios Nanolab microscope equipped with focused ion-beam (FIB) capability (FEI Helios Nanolab 600 dual-beam FIB/SEM) was used to prepare the region specific APT specimen (see Supplemental Figure 4.11) [63]. For as-aged and unrafted samples, where region specific sample preparation is not needed, APT specimens were prepared via a two-step electropolishing [136]. A coarse-polishing step in 20% chromic acid, 30% hydrochloric acid (12.1M) and 50% deionized water was performed at 5.5 V dc under room temperature. The final sharpening was performed at 20V dc in a 2% perchloric acid, 1% hydrochloric acid, 1% chromic acid in 2-butoxyethanol solution [78]. All APT experiments were conducted on a local-electrode atom-probe tomograph (LEAP 5000XS, Cameca) with a pulse laser energy of 30 pJ, pulse frequency of 500 kHz, temperature of 25 K and a maximum evaporation rate of 5% using a picosecond laser (355 nm wavelength) [137]. APT data were analyzed using the IVAS software package, version number 3.6, from CAMECA Instruments Inc.

4.3. Results and Discussion

4.3.1. Microstructure Under As-aged Condition

Figure 4.1 shows the microstructure of the four D-xCr alloys, with Cr concentration of 0, 2, 4 and 6 at.%, after 168 h of γ' -aging at 900 °C. The microstructures prior to γ' aging (after boride precipitation at 1050 °C) are presented in Supplemental Figure 4.12 and show a single γ -phase with borides along grain boundaries. Figure 4.1 shows that, with increasing Cr concentration, the alloys exhibit a similar γ' volume fraction of $\approx 50\%$ $(V_f^{0Cr} = 55 \pm 4\%, V_f^{2Cr} = 49 \pm 1\%, V_f^{4Cr} = 46 \pm 1\%$ and $V_f^{6Cr} = 46 \pm 2\%)$, suggesting that the composition balance based on $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma} \approx 0.25$ is effective in maintaining a constant γ' volume fraction when adding Cr. The γ' -morphology transitions from cuboidal to spherical with increased Cr content, where the spherical morphology is most apparent in the 6Cr alloy shown in Figure 4.1(d). This morphological transition suggests a reduced lattice parameter misfit, based on similar morphological changes observed in both Ni- and Co-based superalloys [138, 139, 140]. Specifically, in Cr-containing Co-based superalloys, Povstugar et al. [2] and Chung et al. [131] have shown that Cr preferentially displaces W from the $L1_2$ lattice site towards the γ -phase. The change in W partitioning results in an increased and decreased lattice parameter of the γ -and γ' -phase, respectively, producing a lower γ - γ' misfit.

Insets of Figure 4.1 show the grain-boundary microstructure of the D-xCr alloys decorated with boride precipitates whose fraction progressively decreases as the Cr concentration increases, evident by the increasingly thinner and more dispersed boride along the grain boundaries. A previous study by Klob et al. [60] showed that ternary Co-Al-W exhibits a very low B solubility, < 0.04at.%. Thus, any addition of B beyond the solubility limit is expected to segregate toward the grain boundary [50], consistent with the large fraction of grain boundary boride observed in the 0Cr alloy. However, in our case, the boride fraction decreases with increasing Cr concentration. In particular, the 6Cr alloy exhibit significantly less grain boundary boride compared to other alloys. Investigation of multicomponent Co-based superalloys, with up to 9 elemental constituents, has shown that these heavily alloyed systems show relatively little grain-boundary borides, even though B segregates to grain boundaries. Ng et al. [130] proposed that B solubility in γ' -phase increases in multicomponent alloy, reducing B segregation at grain boundaries. Long et al. [141] further confirmed the increased B solubility in a single-phase L1₂-ordered Co-based alloy (pure γ'), from 0.04 at.% in Co-Al-W to 0.08 at.% in the multinary γ' -intermetallic alloy. These results suggest that, as the Cr content increases in D-xCr alloys, the B solubility in the γ' -phase increases concomitantly, reducing the B segregation (and thus boride formation) at γ -grain-boundary. Detailed AP measurements of grain-boundary segregation will have to be done to confirm this hypothesis.

4.3.2. Creep Results and Microstructure

Figure 4.2 plots the minimum strain rate against the applied compressive stress for each of D-xCr alloys during creep at 900 °C. The creep behavior is assumed to follow the



Figure 4.1. Microstructure of D-xCr alloys, (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr and (d) 6Cr aged at 900 °C for 168 h. Insets show the grain boundary of each alloy decorated with boride precipitates.

Mukherjee-Bird-Dorn power-law equation:

(4.1)
$$\dot{\epsilon} = A\sigma^n \exp(-Q/RT)$$

where $\dot{\epsilon}$ is the strain rate, A is a constant, σ is the applied stress, n is the stress exponent, Q is the creep activation energy, R is the gas constant, and T is the temperature. The creep data show that 0Cr, 2Cr and 4Cr alloys demonstrate a comparable power-law creep behavior with similar minimum strain rates. The 6Cr alloy shows a minimum strain rate approximately an order of magnitude higher, at a given stress, than those with a lower Cr content, indicative of a lower creep resistance.

Povstugar et al. [2] show that Cr additions significantly weaken the high temperature creep strength of ternary Co-9Al-9W, with an addition of 4 at.% of Cr (Co-9Al-9W-4Cr) increasing the minimum strain rate by an order of magnitude and 8 at.% (Co-9Al-9W-8Cr) by two orders of magnitude. The authors attribute the weakening effect to the reduced lattice misfit. However, previous study on multinary Co-based superalloys conducted by others show that Cr does not impact the creep resistance. Specifically, Ng et al. [130] show that Co-30Ni-7Al-2W-4Ti-3Mo-1Nb-1Ta-0.1B-xCr (x=0-12 at.%) alloys exhibit a similar creep resistance between the Cr-free and the 8 at.% Cr variant. Similar results were obtained in a study of multinary Co-30Ni-11Al-5.5W-2Ti-2.5Ta-0.1B-xCr (x=0-12at.%) alloy performed by Chung *et al.* [131]; while Cr alloying progressively reduces the lattice misfit from 0.6 to 0.2%, as measured via synchrotron XRD, creep resistance was not impacted as significantly as in the quaternary Co-9Al-9W-xCr alloys. The confounding effects of Cr on creep resistance suggest that in addition to the reduced lattice misfit, other factors are also influencing the creep strength of Co-based superalloys. Potential discrepancy may arise from multicomponent alloying, TCP phase precipitation in the Co-9Al-9W-xCr system, change in γ' volume fraction with Cr.

Zenk *et al.* [26] and Titus *et al.* [127] theorize that a high Ni content of 30 at.%, when used in multi-component Co-based superalloys, may increase the stacking fault and anti-phase boundary energy, thus compensating the weakened creep resistance from the reduced lattice misfit. However, present results show that creep resistance is degraded for 6% Cr additions, even with a constant Ni concentration at 30 at.%. Therefore, it is likely that other alloying elements commonly employed in multinary Co-based superalloys, such as Ti, Mo, Nb and Ta, are effective in maintaining the creep resistance with Cr addition.

Among these elements, Ti is shown to be most effective in enhancing the mechanical properties of Co-based superalloys. Xue *et al.* [29] and Zenk *et al.* [28, 38] show that a small fraction of Ti addition leads to a significantly improved creep resistance via multiple mechanisms, *i.e.*, an increased lattice misfit and formation of dislocation network in γ -phase which both inhibit dislocation motion within the γ -matrix, and an increased stacking fault and APB energy to prevent shearing in γ' -phase. Hence, it is possible that strengthening by Ti overshadows any weakening by Cr explaining the stable creep resistance observed up to 4% Cr addition in our multicomponent Co-based superalloy.



Figure 4.2. Double-logarithmic plot of minimum creep strain-rate vs. applied compressive stress at 900 °C for D-xCr alloys. The slope of each alloy corresponds to the stress exponent, n, derived from the power law creep model Eq. 4.1. Total accumulated creep strain and elapsed time of each creep specimens is as follow, 0Cr: $\epsilon_f = 10\%$, $t_f = 75h$; 2Cr: $\epsilon_f = 14\%$, $t_f = 47h$; 4Cr: $\epsilon_f = 11\%$, $t_f = 43h$; 6Cr: $\epsilon_f = 9\%$, $t_f = 15h$.

The microstructures of D-xCr after multi-stress compressive creep are shown in Figure 4.3. Under compressive stresses, positive-misfit Co-based superalloys are expected to exhibit n-type rafting where γ' -precipitates coarsen preferentially in a direction perpendicular to the applied compressive stress axis [58, 94, 98, 108]. Due to the polycrystallinity of arc-melted samples, grains with various crystallographic orientation with respect to the uniaxial stress are expected to exhibit varying rafting behavior. Figure 4.3 highlights the most rafted grain within the studied cross-section.

As visible in cross-sections parallel to the applied stress axis (Figure 4.3), the degree of rafting decreases with increasing Cr concentration. The reduced rafting in alloys with a higher Cr concentration is indicative of the reduced lattice misfit [2, 129, 130, 131]. The perpendicular cross-sections of the post-creep 0Cr alloy (Figure 4.3) illustrates the horizontal γ' -platelets formed via n-type rafting. In a heavily rafted microstructure such as in the 0Cr alloy, all γ' -precipitates exhibit either a coalesced irregular or cubic, platelike cross-section. The morphology of the γ' -platelet is determined by the coherency of the γ - γ' interface after creep; if an interface has relaxed via interfacial dislocation pile-up, the γ' -platelet likely exhibit an irregular morphology [99, 142]. The coalescence along the perpendicular cross-section is not evident in the 2Cr, 4Cr and 6Cr alloys shown in Figure 4.3(b)-(d) consistent with a reduced degree of rafting from a smaller lattice misfit. The grain-to-grain mechanical interaction may also alter the rafting direction, as shown in the perpendicular cross-section of the 2Cr alloy (Figure 4.3(b)) where γ' can be found directionally rafted perpendicular to the applied stress.

Figure 4.3 further illustrates the post-creep grain boundary microstructure of D-xCr alloys. Grain-boundary boride fracture is often observed after 8% of accumulated compressive creep strain, corroborating the lack of grain-boundary ductility in Co-based superalloys [49, 50, 60]. The borides in the 0Cr alloy fractured in a piece-wise manner

suggesting significant stresses are present at the grain-boundaries during creep. In the 2Cr alloy, the boride precipitates are fractured with cracks propagating in multiple directions. Grain-boundary microstructure of the 2Cr alloy shows a larger precipitate-depleted zone compared to the 0Cr alloys. Krol et al. [143, 144, 145] demonstrate that the yield strength of Ni-based superalloys decreases drastically when the width of the precipitatedepleted zone exceeds a certain limit. This mechanism may explain the higher prevalence of grain boundary boride failure in the 2Cr alloy. The 6Cr alloy exhibits an even higher grain boundary brittleness compared to the other alloys. The cracks propagate from the fractured grain boundary into the adjacent grains. The extensive grain boundary cracking may contribute to the increased creep strain rate observed in the 6Cr alloys shown in Figure 4.2, at which point the Cr effect on creep resistance may be related to the γ' -morphology change less than expected. Finally, unlike the other D-xCr alloys, the 4Cr alloy does not exhibit any grain boundary boride failure. The amount of grain boundary decorated with boride in the crept 4Cr alloy is also less than for the other alloys studied herein. In addition to the brittleness of the grain boundary, the different fracture behavior may be due to the different grain-to-grain mechanical interaction in the coarse-grain arc-melted samples.

The multi-stress creep experiments used here do not allow for a straightforward comparison of post-creep microstructures, due to variation in accumulated creep strain and time between specimens, thus preventing an accurate rafting comparison between D-xCr alloys. In addition, in multi-stress experiments, creep results are often convoluted with different microstructural evolution at different creep stresses which may influence the measured creep response.



Figure 4.3. Post-creep microstructure of D-xCr alloys (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr and (d) 6Cr after multi-stress creep at 900 °C. Micrographs shows the planes parallel, perpendicular to the loading axis and the post-creep grain boundary microstructure.

Figure 4.4 shows the single-stress compressive creep behavior of D-xCr alloys performed at 150 MPa / 50 h / 900 °C. The measured strain rate at the end of the creep experiment shows that increasing Cr concentration (*i.e.*, reduced lattice misfit) resulted in a small, but measurable increase in strain rate, where the strain rate is approximately doubled between the 0Cr alloy and the 4 and 6Cr alloys. The difference in the single-stress creep behavior can be attributed to the change in lattice misfit and the corresponding rafting behavior. Alternatively, it is possible that the creep variation arise from the grain-tograin interaction from polycrystal specimens. The shorter primary creep regime observed in the 0Cr alloy may also be due to the larger lattice misfit. When subjected to a compressive stress, the γ -channels, in alloys with a larger lattice misfit, experience a higher stress due to the larger coherency stress between the precipitates and the matrix [55, 99, 146]. This might result in a faster dislocation accumulation in, and hardening of, the γ -phase, and thus a shorter primary creep regime in the 0Cr alloy. The lower strain rate measured in the alloy with a lower Cr concentration is likely due to the creep strengthening from γ' -rafting. Figure 4.5 shows the microstructure of D-xCr alloys after single-stress creep, where the extent of rafting is reduced as the Cr content is increased. Previous studies on Co-based superalloys [7, 108, 147] have shown that rafting under both compressive and tensile stress is associated with a reduced creep strain rate, where the primary strengthening mechanism is via a lengthened glide/climb path for matrix dislocation, needed to circumvent rafted γ' -precipitates. Similar observations have also been made in Ni-based superalloys [10, 148]. Therefore, it is plausible that the 2Cr, 4Cr and 6Cr alloys exhibit a somewhat higher strain rate from the lack of rafting-induced strengthening. For the low strain rate studied here (Figure 4.4), the difference is relatively modest, about a factor 2.

The rafted microstructure after the single-stress creep shown in Figure 4.5 more accurately illustrates the rafting tendency from Cr addition than multi-stress creep. Here, the alloy with the largest lattice misfit, 0Cr, clearly exhibits the highest degree of rafting, with γ' -precipitates coalescing to form high-aspect ratio rafts. The γ - γ' interfaces in the post-creep 0Cr specimen are also more jagged, consistent with a partial or full loss of coherency after creep [99, 142]. Alloys with a lower lattice misfit, *i.e.*, 2Cr and 4Cr, show a lower degree of rafting as some γ' -precipitates have directionally coarsened but have yet to coalesce, as seen in Figure 4.5(b) inset. Jokisaari *et al.* [9], using a phase field approach that consider elastic interaction between γ' -precipitates, have demonstrated that coalescence during rafting depends on the magnitudes of both the applied stress and lattice



Figure 4.4. Plot of creep strain as a function of time for each of the D-xCr alloy during 150 MPa / 900 °C compressive creep experiments lasting for 50 h. The strain rates measured from the last 10 h of the experiment are shown for each alloy. Primary creep strain and elapsed time are estimated by extrapolating steady-state creep strain rate to t = 0.

misfit. A sufficiently large applied stress or a lattice misfit is needed to overcome the elastic interaction between two neighboring γ' -precipitates, leading to their coalescence. In the crept 2Cr alloy, coalescence is stalled for numerous γ' -precipitates, leaving narrow γ -channels between the precipitates; this is likely because the reduced lattice misfit does not provide sufficient driving force to overcome the elastic interaction between two γ - γ' interfaces. In the 6Cr alloy, no rafting is observed after the single-stress creep, as expected since the alloy has the lowest lattice misfit from its highest Cr content (see Figure 4.5(d)). However, it can be inferred that the 6Cr alloy still exhibits a positive lattice misfit at 900 °C, since γ' -rafting occurs after multi-stress creep where the specimen was stressed to 400 MPa (Figure 4.2). The gradual change in rafting behavior from 0Cr to 6Cr alloy, illustrated via single-stress creep experiments, provides a more representative illustration of the effect of Cr on affecting the lattice misfit and rafting tendency.



Figure 4.5. Post-creep microstructure of D-xCr alloy series (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr and (d) 6Cr after the 150 MPa / 50 h / 900 °C of compressive creep. All microstructures correspond to cross section parallel to the applied stress.

4.3.3. Atom-Probe Tomography Analysis of As-aged and Crept Specimens

Figure 4.6 shows the APT reconstruction of the as-aged and single-stress crept 2Cr alloy, which was selected due to its rafting state, where the γ' -precipitates had directionally coarsened but not yet coalesced. The examined nanotip of the as-aged 2Cr alloy exhibits a highly cuboidal γ' -morphology with {100} facets and sharp {110} edges and {111} corners. In addition of featuring the γ' -morphology, Figure 4.6 further highlights the effect of creep and rafting on local composition in the γ -matrix. Specifically, the nanotip is obtained from a rafted region shown in the inset of Figure 4.6(b). After the single-stress creep experiment, where compressive stress is applied along the x-y direction, the two γ' -precipitates at the center of the nanotip were directionally coarsened and left a narrow γ -channel between them as shown in Figure 4.6(b). Analysis of γ -matrix composition, via iso-concentration thresholding (Co=64% and Cr=4%) of both as-aged and crept 2Cr alloy, shows that significant enrichment of γ -stabilizers developed in the crept 2Cr alloys. A higher concentration of Co and Cr is observed in the matrix, both adjacent to the γ - γ' interfaces and within the narrow γ -channel, while the as-aged nanotip does not show such local enrichment of γ -stabilizers (via iso-concentration thresholding).



Figure 4.6. APT reconstruction of the 2Cr alloy (a) in as-aged condition and b) after compressive creep for 50 h (150 MPa / 900 °C). Iso-concentration surface inset of both (a) and (b) highlights the γ - γ' interface in yellow (Co=52 at.%). Co (Co=64 at.%) and Cr (Cr = 4 at.%) enrichment within the γ -matrix are highlight by blue and magenta surfaces, respectively. The compressive stress was applied along the x-y direction and γ' -precipitate is rafting along the y-direction.

The concentration profile of the crept 2Cr alloy analyzed across both the narrowing transverse γ -channel and the opened horizontal γ -channel is shown in Figure 4.7. The sampling volume for the profile is shown in Figure 4.6(b). The transverse γ -channel corresponds to the region of γ -matrix between two coalescing γ' -precipitates while the horizontal γ -channel refers to a volume of γ -matrix parallel to the rafting direction. The crept 2Cr alloy exhibits a discernible Co enrichment in the narrow transverse γ -channel while the horizontal γ -channel has a composition comparable to the as-aged γ -phase at Co = 60.2 at.% (see Table 4.2 for phase composition in both as-aged and post-creep 2Cr alloy). In contrast, the concentrations of Ni and Al are less in the transverse channel and again return to their as-aged values in the horizontal channel. The observed local concentration enrichment in the crept 2Cr alloy may be attributed to a stress/raftinginduced compositional redistribution. For rafting to occur during creep, γ' -formers and γ -stabilizers must diffuse towards the transverse and horizontal γ - γ' interfaces, respectively [10, 11, 12]. The Co- and Cr-enrichment within the γ -matrix and adjacent to the γ - γ' interfaces are thus a result of the corresponding cross fluxes between alloy constituents. Kontis et al. [13] utilized APT to confirm that γ -matrix interfacial dislocation network in Ni-based superalloys is enriched in Co and Cr after creep, suggesting that γ stabilizers migrate from interface to interface via dislocation-assisted pipe diffusion. The concentration of Cr and W do not vary significantly across the two analyzed γ -channels, likely because both Cr and W exhibit a diffusivity one to two orders of magnitude or more lower compared to Co, Ni and Al [149, 150, 151].

Alternatively, the enrichment in γ -stabilizers in the γ -channel adjacent to the γ - γ' interfaces may be attributed to supersaturation of the γ -phase during cooling from creep.



Figure 4.7. Compositional profile of Co, Ni, Al, Cr and W in the crept 2Cr alloy, across both the transverse and horizontal γ -channel, in a n-type rafted microstructure. Compositional gradients exist for Co, Ni and Al across the γ -channels while Cr and W concentrations remain unchanged.

Studies on Ni-based superalloys have demonstrated that composition variations within the γ -matrix occur during γ' growth from a slower cooling rate [152, 153]. While both the as-aged and crept specimens are water-quenched, the cooling rate for the crept specimen is slower due to the additional time needed to be removed from the creep fixture. Table 4.2 shows that after creep, with the exception of W, the average concentration of γ -stabilizers in γ -phase exhibits a modest increase compared to the as-aged alloy. Conversely, the

concentration of γ' -formers decreases within the γ -phase. The supersaturation of Co and Cr in the γ -matrix occur during γ' -precipitate growth while cooling from the creep temperature. As the precipitates grow, γ' -formers are consumed, leaving a matrix enriched in γ -stabilizers and depleted in γ' -formers. The change in composition is also reflected in the as-aged and post-creep partition coefficients listed in Table 4.2. In contrast to other γ' -formers, W exhibit a decreased partition coefficient. This is likely due to W being a slower diffusing element, but W inhomogeneity within the bulk alloy cannot be excluded. The APT reconstruction, proximity histogram, phase composition of all D-xCr alloys under as-aged condition are shown in Supplemental Figure 4.13, 4.14, and Supplemental Table 4.4.

	Co	Ni	Al	W	В	Cr	
As-aged							
γ	60.2	26.4	7.1	3.6	0.004	2.7	
γ'	45.3	33.8	13.4	6.2	0.01	1.2	
$\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.75	1.28	1.89	1.73	4.11	0.45	
post-creep							
γ	60.7	25.9	6.8	3.8	0.007	2.9	
γ'	44.3	34.4	14.2	5.8	0.02	1.3	
$\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.73	1.33	2.1	1.55	2.52	0.45	

Table 4.2. APT measured composition (at.%) of γ -, γ' -phase and $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$ partitioning coefficient in the as-aged and post-creep 2Cr alloy.

Figure 4.8 shows the APT reconstruction of the as-aged and crept 6Cr alloy for which no rafting was observed, unlike the post-creep 2Cr alloy. While the smaller nanotip volume of the as-aged 6Cr alloy shown in Figure 4.8(a) does not capture the spherical morphology of its γ' -precipitates, the post-creep 6Cr alloy (Figure 4.8(b)) displays a spherical γ' morphology with no distinct crystallographic facet. This further confirms the lack of rafting from the lower misfit 6Cr alloy. A iso-concentration threshold (Co=61% and Cr=11%) shows that, unlike the rafted 2Cr alloy, the unrafted 6Cr alloy does not exhibit a measurable enrichment in γ -stabilizers within the γ -matrix, indicating that lack of γ' -rafting yield a more compositionally homogeneous γ -phase.



Figure 4.8. Atom-probe tomographic reconstruction of the 6Cr alloy in (a) as-aged condition and b) after compressive creep for 50 h (150 MPa / 900 °C). Iso-concentration surface inset of both (a) and (b) highlights the γ - γ' interface in yellow (Co=49 at.%). Iso-concentration threshold of γ -stabilizers at Co=61 at.% and Cr = 11 at.% reveal no local solute enrichment in these nanotips. The compressive stress was applied along the z direction in the crept specimen.

The homogeneity of the γ -matrix in the crept 6Cr alloy is further illustrated in Figure 4.9, where the concentration of a volume containing both a transverse and a horizontal γ -channel is analyzed. The assessed volume is shown in Figure 4.8(b). In contrast to the rafted 2Cr alloy, the unrafted 6Cr alloy exhibits no apparent compositional variation across different γ -channels. Co, Ni and Al, which previously showed inhomogeneous distributions in the rafted 2Cr alloy (Figure 4.7), all exhibit a uniform concentration in

Figure 4.9. These results provide further evidence that the local enrichment in γ -stabilizers in the rafted 2Cr specimen arise from rafting-induced compositional re-distribution.



Figure 4.9. Compositional profile of constituent elements of crept 6Cr alloy across both the transverse and horizontal γ -channel shown in Figure 4.8. No significant inhomogeneity is observed across the γ -channels.

Table 4.3 shows the APT measured γ - and γ' -phase composition in the 6Cr alloy before and after creep. Although there are no discernible segregations of γ -stabilizers observed via both iso-concentration thresholding (Figure 4.8) and concentration profile (Figure 4.9), the overall composition of the γ -phase, like the crept 2Cr alloy, still shows a slight increase in γ -stabilizers and a decrease in γ' -formers after creep. Here, we attribute the change in the overall composition of the γ -phase in crept 6Cr alloy to supersaturation. While cooling from the creep temperature, both the 2Cr and 6Cr alloy exhibit γ' growth and possibly nucleation of secondary γ' -precipitates. The growth of the γ' phase leads to saturation of γ -stabilizers within the γ -matrix as shown previously in the 2Cr (Table 4.2) and here for the 6Cr alloy (Table 4.3). While both crept 2Cr and 6Cr alloys exhibit a higher overall concentration of γ -stabilizers in the γ -phase, only the rafted 2Cr alloy displays distinct local enrichment in Co and Cr, measurable through iso-concentration thresholding and concentration profiles across γ -channels (Figure 4.6 and 4.7). This is strong indication in favor of the hypothesis that the compositional redistribution via γ' -rafting is responsible for the local enrichment observed in the rafted 2Cr alloy, but the overall change in γ -matrix composition after creep is the result of supersaturation from a slower cooling rate. While no secondary γ' -precipitates are observed in the nanotips, the supersaturation suggests that secondary γ' -precipitates are likely present, but not detected through the iso-concentration surface. A more complex cluster analysis [154, 155, 156] may be necessary to resolve secondary γ' -nuclei.

Table 4.3. APT measured	l composition (at	5.%) of γ and γ'	phases and $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$
partitioning coefficient fo	the as-aged and	l post-creep 6C	r alloy.

	Co	Ni	Al	W	В	Cr	
As-aged							
γ	55.3	26.0	6.6	4.1	0.005	7.9	
γ'	42.2	35.2	13.2	6.2	0.01	3.2	
$\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.76	1.35	1.99	1.50	2.61	0.40	
post-creep							
γ	55.7	25.7	6.4	4.1	0.004	8.1	
γ'	42.0	35.0	13.5	6.3	0.02	3.2	
$\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.75	1.36	2.12	1.54	3.97	0.40	

4.3.4. Rafting Mechanisms

The mass transport mechanisms which results in γ' -rafting are often subject to debate, as numerous hypotheses and studies suggest different diffusional processes [10, 11, 12, 13]. Previous studies have established that a cross-flux of γ -stabilizers and γ' -formers must occur in order for rafting to proceed. In addition, the rate of diffusional cross flux is higher than those during classical Ostwald ripening since rafting-related coarsening occur at a higher rate [142, 157, 158]. Here, APT measured compositional variation in the γ -matrix provide understanding to the diffusion mechanism during rafting. The proposed mechanism is illustrated in Figure 4.10.

Under compressive stress, Co-based superalloys with positive $\gamma' - \gamma$ misfit raft perpendicular to the applied stress axis, forming n-type rafts. For rafting to occur, γ' -formers must diffuse to the transverse interfaces for directional coarsening of the γ' -precipitates. Since no segregation of γ' -formers is observed in either the horizontal or the transverse γ -channels, the current study suggests that diffusion of γ' -formers likely occur along the $\gamma - \gamma'$ interfaces as shown in Figure 4.10(a). Neutron diffraction measurements have shown that lattice misfit is relaxed via dislocation pile-up and loss of coherency along the γ - γ' interfaces during creep of Co-based superalloys [159]. Therefore, $\gamma - \gamma'$ interfaces may serve as short-circuit diffusion pathways for the accelerated diffusion of γ' -formers from one interface to another. As the γ' -precipitates coarsen directionally into the transverse channels, γ -stabilizers are rejected into the γ -channels, resulting in local enrichment of γ stabilizers near the interface. Enrichment of γ -stabilizers in the vicinity of $\gamma - \gamma'$ interfaces corroborates with the Co and Cr enrichment near $\gamma - \gamma'$ interfaces observed in the rafted 2Cr alloy (see Figure 4.6(b)). Following the onset of γ' directional coarsening toward the transverse γ -channels, the horizontal γ - γ' interfaces are expected to recede to ensure a constant phase fraction of γ' . The reduction in thickness of γ' -precipitates during rafting has been shown in superalloys that have been extensively rafted [142]. The recession of the horizontal γ - γ' interfaces facilitates the diffusion of γ -stabilizers from the transverse channel toward the horizontal channels through the γ -matrix as shown in Figure 4.10(b), completing the diffusion crossflux circuit. The enrichment of γ -stabilizers in the narrowing transverse γ -channels is substantiated by the concentration comparison between the transverse and the horizontal γ -channels shown in Figure 4.7, where a significantly higher enrichment of Co is observed in the transverse γ -channel.

It is unclear from the current study if the diffusion of γ -stabilizers occurs via a dislocation network, since dislocations are not resolved within the γ -matrix in our APT analysis. In addition, a total accumulated creep strain of < 1% after 50 h of compressive creep at 150 MPa may not provide a sufficient dislocation density for formation of a matrix dislocation network [160, 161]. Theoretical studies suggests that rafting may occur both with and without dislocation-assisted diffusion [9, 162]. The rafting phenomenon and cross-flux of γ -stabilizers and γ' -formers persists even after γ' -coalescence as the rafts continue to lengthen (see Figure 4.10(c)).

4.4. Summary and Conclusions

Chromium, from 0 to 6 at.%, was systematically added into a base alloy with composition of Co-30Ni-10Al-7W-0.1B, to study the effect of reduced lattice misfit on creep resistance and γ' -rafting. Microstructure investigation shows that, with an increased Cr



Figure 4.10. Schematic illustration of rafting mechanism [10, 11, 12, 13] in a compressively crept positive-misfit superalloy. (a) Under applied load, γ' forming elements (*i.e.*, Ni, Al and W) diffuses from horizontal to transverse interfaces. Directionally coarsened γ' exudes γ -stabilizers into transverse γ channel. (b) Local enrichment of γ -stabilizers coupled with a receding horizontal γ - γ' interfaces lead to cross-flux of γ -stabilizers toward the horizontal channels. (c) γ' -precipitates coalesce forming a rafted microstructure.

concentration, γ' -morphology transitions from cuboidal to spherical upon aging, indicating a decreased lattice parameter misfit. Moreover, the degree of rafting under compressive stress also decreases with increasing Cr content: the 0 at.% Cr alloy is heavily rafted, while the 6 at.% Cr alloy exhibit no sign of rafting after compressive creep for 50 h at 150 MPa / 900 °C. The compressive creep strain rate of the alloys is observed to progressively increase with Cr additions, possibly due to a reduced lattice misfit and absence of strengthening from γ' -rafting. APT was used to compare the compositional distribution in an as-aged and post-creep alloy. Analysis show that, in a rafted alloy, local enrichment of γ -stabilizers (Co and Cr) is observed both in the vicinity of γ - γ' interfaces and the narrow γ -channel in between two coalescing γ' -precipitates. In contrast, no measurable γ -stabilizers are observed in alloy that is unrafted after creep. These observations, combining microstructural characterization and APT analyses, can be explained via a diffusional cross-flux mechanism occurring during γ' -rafting. At the on-set of n-type rafting that occur during compressive creep of Co-based superalloy, γ' -formers (Ni, Al, W) diffuse via the γ - γ' interface toward the transverse γ - γ' interfaces parallel to the applied stress. This leads to directional coarsening of γ' -precipitates toward the transverse γ -channels at the expense of receding horizontal interfaces. The directional coarsening of γ' -precipitates leads to local enrichment of γ -stabilizers in the transverse γ -channels, which facilitates diffusion of γ -stabilizers toward the horizontal γ -channels, completing the cross-flux of γ' -formers and γ -stabilizers. The γ' -precipitates continue to coalesce under stress, forming the long γ' -rafts observed after creep in this (and other) Co-based superalloys.

Supplemental Information



Figure 4.11. Illustration of focus-ion beam lift out of a rafted region in postcreep D-2Cr. (a) Microstructure of a rafted region. (b) Pt deposition was applied onto the region to prevent ion-beam damage during life-out. (c) Lift-out of the region of interest. (d) Specimen is mounted onto Si pillar, (e) sharpen via ion milling for atom-probe experiment. (f) Final tip shape with a tip radius of ≈ 20 nm.



Figure 4.12. Microstructure of boride decorated grain boundaries of (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr and (d) 6Cr after boride precipitation heat treatment at 1050 $^{\circ}$ C for 12 h.



Figure 4.13. Atom-probe tomographic reconstruction and proximity histogram of D-xCr after heat treatment at 900 °C for 168 h; (a) 0Cr, (b) 2Cr, (c) 4Cr and (d) 6Cr.



Figure 4.14. Plot of elemental partitioning coefficient, $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$, of D-xCr. The uncertainty of B partitioning coefficient is not plotted due to its miniscule concentration.

Alloy	Со	Ni	Al	W	В	Cr
D-0Cr						
γ	62.0	26.8	7.4	3.8	0.002	-
γ'	47.2	33.6	13.4	5.8	0.01	-
$\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.76	1.25	1.80	1.52	5.71	-
D-2Cr						
γ	60.2	26.4	7.1	3.6	0.004	2.7
γ'	45.3	33.8	13.4	6.2	0.01	1.2
$\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.75	1.28	1.89	1.73	4.11	0.45
D-4Cr						
γ	57.9	26.6	6.6	3.6	0.003	3.6
γ'	43.8	35.0	13.2	5.8	0.01	2.2
$\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.76	1.32	2.01	1.61	3.36	0.62
D-6Cr						
γ	55.3	26.0	6.6	4.1	0.005	7.9
γ'	42.2	35.2	13.2	6.2	0.01	3.2
$\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$	0.76	1.35	1.99	1.50	2.61	0.40

Table 4.4. APT measured tip composition (at.%) of γ -and γ' -phases, $\kappa_{\gamma'/\gamma}$ partitioning coefficient of each of the D-xCr alloy under 900 °C / 168 h as-aged condition.

CHAPTER 5

Influence γ' -Raft Orientation on Creep Resistance of Monocrystalline Cobalt-Based Superalloys

The creep behavior of a monocrystalline Co-based γ - γ' superalloy (Co-28.8Ni-6.2Al-1.8Ti-2.0W-2.7Mo-1.8Nb-0.9Ta, at.%) is investigated for two types of rafted γ' -phase: (i) rods parallel (p-type) to [001] and (ii) plates perpendicular (n-type) to [001], created by subjecting specimens to tensile or compressive stresses, respectively, at 900-940 °C along [001]. The tensile creep behavior of these two rafted microstructures (and a control unrafted microstructure) is measured at 900 °C for various creep stresses, again along [001], up to a creep strain of 3%. At the highest stress of 305 MPa (2-4 h creep to 3%) strain), microstructures with n-type γ' -rafts provide better creep resistance than p-type γ' -rafts and unrafted γ' -cuboids, consistent with n-type γ' -plates oriented perpendicular to stress being more effective at hindering dislocation motion in the γ -matrix compared to γ' -cuboids (unrafted) and γ' -rod (p-type rafted) morphologies. At an intermediate stress of 250 MPa (10-20 h to 3% creep strain), n-type rafts still provide the highest overall creep resistance, but this effect is less pronounced due to the rafts disintegrating under tensile load under prolonged creep duration. Specimens with initially unrafted γ' -cuboids show a creep resistance comparable to the p-type rafts after the cuboids directionally coarsen into p-type rafts. At the lowest stress of 205 MPa (100-220 h to 3% creep strain),

n-type rafts provide the least creep resistance, as they first disintegrate and then transform into p-type rafts. Specimens starting with p-type γ' -rods and unrafted γ' -cuboids microstructures show better creep resistance, but start to exhibit onset of tertiary creep from their extensively rafted microstructure. The evolution of creep strain rate (and thus the time to reach 3% strain) for the three stresses and three microstructures studied is affected by the rafting evolution, as well as γ - γ' topological inversion and development of inhomogeneous γ' spatial distribution.

5.1. Introduction

Cobalt-based superalloys strengthened by ordered L1₂-ordered γ' -precipitates (with typical composition Co₃(Al,W)) have been extensively studied in the past decade, as they exhibit an outstanding combination of deformation-, coarsening-, oxidation-, and corrosion-resistance that may exceed those of Ni-based superalloys [1, 16, 29, 59, 101, 129, 163]. In particular, the creep resistance of the Ni- and Co-based superalloys is crucial for efficient jet engines and gas turbines due to the high temperatures and stresses experienced by the turbine materials under operation [128]. One important distinction between Ni- and Co-based superalloys is their lattice parameter misfit, $\delta = 2(a_{\gamma'} - a_{\gamma})/(a_{\gamma'} + a_{\gamma})$, where $a_{\gamma'}$ and a_{γ} are the lattice parameters of the γ' -precipitates and the γ matrix, respectively. Co-based superalloys mostly exhibit a positive misfit $(a_{\gamma'} > a_{\gamma})$ [2, 26, 37, 38, 54], while their Ni-based counterparts typically have a negative misfit $(a_{\gamma'} < a_{\gamma})$ [18]. The sign of the lattice parameter misfit strongly affects γ' -precipitate rafting behavior, a stressinduced directional coarsening phenomenon that occurs during creep of precipitationstrengthened materials with a coherent or semi-coherent misfit [164]. Specifically, in positive-misfit systems such as Co-based superalloys, γ' coarsens and coalesces into rafts that are elongated along the stress axis during tensile creep (p-type raft) and perpendicular to the stress axis during compressive creep (n-type raft). In negative-misfit alloys such as Ni-based superalloys, the rafting direction is reversed, with γ' rafts having their long axis perpendicular to the stress axis after tensile creep (n-type raft) and parallel to the stress axis after compressive creep (p-type raft). The difference in rafting directionality amounts to differing microstructural evolution between the Co- and Ni-based superalloys, which impacts the creep performance before, during, and after the rafted microstructure has developed.

Previous works have studied the effect of rafting on creep resistance in Ni-based superalloys, and have engineered rafted microstructures to improve creep properties. Specimens with n-type rafts are more creep resistant (*i.e.*, they show a lower minimum tensile creep strain rate), especially under high-temperature, low-stress conditions. Reed *et al.* [148] attribute this effect to a reduction in the number of vertical γ -channels, which hinders the glide and climb of dislocations. However, the creep strain rate was found to increase rapidly after extensive rafting rendered the overall microstructure inhomogeneous. Tetzlaff and Mughrabi [14, 165] sought to enhance the tensile creep strength in a monocrystalline Ni-based superalloy by first inducing p-type rafts in compression. They observed that these p-type "pre-rafts", with their axis aligned with the subsequent creep tensile stress, offered significant short-term strengthening in tensile creep; however, a deterioration of creep resistance occurred at longer times, as the p-type rafts evolved into an irregular γ' -microstructure. For Co-based superalloys, the effect of rafting on creep properties of Co-based superalloys has not been studied as extensively as in their Ni counterparts. Xue *et al.* [93] showed that a monocrystalline Co-based superalloy strain-hardens as n-type γ' -rafts are created under compressive creep. Lu *et al.* [147] and Titus *et al.* [108] found interfacial dislocation interactions and p-type rafting to be responsible for strengthening observed during tensile creep of a Co-based superalloy. Coakley *et al.* [91, 159] used *in-situ* neutron diffraction to study the lattice parameter evolution of γ - and γ' -phases during tensile creep rafting, the concommitant loss of coherency, and its potential to degrade creep resistance. Existing studies focus on γ' -rafts that form *in-situ* during testing, with the raft orientation given by the applied stress direction, *i.e.*, p-type for tensile or n-type for compressive deformation. However, there are currently no studies in Co-based superalloys on how pre-rafting - achieved through deformation in one direction (*e.g.*, in compression) influences subsequent creep resistance with stress applied in the opposite direction (*e.g.*, tension).

In this paper, the effects of pre-existing γ' -rafts upon the subsequent tensile creep resistance is studied in a monocrystalline Co-based superalloy. Three initial γ' -microstructures are created: p-type rafted, n-type rafted, and unrafted. Tensile creep tests are then performed at three stresses, on specimens with each of these microstructures to study the evolution of their γ' -morphology and the corresponding creep resistance.

5.2. Experimental Methods

We use here Co-based superalloy monocrystalline bars with a composition of Co-27.3Ni-2.7Al-1.4Ti-5.8W-4.2Mo-2.8Nb-2.8Ta wt.% (Co-28.8Ni-6.2Al-1.8Ti-2.0W-2.7Mo-1.8Nb-0.9Ta at.%) (labelled as L19C), which were directionally casted by the Alcoa-Howmet Research Center, and previously studied by us [**91**, **159**]. Electron backscatter diffraction of selected bars shows that the mis-orientations between the [001] direction and the length of the bar are within 2°. A previous study via neutron diffraction measured the lattice parameter misfit of L19C to be between 0.52 and 0.45% [**91**]. The bars (length: 200 mm; diameter: 15 mm) were homogenized at 1250 °C for 24 h, furnace-cooled to 900 °C to age at that temperature for another 24 h in a flowing Ar atmosphere, and then furnace-cooled to room temperature.

Each specimen was subjected to a two-step creep test. First, a pre-rafted microstructure was created by subjecting dog-bone-shaped specimens to tensile stress or cylindrical specimens to compressive stress. The p-type rafted microstructure was developed during +150MPa tensile creep at 900 °C while the n-type microstructure was developed during -150MPa compressive creep at 940 °C, both lasting for 50 h. The different pre-rafting temperatures were used to account for tension/compression asymmetry in the rafting behavior, where tensile creep was shown to promote a greater degree of rafting [15]. The control specimens with the cuboidal microstructure were heat treated for the same duration of 50 h at 900 °C in air to ensure a comparable thermal history with the pre-rafted specimens. Following the pre-rafting step, each specimen was tensile-crept at 900 °C to 3% creep strain at 205, 250, or 305 MPa to study the effect of pre-rafted γ' -morphology on creep resistance. During all creep tests, specimen displacement was measured using a linear variable displacement transducer with a resolution of 10 μ m and temperature was measured using a K-type thermocouple with an accuracy of ± 2 °C. After reaching a 3% creep strain limit, all specimens were air-cooled under load to prevent further microstructural evolution.

For p-type pre-rafted and cuboidal specimens, the aged bars were machined into tensile dogbone specimens with a cylindrical gauge length of 30 mm and gauge diameter of 5 mm. For n-preraft specimens, the aged bars were first machined into cylindrical rods with 10 mm diameter and 30 mm height. After the compressive pre-rafting, these compressed cylindrical rods were further machined into tensile dogbone specimens with a gauge diameter of 3 mm and gauge length of 12 mm. All specimens were machined such that the applied uniaxial stress was parallel to the [001] crystallographic direction.

A Hitachi SU8030 scanning electron microscope (SEM) equipped with a cold-fieldemission source was used for microstructural characterization, under operating conditions of 25 kV, 10 μ A and a 15 mm working distance. Samples were etched using Carapella's reagent (5 g FeCl₃, 2 mL HCl, 100 mL methanol) for 5 s to reveal the γ - γ' microstructure.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Pre-rafting in tensile/compressive creep

Figure 5.1 shows the creep behavior of the monocrystalline Co-based superalloy, L19C, during tensile and compressive deformation at 150 MPa to form p-type and n-type rafts. As shown in Figure 5.1(a), the total accumulated creep strain during the 50 h creep experiments is much higher during compressive creep as compared to tensile creep (1.7 vs. 0.4%, respectively), consistent with the higher compressive creep temperature (940 vs. 900 °C). The creep strain rate evolution in Figure 5.1(b) shows that both tensile and compressive creep curves exhibit a transient maximum in creep strain rate at ≈ 18 h, a phenomenon referred to as double-minimum creep observed in both Ni- and Co-based superalloy single crystals, which has been shown to occur concurrently with the onset of rafting [93, 166]. Supplemental Figure 5.13 shows the 150 MPa tensile rupture test of an originally unrafted specimen, with a total accumulated creep strain of 9% and a rupture life of ≈ 800 h. The strain evolution of the other pre-rafting experiments to produce p-type rafted microstructure are plotted in Supplemental Figure 5.14, showing a degree of primary creep variability during tensile creep.

The corresponding pre-rafted microstructures, at the end of the 50 h deformation, are shown in Figure 5.2. The microstructure of the control specimen not subjected to externally applied stress is shown in Figure 5.2(a). This sample, labelled as "cuboid", exhibits γ' -precipitates which maintain their initial, post-aging cuboidal morphology. Figure 5.2(b) shows that the p-type specimen (labelled as "p-preraft") that was deformed under tension underwent directional coarsening where the as-aged γ' -cuboids coalesced into γ' -rods aligned parallel to the applied stress axis. The cubic cross-sections of these rods is seen in the (001) plane SEM cross section. Figure 5.2(c) shows the n-type alloy (labelled as "n-preraft") where the original γ' -cuboids coalesced in planes perpendicular to the applied stress axis, in both [100] and [010] directions, into γ' -rafts with plate-like morphology. The wavy γ - γ' interface in both p- and n-preraft samples is consistent with onset of coherency loss between the γ -matrix and γ' -precipitates. The cuboid edge lengths are measured at $0.21\pm0.06 \ \mu m$ with a volume fraction of $53\pm3\%$. The p-preraft γ' -rods have an average width of $0.17\pm0.04 \ \mu m$ and an average length of $2.75\pm1.01 \ \mu m$. The n-preraft γ' -platelets have an average width of $3.05\pm2.04 \ \mu\text{m}$ and an average height of $0.14\pm0.04 \ \mu\text{m}$. Although the variances in measurement are large, the trend shows that the cuboid sample has the largest edge length of $0.21 \ \mu\text{m}$ compared to rafted γ' -precipitates. This suggests that the γ' -phase becomes progressively thinner with rafting.



Figure 5.1. Pre-rafting experiments lasting 50 h, showing time dependence of (a) creep strain (absolute value) and (b) creep strain rate (absolute value) as a function of time for monocrystalline Co-based superalloys (L19C) under +150 MPa tensile stress at 900 °C (blue) and -150 MPa compressive stress at 940 °C (green).



Figure 5.2. Secondary electron micrographs of L19C after 50 h of prerafting creep (as shown in Figure 5.1). (a) Control specimen (not subjected to an applied stress during 50 h) showing (100) planes with cuboidal γ' precipitates, (b) rafted specimen showing p-type γ' -precipitates on (100) and (001) planes after +150 MPa tensile stress at 900 °C / 50 h, and (c) rafted specimen showing n-type γ' -precipitates on (100) and (001) planes after -150MPa compressive stress at 940 °C / 50 h.

5.3.2. Tensile creep at high stress (305 MPa)

The creep behavior of the cuboid, p-, and n-preraft alloys are shown in Figure 5.3 for the highest tensile stress of 305 MPa. At this high stress, creep experiments lasted from 1.5 to 4 h until the cutoff 3% creep strain was reached. Experiments for both types of pre-rafting were performed in duplicate to assess reproducibility of the creep results. The creep curves in Figure 5.3(a) show that the creep resistances of alloys with γ' -cuboids (cuboid) and γ' -rods (p-preraft) are nearly indistinguishable, with the three curves largely overlapping each other. By contrast, the alloy with γ' -plates (n-preraft) exhibits a significant increase in creep resistance, doubling the time needed to reach 3% creep strain. Figure 5.3(b) shows
that the n-preraft alloy's minimum strain rate is approximately an order of magnitude lower compared to the cuboid and p-preraft specimens. After the n-preraft alloy reaches its minimum strain rate at 0.5% strain, its strain rate increases gradually; by contrast, the cuboid and p-preraft specimens approach their minimum creep rates at the end of the experiment, for a strain of 3%. At this point, the n-preraft alloy displays a creep strain rate similar to those of the cuboid and p-preraft specimens ($\approx 4 \times 10^{-6} \text{ s}^{-1}$).

The post-creep microstructures are shown in Figure 5.4. For the cuboidal specimen (Figure 5.4(a)), after tensile creep for ≈ 2 h, the originally cuboidal γ' -precipitates maintain their mostly cuboidal morphology with occasional instances of p-type rafts, indicative of the onset of p-type rafting. The p-preraft specimens (Figure 5.4(b)) display a post-creep γ' -microstructure that is similar to the pre-rafted microstructure. Finally, the n-preraft specimens (Figure 5.4(c)) maintain their horizontally aligned n-type raft, but the $\gamma - \gamma'$ interface has become significantly rougher, indicating a further loss of coherency. In summary, for all three initial microstructures, the extent of γ' -morphology evolution is relatively modest after the short times (1.5-4 h) needed to achieve 3% strain under the highest tensile stress of 305 MPa.

5.3.3. Tensile creep at intermediate stress (250 MPa)

Figure 5.5 shows the tensile creep behavior at 250 MPa for the cuboid, p-preraft, and npreraft specimens. Under this intermediate stress, the creep experiments lasted between 10 and 20 h until the 3% cutoff strain was reached. The cuboid alloy exhibits the highest average strain rate and reaches 3% creep strain within 10 h. The cuboid also exhibits double-minimum creep (with a peak of creep strain rate after ≈ 4 h, Figure 5.5(a)), as



Figure 5.3. 305 MPa tensile creep at 900 °C of (a) creep strain and (b) creep strain rate for cuboid (red), p-prerafted (blue), and n-preraft (green) specimens. Two specimens of p-preraft and n-preraft were crept to ensure reproducibility.

also observed during the p- and n-preraft experiments (peak at ≈ 20 h, Figure 5.1). The differences in times (20 vs. 4 h) are expected from the different magnitude of applied stresses, 150 MPa during pre-rafting and 250 MPa during subsequent creep. In contrast to tensile creep at the higher stress of 305 MPa, the p-preraft sample deformed at 250 MPa shows a better creep resistance as compared to the cuboid sample. The n-preraft alloy, while exhibiting the lowest average creep strain rate at 250 MPa among the three types of microstructure, does not offer a creep enhancement as significant as under 305



Figure 5.4. Secondary electron micrographs of the (a) cuboid, (b) p-preraft, and (c) n-preraft microstructure after tensile creep at 305 MPa at 900 °C. All micrographs show the (100) plane that is parallel to the applied stress axis.

MPa tensile stress. Specifically, the n-preraft alloy exhibits two distinct creep regimes, highlighted by the averaged strain rate marked (i) and (ii) on the n-preraft creep curve in Figure 5. In regime (i), the creep resistance of the n-preraft alloy is significantly higher than for the cuboid and p-preraft specimens. However, in regime (ii), the creep strain rate of the n-preraft alloy increases gradually, and much like the case of the n-preraft alloy under 305 MPa after reaching a minimum strain rate, becomes comparable to those of the cuboid and p-preraft specimens toward the end of the experiment (*cf.* averaged strain rate (i) for both cuboid and p-preraft specimens in Figure 5.5).

Figure 5.6 shows the post-creep microstructure after 250 MPa creep. As expected, with the additional time given for the microstructure to evolve as compared to the 305 MPa condition, the initially cuboidal γ' -precipitates have rafted vertically along the applied tensile stress axis (Figure 5.6(a)). The p-preraft alloy continues to raft parallel to the applied tensile stress axis, as shown in Figure 5.6(b). The extent of p-type rafting is more significant as compared to the microstructure after 305 MPa creep. By contrast, the npreraft alloy undergoes a notable microstructural evolution during the 250 MPa creep, as shown in Figure 5.6(c). The initially horizontally aligned γ' -platelets have disintegrated into a near-isotropic γ' -morphology. These γ' -precipitates (Figure 5.6(c)) do not appear as cuboidal as those in the as-aged microstructure (Figure 5.2(a)), but rather exhibit an irregular morphology with rounded $\langle 110 \rangle$ and $\langle 111 \rangle$ corners.



Figure 5.5. 250 MPa tensile creep at 900 °C of (a) creep strain and (b) creep strain rate as a function of strain for cuboid (red), p-preraft (blue), and n-preraft (green) specimens. Dotted lines correspond to the average creep strain rate at different times during the creep experiment, highlighting the different creep behavior regimes after primary creep.



Figure 5.6. Secondary electron micrographs of the (a) cuboid, (b) p-preraft, and (c) n-preraft microstructures after tensile creep at 250 MPa. All micrographs show the (100) plane that is parallel to the applied stress axis.

5.3.4. Tensile creep at low stress (205 MPa)

Figure 5.7 highlights the creep response and the corresponding strain rate evolution for each of the three microstructures under 205 MPa creep. The lowest applied stress resulted in the longest time for each specimen to reach the 3% cutoff strain, between 100 and 220 h. No long-term steady-state creep is observed at this stress; rather, the strain rate increases shortly after reaching a minimum. In Figure 5.7, the average creep strain rate during the strain rate minimum is labeled with (i) for each of the cuboid, p-, and npreraft microstructure, while the strain rates towards the end of the creep experiments are labelled with (ii), highlighting two distinct creep regimes for each alloy. The n-preraft alloy exhibits an overall creep resistance worse (i.e., reaching 3% strain in half the time) than the cuboid and p-preraft specimens, unlike its superior creep performance at 305 and 250 MPa. While the n-preraft alloy shows a marginally lower primary creep strain rate as compared to the cuboid and p-preraft specimens, the minimum strain rate (i) is higher than the other two microstructures. The creep resistance of the n-preraft alloy also deteriorates rapidly thereafter (see (ii)). As a result, the n-preraft alloy took about 100 h to reach 3% creep strain, half the time needed for the cuboid and the p-preraft specimens. The latter two specimens show a comparable overall creep resistance, both taking ≈ 200 h to reach 3% creep strain. Unlike the double minimum creep seen in both 250 MPa and the pre-rafting specimens, the cuboid specimen does not exhibit double minimum creep at 205 MPa. This is likely due to the local maximum strain rate peak being hidden in the large primary creep. Once the cuboid and p-preraft specimens reach a similar minimum strain rate in regime (*i*), their strain rate increases gradually in a similar fashion. The strain rate in regime (*ii*) of the cuboid specimen is slightly lower than that of the p-preraft specimen, likely due to the lack of pre-rafting deformation in the cuboid sample delaying the onset of secondary creep.

Figure 5.8 shows the post-creep microstructure of the three different γ' -morphologies. For creep at 205 MPa, each specimen is allowed more time for its microstructure to evolve than in the two experiments at higher stresses. The initially cuboidal microstructure in the cuboid alloy has evolved to form extensive p-type rafts, as illustrated in Figure 5.8(a). In the p-preraft alloy, the rafted γ' -rods become thinner and a topological inversion, where γ is surrounded by γ' , is apparent in some regions (arrows) in Figure 5.8(b). The post-creep microstructure of the n-preraft alloy is shown in Figure 5.8(c). The initially horizontal γ' -platelets have reversed their rafting direction to form vertical rods parallel to the applied tensile load, *i.e.*, a p-type microstructure. However, these p-rafted γ' -rods resulting from tensile creep of n-type pre-rafted γ' -plates are less uniform than the p-type γ' -rods derived from a cuboidal γ' -morphology, as seen in Figure 5.8(a).



Figure 5.7. 205 MPa tensile creep at 900 °C of (a) creep strain and (b) creep strain rate for the cuboid (red), p-preraft (blue), and n-preraft (green) specimens. Dotted lines correspond to the average creep strain rate at different time during the creep experiment, highlighting the different creep behavior regimes after primary creep.

5.4. Discussion

5.4.1. Creation of γ' -rafts during pre-rafting creep

Figure 5.9 depicts the local stress state in a positive-misfit Co-based superalloy under different loading conditions. For a sample aged under stress-free conditions, the positive γ - γ' misfit results in coherency stresses between the γ' -particles and γ -channels. Specifically,



Figure 5.8. Secondary electron micrographs of the (a) cuboid, (b) p-preraft, and (c) n-preraft microstructures after tensile creep at 205 MPa. All micrographs show the (100) plane that is parallel to the applied stress axis.

the γ -channels along [001] are subjected to a tensile stress, whereas the γ' -precipitates are under a triaxial compressive stress [11, 99]. With an equivalent stress magnitude in each $\langle 100 \rangle$ crystallographic direction, the γ' -precipitates remain cuboidal as they coarsen, as shown in Figure 5.2(a) and 5.9(a) [167].

The characterization and formation mechanisms of p-type and n-type rafted microstructure have been studied extensively in negative-misfit Ni-based superalloys [11, 167, 168, 169, 170, 171]. However, due to the more recent development of Cobased superalloys, the rafting behavior of positive-misfit superalloys is less well studied [9, 92, 172]. In both cases, a rafted microstructure is generated from the asymmetric local coherent and plastic stresses produced by the applied external stress [164]. Figure 5.9(b) illustrates the local stress state under a tensile load for a positive-misfit Co-based superalloy. The vertical γ -channels (aligned along [001]) experience an increased tensile stress from the superimposed external stress while the horizontal γ -channels along [100] (and along [010] when seen in three dimensions) are subjected to a reduced tensile stress due to the Poisson effect. The γ' -precipitates are subjected to an increased and decreased compressive stress along the [001] and [100] direction, respectively. The difference in strain energy density between the two crystallographic directions results, upon coarsening, in the p-type rafts observed in Figure 5.2(b), where γ' -cuboids directionally coarsen into rods oriented parallel to the tensile stress axis to reduce interfacial strain energy density. The local stress state is reversed under applied compressive load (Figure 5.9(c)), where γ' -cuboids coalesce in the [100] and [010] directions to form horizontal n-type rafted platelets, as demonstrated in Figure 5.2(c).



Figure 5.9. Schematic illustration of local stress state on γ -matrix and γ' -precipitates in a positive-misfit superalloy during (a) stress-free, (b) tensile stress, and (c) compressive stress. Red arrows indicate a more tensile and blue arrows a more compressive stress state with respect to the stress-free condition.

5.4.2. γ' -microstructure evolution during tensile creep

The evolution of the γ' -microstructure contributes significantly to the creep resistance of each pre-rafting condition. Figure 5.10 schematically depicts the pre-rafted (inset a) and post-tensile creep microstructure (inset b-d) of the cuboid, p-, and n-preraft specimens at three different stresses, 305, 250 and 205 MPa. Shown in Figures 5.4 and 5.10(b), the morphology of the γ' -phase after 305 MPa creep remains very similar to its pre-rafted microstructure. This is primarily due to the short creep time under the high stress condition, where the creep tests were terminated in less than 4 h for all specimens. Since microstructural evolution is diffusion dependent, the short creep time does not allow for significant microstructural change to occur.

After tensile creep at 250 MPa, which took between 12 and 20 h, additional time is given for the microstructure to evolve (Figures 5.6 and 5.10(c)). The initially cuboidal γ' in the cuboid specimen has begun to form p-type rafts. The p-preraft alloy remains largely the same before and after 250 MPa creep, suggesting that the coarsening kinetics, while rapid at the onset of rafting, slow down after γ' -precipitates coalesce [157].

Out of the three microstructures, the n-preraft alloy evolves the most substantially after 250 MPa tensile creep. The initial n-type rafted γ' -platelets are observed to disintegrate into smaller γ' -particles as shown in Figure 5.6(c). Based on the irregular morphology of γ' , the γ - γ' interface is likely semi-coherent or incoherent from the accumulation of interfacial dislocations. With a loss of coherency, the γ' -precipitates are also irregularly arranged as opposed to aligning along $\langle 100 \rangle$ when γ' -precipitates are cuboidal. After the disintegration of n-type rafts, the γ' -precipitates continue to evolve toward a p-type raft microstructure. This is evident from the numerous γ' -particles coarsened and coalesced along [001]. Similar γ' morphological evolution has been reported in Ni-based superalloys. Yu *et al.* [173] proposed that the change in strain energy density between the vertical and horizontal interfaces induces local concentration inhomogeneity which ultimately decomposes the pre-rafted γ' before promoting rafting according to the direction of applied stress. The decomposition mechanism of the n-type rafted γ' likely occurs from the defect-assisted nucleation of γ -phase at the γ - γ' interface. Lenz *et al.* [15] shows that intruding γ -kinks bounded by microtwin and stacking faults form at the γ - γ' interface of a monocrystalline Co-based superalloy compressively crept to 5% creep strain. The defects are observed to be enriched with γ -forming elements such as Co and Cr while depleted with γ' formers, Ni and W. Similar defect-assisted phase transformation has been observed in Ni-based superalloys [134, 174, 175].

The micrographs and schematic depicting the γ' -morphologies after 205 MPa tensile creep are shown in Figure 5.8 and 5.10(d). The lowest applied stress results in the longest creep time, between 100 and 200 h. The cuboid alloy shows an extensive p-type rafted microstructure after creep. The γ' -rafts of the p-preraft alloy have become comparably narrower in width compared to the initial p-type raft [**176**, **177**]. In addition, topological inversion between γ and γ' , where significant coarsening of γ' results in engulfing of γ phase, are seen throughout the microstructure. This inversion between the matrix and the precipitate phases are frequently observed in Ni-based superalloys after extended periods of creep and are frequently associated with creep performance degradation [**157**, **178**]. Moreover, the combination of the narrowing γ' -raft and topological inversion render the γ' spatial distribution less homogeneous.

As expected from the disintegration of the horizontally-rafted γ' in the n-preraft alloy observed for 250 MPa creep (Figure 5.6), the post-creep microstructure after 205 MPa tensile creep shows further morphological evolution. The micrograph highlighted in Figure 5.8(c) and schematically illustrated in Figure 5.10(d) show that the initially n-type horizontal γ' -platelets, after 100h of tensile creep, have completely reversed their rafting direction by forming p-type raft. Since the coherency stress between the γ - and γ' -phase is the primary driving force for rafting to occur [99, 146], this reversed rafting suggests that the γ - γ' interface did not completely lose coherency after the n-type rafts were disintegrated. Thus, it is likely that the interface remains as semi-coherent even after interfacial dislocation build up from creep deformation [12, 13, 55, 179]. The irregular γ' -morphology after n-type rafts transition to p-type rafts, however, forms a highly inhomogeneous microstructure with varying γ' -precipitate spacing, width and length.



Figure 5.10. Microstructure and creep deformation mechanism for the cuboid, p- and n-preraft specimens after (a) pre-rafting, (b) 305 MPa, (c) 250 MPa and (d) 205 MPa tensile creep. The gray shades correspond to the primary deformation γ -volume during tensile creep.

5.4.3. Influence of γ' -microstructure on creep properties

Figures 5.3, 5.5 and 5.7 demonstrate that creep resistance differs significantly depending on γ' -microstructure. While illustrating the γ' -microstructural evolution from cuboids to rafts, Figure 5.10 also depicts the dislocation-creep deformation mechanisms of each cuboid, p-, and n-preraft specimens at different stresses.

As shown previously in Figure 5.9(b), due to the tensile coherency stress from the positive misfit Co-based superalloys, tensile creep deformation occurs primarily via the vertical [001] γ -channels parallel to the applied stress [94, 180]. In contrast, the horizontal [100] γ -channels perpendicular to the applied stress experience a lower magnitude of tensile stress. The asymmetry in local stress between the parallel and perpendicular γ -channels leads to dislocation glide occurring largely within the vertical channels during early stages of creep, which is likely responsible for most of the 3% creep strain accumulated in this study. The volume of γ -matrix allowing for dislocation glide is shaded in gray in Figure 5.10.

Under the high stress condition, *i.e.*, 305 MPa, as depicted in Figure 5.10(b), since the microstructures of the cuboid and p-preraft specimen were not given sufficient time to evolve, the dislocation glide is concentrated largely in the vertical γ -channels. Therefore, while the cuboid and the p-preraft specimens exhibit a different γ' -morphology, the similar orientation of the primary deforming γ -channel results in a similar creep response (see Figure 5.3). On the other hand, the n-preraft microstructure is devoid of vertical γ -channels, effectively trapping matrix dislocations between the horizontal γ' platelets. Since the intermetallic γ' has a higher strength compared to the disordered FCC γ -matrix [181, 182], the creep strain rate of the n-preraft alloy is smaller than the cuboid and p-preraft specimen, as observed experimentally.

The deformation mechanism under the intermediate stress condition, *i.e.*, 250 MPa, is illustrated in Figure 5.10(c). The primary source of creep deformation in the cuboid specimen originates from the large primary creep and the local strain rate maximum occurring in conjunction with rafting [93]. After the local strain rate maximum, the cuboid and ppreraft specimens exhibit a comparable strain rate as shown by their averaged strain rate (i) in Figure 5.5. This is likely due to the similar orientation and width of the deforming vertical γ -channels. The n-preraft alloy, however, shows a more distinct macroscopic creep behavior. The initial horizontal γ' -platelets effectively immobilize dislocations within the horizontal γ -channels as shown by the lower initial strain rate (i) in Figure 5.5. However, as the n-type rafted γ' -platelets disintegrate under tensile stress, the creep strain rate increases gradually as γ' evolves into p-type rafts. The increased strain rate in the n-preraft alloy (regime (ii) in Figure 5.5) thus likely arises from the vertical γ -channels that begin to percolate for dislocation glide once the horizontal γ' -platelets disintegrated. The connected vertical γ -channels provide an easier glide path for dislocation, leading to an increased strain rate.

Figure 5.10(d) shows the creep deformation mechanisms under the low stress condition, *i.e.*, 205 MPa. After the initial cuboidal γ' coalesces to form p-type rafts, the cuboid and p-preraft specimens exhibit very similar microstructures. From Figure 5.7, these specimens follow a similar strain rate evolution, reaching comparable minimum strain rates in regime (*i*) with the strain rate increasing thereafter. The cuboid alloy has a larger primary creep and the minimum strain rate occurs later, since it did not undergo pre-rafting. The similar strain rate trajectory indicates a similar deformation mechanism between the cuboid and p-preraft specimens. Previous creep mechanistic studies on Ni-based superalloys suggest that rafting in accordance with the applied tensile or compressive stress is effective in slowing dislocation glide within γ -channels by promoting dislocation climb [10, 148]. However, as the rafts continue to evolve, generating a topologically-inverted and inhomogeneously-distributed γ' microstructure, the creep resistance is expected to decrease [178, 183]. The onset of increased strain rate (regime (*ii*)) seen in the cuboid and p-preraft specimens shown in Figure 5.8(b) likely corresponds to the emergence of the irregular γ' -microstructure from extensive rafting.

For low-stress creep, the creep resistance of the n-preraft alloy is significantly worse than those of the cuboid and p-preraft specimens (Figure 5.8). The lower strain rate during primary creep is likely the consequence of horizontal γ' -platelets being more effective at inhibiting dislocation motion. After the primary creep, a short steady-state creep regime (*i*) likely corresponds to disintegration of horizontal γ' -platelets. Thereafter, as the n-type rafted microstructure evolves towards a p-type rafted structure, the strain rate increases rapidly in regime (*ii*), which may be attributed to various microstructure-dependent dislocation motion. First, as the horizontal γ' -platelets disintegrate and raft along the stress axis, the initially separated vertical γ -channels become connected, allowing dislocations to glide over long distances throughout the γ -matrix. Second, the p-type rafts evolved from n-type rafts exhibit a more irregular morphology and a less homogeneous spatial distribution than the p-type rafts coalesced from cuboidal γ' . This inhomogeneity may further promote local stress concentration, dislocation glide and shearing of γ' [55, 178, 183]. Third, since rafting is a diffusion-driven coarsening process, the associated n-type to ptype diffusional flux may contribute to dislocation climb at the γ - γ' interface, further accelerating the creep deformation.

The overall creep behavior of the pre-rafted monocrystalline L19C study herein has numerous similarities to the pre-rafted Ni-based superalloys (SRR99) studied by Tetzlaff and Mughrabi [14] (Supplemental Figure 5.15 shows the creep behaviors of SRR99 at different stresses and the corresponding microstructure). In both studies, it was found that the pre-rafted microstructure formed via compression (n-type in Co-based and p-type in Ni-based superalloy) offers a temporarily improved creep resistance under tensile creep. The enhanced creep resistance is particularly apparent under high stress conditions due to the shorter creep duration for microstructural evolution. This improvement becomes progressively attenuated for samples crept at a lower stress (and hence a longer duration) since the rafts formed via compression are not stable under tension. While the rafting directions are reversed between the positive misfit Co-based superalloys and the negative misfit Ni-based superalloys, the underlying strengthening and weakening mechanisms from pre-rafted microstructure are analogous.

5.4.4. Minimum strain rate comparison

Figure 5.11 shows, for monocrystalline L19C, the influence of pre-rafting on the minimum strain rate, as determined from Figures 5.3, 5.5 and 5.7. It is apparent that the cuboid and p-preraft specimens have near identical minimum strain rates at 205, 250 and 305 MPa. This further illustrates that the p-type γ' rafted microstructure deforms via the same mechanism and has a similar microstructural evolution pathway when compared

to the cuboidal γ' microstructure. On the other hand, the n-preraft alloy exhibits a lower minimum strain rate under high stress and a higher minimum strain rate under low stress. In all the investigated microstructures, especially the n-preraft alloy, the continuous microstructural evolution entails significant influence on the measured strain rate, evident from L19C's deviation from the power law creep. While the Mukherjee-Bird-Dorn power-law equation: $\dot{\epsilon} = A\sigma^n \exp(-Q/RT)$ governs the creep behavior assuming a non-evolving microstructure, microstructure of γ' -strengthened superalloys with a nonzero misfit continuously evolves during creep, rendering a less effective minimum strain rate prediction.

Due to the lack of pre-rafted creep results of Ni-based superalloys at 900 °C, comparison is made with a Ni superalloy SRR99 crept at 1000 °C [14] (with a γ' -volume fraction of 72%, significantly higher than the 53% value of L19C). Supplemental Figure 5.15 shows the creep behavior and microstructure of SRR99 at different stresses. Similar to L19C, the compressive pre-rafting treatment leading to p-type rafts in SRR99 (but n-type rafts in L19C) enhances the tensile creep resistance, as evidenced by the lower minimum strain rates in p-prerafted SRR99 as compared to SRR99 with cuboidal γ' -precipitates (Figure 4.2). However, in SRR99, the improvement in creep resistance is present across all tested stresses from 150 to 300 MPa, while the n-preraft improvement in L19C is only apparent under intermediate and high stresses (250 and 305 MPa).

5.4.5. Overall creep resistance comparison

Figure 5.12 summarizes for L19C the effect of the three initial γ' -microstructures on the time to reach 3% creep strain. This 3% creep time contains contributions from primary,



Figure 5.11. Double-logarithmic plot of minimum strain rate vs. tensile stress for creep at 900 °C of monocrystalline L19C with cuboid (red squares), p-preraft (blue upward triangles) and n-preraft (green downward triangles) microstructure. The minimum strain rate of the cuboid specimen at 150 MPa is extracted from the rupture test shown in Supplemental Figure 5.13. A Ni-based superalloy, SRR99, with cuboidal (black opened circle) and p-type pre-rafted (black opened diamond) microstructure crept at 1000 °C highlight the similar creep strengthening behavior from the rafted microstructure [14].

secondary (and in some cases, tertiary) creep for the cuboid, p-, and n-preraft specimens. Additional comparison is again made with the Ni-based superalloy SRR99 for two initial microstructures (unrafted and compressive pre-rafted) [14] which were also tensile-crept at three stresses: high stress (300 MPa), intermediate stress (200 MPa) and low stress (150 MPa). For L19C at the highest stress of 305 MPa, the n-preraft specimen takes the longest time to reach the cutoff 3% strain, as compared to both cuboid and p-preraft specimens, which show approximately the same creep time. This illustrates the significance of the n-type microstructure in hindering creep deformation. A similar behavior is observed in SRR99 at 300 MPa, where the p-type rafted γ' -microstructure provides a moderate enhancement (by $\approx 20\%$) in tensile creep resistance.

For L19C at the intermediate stress of 250 MPa, the improved creep resistance for the n-preraft alloy is small ($\approx 15\%$ more time to reach 3% strain), as its microstructure evolves away from n-type rafts. The cuboid alloy reaches the cutoff strain the fastest, consistent with a larger primary creep strain and the strain associated with transition from a cuboidal to p-type rafted microstructure [93]. The p-prerafted SRR99, at its intermediate stress of 200 MPa, also exhibits no improvement in creep resistance compared to the cuboid SRR99.

Finally, under the low-stress condition of 205 MPa, the n-preraft L19C superalloy reaches the cutoff strain well before either the cuboid or p-preraft specimens, due to the significant morphological evolution of γ' -precipitates. A similar effect is visible for the p-preraft SRR99 alloy at its low stress of 150 MPa, with creep times reduced by $\approx 60\%$ as compared to the cuboid, initially unrafted microstructure.

Present results on our Co-based superalloy, along with comparison with previous work in Ni-based superalloys, show that the overall creep resistance of a superalloys - not solely its minimum creep rate - is affected by the pre-existing rafting of its γ' -microstructure (if present) as well as the evolution of the rafted microstructure during creep. In the case of p-preraft SRR99 and n-preraft L19C, creep resistance is significantly reduced as the γ' microstructure transforms during creep from one orientation of rafted microstructure to another. The results suggest that maintaining a n-type rafted microstructure in Co-based superalloys under tensile load may provide improved mechanical properties, in both creep and fatigue [184].



Figure 5.12. Double-logarithmic plot of time to reach 3% creep strain vs. tensile stress for creep at 900 °C of monocrystalline L19C with cuboid (red squares), p-preraft (blue upward triangles), and n-preraft (green downward triangles) microstructure. The time to 3% creep strain of the cuboid specimen at 150 MPa is extracted from the rupture test shown in Supplemental Figure 5.13. Data for the Ni-based superalloy SRR99, with cuboidal (black opened circle) and p-type pre-rafted (black opened diamond) microstructure crept at 1000 °C [14], are plotted for comparison.

5.5. Summary and Conclusions

The influence of pre-existing γ' -rafts on the tensile creep behavior of the monocrystalline Co-based superalloy L19C is studied for two types of raft orientations: p-type and n-type created via pre-rafting at 900-940 °C under tensile and compressive stresses, respectively. Subsequent tensile creep deformation experiments are performed at 900 °C on both pre-rafted (and a third unrafted) specimens at three stresses (305, 250 and 205 MPa). The microstructural evolution during creep and the corresponding creep performance are found to be correlated, with key findings summarized as follow:

- For the as-aged superalloy with cuboidal γ'-morphology, p-type γ'-rafts aligned parallel to the applied stress and n-type γ'-rafts aligned perpendicular to the applied stress, are created after deformation for 50 h (under tensile stress at 900 °C and compressive stress at 940 °C, respectively), as expected from the positive γ-γ'-lattice parameter misfit.
- Upon subsequent tensile creep deformation to 3% strain at 900 °C, the duration of creep determines the degree of γ' microstructural evolution: specimens crept at low stress coarsen more than those crept at a higher stress, due to the longer time of testing for the same amount of creep strain.
- Under high tensile stress (305 MPa) where the creep tests are completed in 2-4 h, the n-type pre-rafted microstructure delivers a significant enhancement in creep resistance, consistent with the absence of vertical γ-channels. The n-rafted γ'-platelets oriented perpendicular to the applied tensile stress are effective in preventing dislocation glide and climb. The specimens with p-type γ'-rafts and unrafted γ'-cuboids perform similarly due to vertically-aligned γ-channels being less effective in impeding dislocation motion.
- At intermediate stress (250 MPa) where the creep tests last 10-20 h, the overall creep resistance of the n-type pre-rafted microstructure diminishes, as the n-type γ' -rafts disintegrate into a more isotropic morphology. The p-type pre-rafted

and cuboidal γ' -microstructures performs similarly, as their microstructures both converge into p-type rafts.

- At low stress (205 MPa) when creep tests last 100-220 h, the n-type pre-rafted microstructure provides creep resistance that is significantly worse than both p-type pre-rafted and cuboidal γ'-morphologies. The creep duration is long enough for the n-type rafts to transform into p-type rafts, resulting in an irregular microstructure and degraded creep resistance. The p-type pre-rafted and cuboidal microstructure, while exhibiting a better creep resistance, have both begun tertiary creep from the extensively rafted (p-type) microstructure. Microstructural evolution such as topological inversion, widening of γ-channels, and spatial inhomogeneity may all affect the onset of increasing strain rate.
- The combined effect of raft orientation and time-dependent γ'-morphology contribute to the creep hardening of n-type pre-rafted microstructure at high stress and creep softening at low stress, analogous to behavior observed in p-type prerafted Ni-based superalloys.

Supplemental Information



Figure 5.13. Tensile creep rupture test, performed at 150 MPa and 900 °C, for L19C with unrafted cuboidal γ' starting microstructure, showing (a) strain evolution with time and (b) strain-rate evolution with strain.



Figure 5.14. Creep strain (absolute value) during pre-rafting for monocrystalline L19C. Blue (tensile 150 MPa at 900 $^{\circ}$ C) and green (compressive 150 MPa at 940 $^{\circ}$ C) curves are shown in Figure 5.1(a). Red curves are the tensile pre-rafting creep behavior generated when producing p-preraft specimens.



Figure 5.15. Tensile creep behavior, pre- and post-creep microstructure of p-type pre-rafted and unrafted Ni-based superalloy SRR99 under (a) 300, (b) 200 and (c) 150 MPa at 1000 °C. Reproduced from Ref. [14].

CHAPTER 6

Predicting Morphology of γ' -Precipitate via Phase Field Simulations

6.1. Introduction

From previous chapters, the effects of lattice misfit on microstructural evolution in Co-based superalloys are well illustrated. Chromium additions alter the lattice misfit which in turn effects the equilibrium morphology of γ' -precipitates. In addition, as the lattice misfit decreases, the degree of rafting is reduced during creep. The influence of rafting ultimately leads to a drastically different creep resistance between rafted and unrafted Co-based superalloys. While the impact of lattice misfit and rafting on bulk mechanical properties are well-discussed in this thesis, the underlying mechanisms that govern the misfit related microstructural evolution have yet to be fully understood. The goal of this work is to gain fundamental insights into the influence of lattice misfit on γ' rafting morphology in Co-based superalloys. With distinction from experimental work presented earlier where the observed microstructural features are confounded with interrelated properties such as alloy composition, processing condition and statistical variation, computational methods enable us to de-convolute individual mechanisms.

In this chapter, using the phase field method, mechanisms that govern the equilibrium morphology of γ' -precipitate are elucidated. We assessed quantitatively how lattice misfit interplays with microstructural evolution under stress. The unraveled mechanisms are used to explain the experimentally observed microstructures that appeared throughout this thesis.

6.2. Theoretical Framework and Simulation Method

The phase field model formulation is based from the earlier work performed by Jokisaari *et al.* [9], where the phase identity of the system is described using a phase field variable η . Specifically, $\eta = 0$ in γ -phase and $\eta = 1$ in γ' -phase. Thus, there is no concentration dependence in the current framework. The phase field free energy formulation is described by three contributions that determine the microstructural evolution in a coherent γ' -strengthened superalloy system: bulk chemical energy density f_{chem} , interfacial energy density between γ - and γ' -phase f_{int} and elastic energy density f_{el} .

The bulk chemical energy density f_{chem} is described as;

(6.1)
$$f_{chem} = w \sum_{j=0}^{10} a_j \eta^j$$

where w determines the energy barrier height between the γ and γ' -phase, a_j is parameterized such that f_{chem} is a double-well function with $f_{chem}(\eta = 0) = f_{chem}(\eta = 1) =$ $f'_{chem}(\eta = 0) = f'_{chem}(\eta = 1) = 0$. Note that the bulk chemical energy density described via this high order parameterized polynomial shown in Eq. 6.1 does not accurately reflect the experimental bulk chemical energy. However, due to lack of the thermodynamic data in the newly discovered Co-based superalloys, Eq. 6.1 is used as a surrogate to study γ' morphology evolution. Following the theory of phase boundary motion for a diffuse interface by Allen and Cahn [185], interfacial energy density f_{int} is described as:

(6.2)
$$f_{int} = \frac{\kappa}{2} |\nabla \eta|^2$$

where κ is the interfacial coefficient and is related to the interfacial energy via $\sigma_{int} = \frac{4\sqrt{2}}{3}\sqrt{\kappa w}$ [186]. Here, it is assumed that Co-based superalloys exhibit an isotropic interfacial energy.

The elastic energy density f_{el} is described as:

(6.3)
$$f_{el} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{ij}\epsilon^{el}_{ij}$$

where $\sigma_{ij} = C_{ijkl} \epsilon_{ij}^{el}$ is the elastic stress tensor, ϵ_{ij}^{el} is the elastic strain tensor and C_{ijkl} is the stiffness tensor. However, since γ' -strengthen superalloys exhibit a misfit strain between γ - and γ' -phase, the stress-free strain is calculated as $\epsilon_{ij}^0 = \epsilon_{ij}^{misfit} h(\eta)$, where ϵ_{ij}^{misfit} is the misfit strain tensor and $h(\eta) = \eta^3(6\eta^2 - 15\eta + 10)$ is the scaling parameter to ensure the interfacial strain varies smoothly from one phase to another. The lattice misfit will be referred to as δ in the remainder of this chapter. The ϵ_{ij}^{el} is calculated as $\epsilon_{ij}^{el} = \epsilon_{ij}^{total} - \epsilon_{ij}^0$ where ϵ_{ij}^{total} is the total strain calculated from system displacement. Similar to the stress-free strain ϵ_{ij}^0 , the stiffness tensor is scaled between γ - and γ' -phase as $C_{ijkl}(\eta) = C_{ijkl}^{\gamma}[1 - h(\eta)] + C_{ijkl}^{\gamma'}h(\eta)$ where C_{ijkl}^{γ} and $C_{ijkl}^{\gamma'}$ is the stiffness tensor of γ and γ' -phase, respectively. To simulate the equilibrium morphology of γ' -precipitate, the system is allowed to evolve following the Cahn-Hilliard equation [187, 188, 189]:

(6.4)
$$\frac{\partial \eta}{\partial t} = \nabla \cdot [M \nabla \{ \frac{\partial F}{\partial \eta} \}]$$

where t is the time, M is the mobility, which we may control since only the final equilibrium morphology is of interest here and F is the free energy of the system described by the volume integral of the different energy contribution described above:

(6.5)
$$F = \int_{V} (f_{chem}(\eta) + f_{int}(\eta) + f_{el}(\eta)) dV.$$

Table 6.1. Model parameters and materials properties input for the phase field model used to simulate equilibrium γ' -morphology.

Parameters	Value	Material Properties	Value (unit)
a0=a1	0	σ_{int}	$98 \text{ mJ/m}^2 [9]$
a2	8.072789087	C_{1111}^{γ}	221 GPa [182]
a3	-81.24549382	C_{1122}^{γ}	162 GPa [182]
a4	408.0297321	C_{1212}^{γ}	95.4 GPa [182]
a5	-1244.129167	$C_{1111}^{\gamma'}$	238 GPa [182]
a6	2444.046270	$C_{1122}^{\gamma'}$	141 GPa [182]
a7	-3120.635139	$C_{1212}^{\gamma'}$	127 GPa [182]
a8	2506.663551		
a9	-1151.003178		
a10	230.2006355		

Table 6.1 lists the simulation parameters and the relevant materials properties input for the model. Equations 6.1 to 6.4 were implemented into a customized application of MOOSE, an open-source finite element framework [190]. All simulations were performed in two-dimension with a circular γ' -precipitate embedded in a square γ -domain that is at least ten times the radius of the precipitate, as shown in Figure 6.1. The larger domain size allows the elastic interaction at the γ - γ' interface to fully relax before reaching the domain boundary. The system is solved via the preconditioned Jacobian-Free Newton-Krylov (PJFNK) method with adaptive meshing and adaptive time-stepping. The simulation is allowed to run until the change in system's total energy over time is less than $1 \times 10^{-5} \frac{aJ}{s}$, which signifies that the system has reached equilibrium and no further γ' morphological evolution will occur.



Figure 6.1. Two-dimensional simulation domain with a γ' -precipitate embedded in a γ -volume. All external stress is applied in the y-direction.

6.3. Results and Discussion

Figure 6.2a) shows the equilibrium morphology of γ' with different lattice misfit, ranging from -0.5% to 0.5%. This lattice misfit range covers the conventional Ni-based superalloys which typically has a negative misfit to the Co-based superalloys that usually have a positive misfit. Results show that γ' -morphology is symmetrical for positive and negative misfit superalloys, which agrees with previous phase field simulation and experimental findings. Figure 6.2b) to 6.2d) outline the driving force that determine the equilibrium morphology of γ' -precipitate. Evident from the large shear stress, σ_{xy} , that develops along the $\langle 110 \rangle$ lattice direction at the interface (represented by the corners of the γ' -precipitate in 2D), γ' -precipitate minimizes the area of {110} lattice plane. The shear stress developed is equal and opposite in magnitude for both positive and negative misfit, thus resulting in an identical γ' -morphology for Ni- and Co-based system. However, as the lattice misfit reduces toward zero, the shear stress diminished as shown in Figure 6.2c). In the condition where lattice misfit is zero, the precipitate morphology is determined largely by the interfacial energy. It is commonly assumed that the interfacial energy between γ - and γ' -phase to be isotropic since γ' -precipitates exhibit a spherical morphology when the particle size is < 20 nm [9].

The rafting behavior observed during creep is also predicted via phase field simulations. Figure 6.3 shows the effect of lattice misfit on the degree of rafting under applied tensile stress. The degree of rafting is quantified by the aspect ratio of γ' -precipitate, where a more rafted γ' correlates to a higher aspect ratio. In a low misfit superalloy, where misfit approaches 0%, the precipitate does not raft and displays a spherical morphology under stress. As the misfit increases, the precipitate begins to raft more, shown



Figure 6.2. (a) Equilibrium morphology of the γ' -precipitate with different lattice misfit, ranging from $\delta = -0.5$ to 0.5%. The shear stress, σ_{xy} component of the γ - γ' system with (b) $\delta = -0.5\%$, (b) $\delta = 0.0\%$ and (c) $\delta = 0.5\%$ highlight the large shear stress at the {110} and {111} lattice plane that arise from lattice misfit of an superalloy.

by the increasing aspect ratio. This result suggests that lattice misfit can control the microstructural evolution trajectory during creep. In the case where γ' -rafting is shown to influence the mechanical properties, addition of elements that modify the lattice misfit may result in an improve microstructure and possibly a strengthened creep resistance.

Figure 6.4a) compares the aspect ratio of γ' with $\delta = 0.5\%$ when loaded in either tension and compression. Both tensile and compressive stress demonstrate that γ' becomes more rafted with an increased stress magnitude. When loaded in tension, the positive misfit superalloy exhibit p-type rafting behavior where γ' lengthens to a rod-like morphology. On the other hand, when loaded under compression, positive misfit superalloys evolve toward a n-type rafted microstructure where γ' flatten into a horizontal plate.



Figure 6.3. Plot of precipitate aspect ratio as a function of lattice misfit when the system is subjected to a 400 MPa of tensile stress.

This result agrees with the work performed in Chapter 5. However, simulation study show that under tensile stress, a γ' -particle forms a longer raft compare to a compression load. This tension-compression asymmetry in rafting behavior is supported by the experimental evidence shown in Figure 6.4b). Lenz *et al.* [15] show that when a single crystalline Co-based superalloy (Co-32Ni-8Al-6Cr-5W-2.5Ti-0.5Ta at.%) is crept to 5% creep strain under either tension or compression, the p-type microstructure is more significantly rafted compared to the n-type microstructure. However, the detailed mechanism behind this rafting asymmetry is not well-understood via experiments.

Figure 6.5 illustrates the driving force for forming a p-type and n-type rafted microstructure in positive misfit superalloy, while also attempt to elucidate the tension/compression asymmetric rafting behavior. Under a stress-free condition, as a result



Figure 6.4. (a) Plot of precipitate aspect ratio as a function of applied stress for a superalloy with a lattice misfit of $\delta = 0.5\%$. (b) Experimental observation demonstrating that γ' -precipitates in Co-based superalloy coarsen at a different rate when creep under tension and compression. The γ' -microstructure is significantly more rafted when loaded in tension than in compression. Both micrographs show the 110 cross-section after the creep specimens reached 5% creep strain. The creep experiments was performed along the [100] direction at 850 °C at 400 MPa and lasted 755 h under compression, 380 h under tension [15].

of the larger lattice parameter in the γ' -phase along with a stiffer elastic modulus, γ' precipitate exerts a tensile stress on the γ - γ' interface and the neighboring γ -matrix along
the {100} lattice plane (Figure 6.5a)). This internal stress is commonly referred to as the
coherency stress.

When a tensile load is applied (Figure 6.5b)), since the γ -phase is more compliant than the γ' -precipitate, the tensile stress is intensified on the interface parallel to the applied stress. Concomitantly, due to the Poisson effect, the interface perpendicular to the applied stress is relaxed from the coherency stress. This difference in stress state leads to a difference in chemical potential between two interfaces. Here, the chemical potential, $\mu = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \eta}$, embodies the contribution from the mechanical energy as described by Eq. 6.5. With vertical interfaces exhibit a higher chemical potential, diffusion is driven from vertical to horizontal interfaces, and forming a p-type rafted microstructure. Employing the same rationale, when a compressive stress is applied, the tensile stress on vertical interfaces is reduced while the tensile load on horizontal interfaces is intensified (Figure 6.5c)). This difference in stress state results in an opposite chemical potential distribution compared to tensile loaded system (Figure 6.5e)), thus γ' -precipitate directionally coarsening into a n-type rafted microstructure.

The rafting asymmetry may be explained from the tensile coherency stress that occur intrinsically in a positive misfit superalloy. Since the interface is pre-stressed in tension, an external tensile load further intensifies the coherency stress while an external compressive load counteract the coherency stress. As shown in Figure 6.5b) and c), the maximum local stress under the applied tensile stress is \approx 700 MPa. On the other hand, when a compressive stress is applied, the maximum local stress at the interface is \approx 250 MPa. This asymmetry in internal stress state results in a different chemical potential between the tensile and compressive stressed system, and likely is responsible for the rafting asymmetry observed both computationally and experimentally. Under this mechanism, a negatively misfit superalloy (*e.g.*, Ni-based superalloy) will exhibit an opposite rafting asymmetry behavior where γ' -precipitates raft more extensively under compression. However, there are no experimental report on rafting asymmetry found in Ni-based superalloys.

The current phase field approach presents few shortcomings and may be addressed via continuous development of the current method. The aforementioned framework did not consider a realistic bulk chemical energy, as the double well function is parameterized through high order polynomial. This prevents the model to consider a concentration dependence microstructural evolution. Effort in utilizing both CALPHAD database Gibbs



Figure 6.5. Map of stress state at the interface and the γ -matrix surrounding a γ' -precipitate under (a) zero applied stress, (b) 400 MPa of tensile stress and (c) -400 MPa of compressive stress. The corresponding chemical potential, $\mu = \frac{\partial F}{\partial \eta}$, under (d) 400 MPa of tensile stress and (e) -400 MPa of compressive stress.

free energy and diffusivity data is current being pursued within CHiMaD, and will allow a concentration dependent simulation that can lead to a fully predictive phase field model. Studies where a phase phase framework implemented the CALPHAD thermodynamic database and diffusivity database have been reported in Ni-based superalloy. It allows detailed mechanistic study on the effect of individual alloying component [191].

Present model uses an interfacial energy that is calculated from density functional theory [9], which neglect the thermal effect. This error contribution may be significant since superalloys are usually operating at high homologous temperature. An accurate assessment of interfacial energy either via molecular dynamic simulation (MD), a combined MD-APT simulation or other experimental methods will help improve the accuracy of
the simulation. Moreover, while it is commonly assumed that γ' -strengthened superalloys exhibit an isotropic interfacial energy, the cubic crystal structure of γ' -phase likely has an anisotropic interfacial energy. Additional work had been performed to incorporate an anisotropic interface energy into the model framework, see Appendix B for details of the derivation and validation.

The elastic energy contribution, which is the dominant energy that determined the equilibrium morphology of the γ' -phase, is described most accurately in the current framework. This is due to the accurate misfit and stiffness data reported in the literature. However, it is important to note that the misfit data are commonly collected at room temperature. With the difference in thermal expansion coefficient between γ - and γ' -phase, misfit strain was shown to evolve with temperature. Measurement of lattice misfit or ability to obtain molar volume of individual phase at elevated temperature will further improve the accuracy of the lattice misfit used in the model. Furthermore, experimental studies have shown that rafting behavior is highly dependent on the plasticity that occur within γ -matrix. Extension to incorporate dislocation based crystal plasticity into phase field description may lead to a more accurate prediction of rafting behavior [140, 162, 192].

6.4. Summary and Conclusion

Phase field method that incorporate chemical, interfacial and elastic energy is used to predict the equilibrium morphology of γ' -precipitate. Simulations demonstrate that equilibrium morphology of γ' is largely determined by the mechanical interaction that arise from the misfit strain, whereas the contribution from interfacial energy is minimal. Under as-aged condition, the morphology of γ' -precipitate is symmetrical about $\delta = 0$ for both positive and negative misfit superalloy. With a higher $|\delta|$, γ' -precipitates are expected to show a higher degree of rafting, while a superalloy with $\delta = 0$ will not undergo rafting during creep. Detailed study of the local stress state between γ - and γ' -phase show that the coherency stress that arise from misfit strain provides the driving force rafting in different direction under tension and compression, and it is likely the cause of tension/compression asymmetric rafting behavior.

CHAPTER 7

Summary and Recommendation

7.1. Summary of Results

Unlike Ni-based superalloys which usually exhibit a negative lattice misfit, Co-based superalloys commonly show a positive lattice misfit where the lattice parameter of γ' precipitates is larger than the γ -matrix. The contrasting lattice misfit between the Ni- and Co-system results in a different microstructural evolution pathway and possibility different mechanical properties. Here, the impact of lattice misfit on microstructural evolution, the associated diffusion mechanisms and bulk mechanical properties is succinctly described for Co-based superalloys.

With an increasing Cr concentration, Co-based superalloys show a reduced lattice misfit evident from both the cuboidal to spherical morphological transition and a lessen tendency of rafting during creep. The mechanisms governing the different morphological features are probed using phase field computational method. Calculations demonstrate that the morphology of γ' -precipitates is driven primarily by the mechanical energy at γ - γ' interfaces. Under high lattice misfit, shear stress at the {110} and {111} interfaces increases the local elastic energy, thus γ' -precipitate prefers to exhibit a cuboidal morphology. As the misfit reduces toward zero, the coherency stress at the interface diminishes, allowing the γ' -precipitate to exhibit a spherical morphology based on an isotropic interfacial energy. The change in rafting behavior is also correlated with the misfit induced coherency stress at γ - γ' interfaces. In positive misfit superalloys, due to the heterogeneous stiffness between γ - and γ' -phase, the {100} interfaces and the neighboring γ -matrix are under tensile stress exerted from the larger lattice parameter of γ' -phase. Upon application of external stress, interfaces parallel and perpendicular to the stress axis therefore experience a different stress due to Poisson effect. This results in a difference in chemical potential between parallel and perpendicular interfaces that drives rafting. Using monocrystalline Co-based superalloy, it was demonstrated that a tensile stress results in p-type rafts where γ' directionally coarsen parallel to the stress axis while a compressive stress triggers formation of n-type rafts where γ' flatten and coalesce to form plates perpendicular to the stress axis.

Significant amount of compositional re-distribution must occur on the mesoscale in order for rafting to occur. Through APT studies of both rafted and unrafted crept specimens, the underlying diffusional pathway that enable rapid directional coarsening of γ' precipitates is inferred. During rafting, γ' -formers diffuse toward the γ - γ' interfaces that is migrating outward while γ -stabilizers to the γ - γ' interfaces that is receding. Present work suggests that diffusion of γ' -formers occur along the γ - γ' interfaces, from interfaces perpendicular to the applied stress to interfaces parallel to the applied stress during n-type rafting, possibly via dislocation based pipe diffusion to accelerate the diffusion kinetics. The migration of γ -stabilizers occur through the γ -channels, from channel parallel to the applied stress to channel perpendicular to the applied stress. The diffusion of γ -stabilizers via the γ -matrix is evident from the significant enrichment of Co and Cr observed in the rafted specimen. The rafting diffusional mechanism is illustrated in Figure 4.10. For crept specimen that does not undergo rafting due to the reduced lattice misfit, no local enrichment of either γ' -formers or γ -stabilizers is observed, indicating that no compositional re-distribution occur in unrafted specimens.

The influence of γ' -rafting on the mechanical properties of Co-based superalloy is assessed by studying the impact of raft orientation on creep resistance. Tensile creep experiments performed on specimens pre-rafted in either the n-type or p-type raft orientation show a drastically different creep resistance. N-type rafted microstructure exhibits a tensile creep resistance twice of the p-type rafted microstructure, requiring double the creep time to accumulate same amount of creep strain. The superior creep performance of the n-type rafted microstructure is attributed to the ability for γ' -platelets to impede dislocation motion. However, under prolonged creep experiments, the n-type rafts are shown to be unstable under tension where γ' -platelets disintegrated into smaller particles. The disintegration of n-type rafts is associated with an increasing strain rate that result in rapid mechanical failure. On the other hand, p-type rafted microstructure, while not as effective in impeding dislocation motion, is stable under tension. Findings suggest that alternative method to stabilize n-type pre-rafted microstructure may significantly enhances the elevated temperature mechanical properties of superalloy, and similar microstructural engineering approach may be used to enhance Ni-based superalloys as well.

7.2. Suggestions for Future Work

With elucidating the effect of lattice misfit being the primary focus, this thesis provides understandings of how lattice misfit influences the microstructure, rafting mechanisms and creep resistance in Co-based superalloys. To further advance the foundation presented here, the proposed work is categorized into two directions:

- Foundational understanding of rafting mechanisms.
- Construing the impact of rafted microstructure on mechanical properties under different conditions.

7.2.1. Foundational understanding of rafting mechanisms

While Chapter 4 attempted to explain the diffusional pathway resulting in a rafted microstructure, the proposed mechanism is not conclusive and comprehensive. Specifically, the confounding contributions between cooling supersaturation and rafting induced enrichment remain to be de-convoluted. APT, while being an *ex-situ* technique, provides an unparalleled resolution and precision in quantifying compositional inhomogeneity. To ensure each stage of rafting is captured by APT characterization, multiple interrupted creep tests should be adopted such that γ - γ' microstructures at the on-set of rafting, in the midst of directional coarsening, before and after γ' -precipitates coalescence are all analyzed to better describe the concentration distribution at each stage. It is also crucial to develop a standard operating procedure for quenching the crept specimen from the furnace. This will avoid an inequivalent cooling rate between as-aged and crept specimens.

To further understand the elemental diffusion pathway, it will be necessary to perform TEM-APT correlative study on crept specimens. Previous work in Ni-based superalloys have shown that interfacial dislocation network is locally enriched with Co and Cr (γ stabilizers) at the dislocation core. It was proposed that γ -stabilizers diffuse along the interfacial dislocation network via pipe diffusion. Correlative TEM-APT offers the opportunity to closely examine such claims, where a nanotip will first be imaged using TEM to ensure dislocation network is observed. Following that, APT will provide compositional information both within γ -matrix and at the dislocation to reveal any compositional inhomogeneity. The results may shed light to which components segregate toward matrix dislocation and if rafting mechanism is controlled by the dislocation network.

On the micro-scale, the kinetics of rafting may be studied via coarsening analysis. Coarsening via rafting has been demonstrated to occur at a higher rate than classical Ostwald ripening [11]. A comparison may be made by studying the particle size evolution for both stressed and un-stressed specimens. With the challenge in quantifying the particle size in extensively rafted microstructure, the coarsening kinetics may also be captured through the evolution of interfacial length per unit area. Furthermore, a study on whether a tensile or a compressive crept specimen exhibit a different stress coarsening behavior may suggest if rafting occur via a different mechanism during tensile and compressive creep. Figure 7.1 shows a preliminary comparison between γ' -microstructure coarsened in three conditions (un-stressed, tensile and compressive stress) along with the measured interfacial length per unit area. Results show that tensile and compressively crept specimens exhibit a lower interfacial length after the same 50 h aging time, further supporting previous findings that coarsening via rafting occur at a higher rate.



Figure 7.1. Microstructure and interfacial outline of Co-based superalloys after (a) compressive -150 MPa, (b) tensile 150 MPa and (c) un-stressed 0 MPa of creep for 50 h at 900 °C. The compressive, tensile and un-stressed micrograph each exhibit an interfacial length per unit area of 6.57, 7.60 and 8.94 μm^{-1} , respectively.

7.2.2. Construing the impact of rafted microstructure on mechanical properties under different conditions

Chapter 5 demonstrates the effectiveness of n-type rafted microstructure to enhance creep resistance while also showing its instability under tensile load at 900 °C with a stress ranging from 205 to 305 MPa. It will be of great practical interest to investigate the temperature dependence creep strength of n- and p-type rafted microstructure. Previous work in Ni-based superalloys have shown that rafted microstructure in general exhibits an improved creep strength under high temperature low stress condition due to its ability to increase dislocation glide/climb path length [10]. Also, rafted microstructure show a worsen creep resistance under low temperature high stress condition when dislocation begins to shear through γ' under high stress. It is important to note that all these analyses and conclusion were conceived from pre-rafted microstructure that raft according to the applied stress while a microstructure pre-rafted against the applied stress was never investigated. Therefore, for Co-based superalloy, testing the n-type pre-rafted microstructure under tensile loads at a lower temperature, *e.g.*, 700 °C, and a higher temperature, *e.g.*, 1000 °C, may provide additional insight on creep mechanism and potential strengthening strategy.

While no dislocation study was conducted in this thesis, the ability to visualize dislocation interaction with the γ - γ' interface and superpartial dislocation within γ' -phase will contribute significantly to understanding different creep mechanisms. Specifically, TEM study will provide an even more conclusive evidence on the effect of n-type pre-rafted microstructure on impeding dislocation motion. It may additionally help explain the mechanism on which n-type rafts disintegrating under tensile load since the process likely occur via defect assisted nucleation of γ -phase at the γ - γ' interface [15]. Moreover, TEM imaging of dislocation at different stage of rafting may assist in explaining how rafting is enhancing or deteriorating the creep strength of Co-based superalloys.

References

- [1] E. A. Lass, D. J. Sauza, D. C. Dunand, D. N. Seidman, Multicomponent γ' -strengthened Co-based superalloys with increased solvus temperatures and reduced mass densities, Acta Materialia 147 (2018) 284–295.
- [2] I. Povstugar, C. H. Zenk, R. Li, P. P. Choi, S. Neumeier, O. Dolotko, M. Hoelzel, M. Göken, D. Raabe, Elemental partitioning, lattice misfit and creep behaviour of Cr containing γ' strengthened Co base superalloys, Materials Science and Technology 32 (2016) 220–225.
- [3] H. Mughrabi, Materials science and technology, volume 6, plastic deformation and fracture of materials, Masters Thesis 6 (1996) 710.
- [4] F. B. Ismail, V. A. Vorontsov, T. C. Lindley, M. C. Hardy, D. Dye, B. A. Shollock, Alloying effects on oxidation mechanisms in polycrystalline Co-Ni base superalloys, Corrosion Science 116 (2017) 44–52.
- [5] D. A. Jones, Principles and prevention of corrosion, Upper Saddle River, NJ : Prentice Hall, 1996.
- [6] K. Shinagawa, T. Omori, J. Sato, K. Oikawa, I. Ohnuma, R. Kainuma, K. Ishida, Phase Equilibria and Microstructure on γ' Phase in Co-Ni-Al-W System, MATE-RIALS TRANSACTIONS 49 (6) (2008) 1474–1479.
- [7] F. Xue, H. J. Zhou, Q. Y. Shi, X. H. Chen, H. Chang, M. L. Wang, Q. Feng, Creep behavior in a γ' strengthened Co-Al-W-Ta-Ti single-crystal alloy at 1000 °C, Scripta Materialia 97 (2015) 37–40.
- [8] K. Tanaka, M. Ooshima, N. Tsuno, A. S. Philosophical, 2012, Creep deformation of single crystals of new Co-Al-W-based alloys with fcc/L1₂ two-phase microstructures, Philosophical Magazine 92 (32) (2012) 4011–4027.
- [9] A. M. Jokisaari, S. S. Naghavi, C. Wolverton, P. W. Voorhees, O. G. Heinonen, Predicting the morphologies of γ' precipitates in cobalt-based superalloys, Acta Materialia 141 (2017) 273–284.

- [10] Z. Zhu, H. Basoalto, N. Warnken, R. C. Reed, A model for the creep deformation behaviour of nickel-based single crystal superalloys, Acta Materialia 60 (12) (2012) 4888–4900.
- [11] T. M. Pollock, A. S. Argon, Directional coarsening in nickel-base single crystals with high volume fractions of coherent precipitates, Acta Metallurgica et Materialia 42 (6) (1994) 1859–1874.
- [12] J. Y. Buffiere, M. Ignat, A dislocation based criterion for the raft formation in nickelbased superalloys single crystals, Acta Metallurgica et Materialia 43 (5) (1995) 1791–1797.
- [13] P. Kontis, Z. Li, D. M. Collins, J. Cormier, D. Raabe, B. Gault, The effect of chromium and cobalt segregation at dislocations on nickel-based superalloys, Scripta Materialia 145 (2018) 76–80.
- [14] U. Tetzlaff, H. Mughrabi, Enhancement of the High-Temperature Tensile Creep Strength of Monocrystalline Nickel-Base Superalloys by Pre-rafting in Compression, in: Superalloys 2000 (Ninth International Symposium), TMS, 2000, pp. 273–282.
- [15] M. Lenz, Y. M. Eggeler, J. Müller, C. H. Zenk, N. Volz, P. Wollgramm, G. Eggeler, S. Neumeier, M. Göken, E. Spiecker, Tension/Compression asymmetry of a creep deformed single crystal Co-base superalloy, Acta Materialia 166 (2019) 597–610.
- [16] J. Sato, T. Omori, K. Oikawa, I. Ohnuma, R. Kainuma, K. Ishida, Cobalt-base high-temperature alloys., Science 312 (5770) (2006) 90–91.
- [17] Panco database (2017).
- [18] R. C. Reed, The Superalloys, Fundamentals and Applications, Cambridge University Press, 2008.
- [19] M. C. Galetzd, Coatings for Superalloys, Superalloys, InTech, 2015.
- [20] D. J. Young, High temperature oxidation and corrosion of metals, Vol. 1, Elsevier, 2008.
- [21] C. S. Lee, Precipitation-hardening characteristics of ternary cobalt-aluminum x alloy, Ph.D. thesis, The University of Arizona (1971).
- [22] S. Kobayashi, Y. Tsukamoto, T. Takasugi, H. Chinen, T. Omori, K. Ishida, S. Zaefferer, Determination of phase equilibria in the Co-rich Co–Al–W ternary system with a diffusion-couple technique, Intermetallics 17 (12) (2009) 1085–1089.

- [23] J. E. Saal, C. Wolverton, Thermodynamic stability of Co-Al-W L1₂ γ' , Acta Materialia 61 (7) (2013) 2330–2338.
- [24] T. Omori, K. Oikawa, J. Sato, I. Ohnuma, U. R. Kattner, R. Kainuma, K. Ishida, Partition behavior of alloying elements and phase transformation temperatures in Co-Al-W-base quaternary systems, Intermetallics 32 (2013) 274–283.
- [25] H. Y. Yan, V. A. Vorontsov, D. Dye, Alloying effects in polycrystalline γ' strengthened Co-Al-W base alloys, Intermetallics 48 (2014) 44–53.
- [26] C. H. Zenk, S. Neumeier, N. M. Engl, S. G. Fries, O. Dolotko, M. Weiser, S. Virtanen, M. Göken, Intermediate Co/Ni-base model superalloys - Thermophysical properties, creep and oxidation, Scripta Materialia 112 (2016) 83–86.
- [27] S. Meher, H. Y. Yan, S. Nag, D. Dye, R. Banerjee, Solute partitioning and site preference in γ/γ' cobalt-base alloys, Scripta Materialia 67 (10) (2012) 850–853.
- [28] I. Povstugar, P.-P. Choi, S. Neumeier, A. Bauer, C. H. Zenk, M. Göken, D. Raabe, Elemental partitioning and mechanical properties of Ti-and Ta-containing Co–Al– W-base superalloys studied by atom probe tomography and nanoindentation, Acta Materialia 78 (2014) 78–85.
- [29] F. Xue, H. J. Zhou, X. F. Ding, M. L. Wang, Q. Feng, Improved high temperature γ' stability of Co–Al–W-base alloys containing Ti and Ta, Materials Letters 112 (2013) 215–218.
- [30] M. Chen, C.-Y. Wang, First-principles investigation of the site preference and alloying effect of Mo, Ta and platinum group metals in γ' -Co₃(Al, W), Scripta Materialia 60 (8) (2009) 659–662.
- [31] S. Kobayashi, Y. Tsukamoto, T. Takasugi, The effects of alloying elements (Ta, Hf) on the thermodynamic stability of γ' -Co₃(Al, W) phase, Intermetallics 31 (2012) 94–98.
- [32] A. Mottura, A. Janotti, T. M. Pollock, A first-principles study of the effect of Ta on the superlattice intrinsic stacking fault energy of L1₂-Co₃(Al, W), Intermetallics 28 (2012) 138–143.
- [33] A. Suzuki, G. C. DeNolf, T. M. Pollock, Flow stress anomalies in γ/γ' two-phase Co–Al–W-base alloys, Scripta Materialia 56 (5) (2007) 385–388.
- [34] A. Suzuki, T. M. Pollock, High-temperature strength and deformation of γ/γ' twophase Co–Al–W-base alloys, Acta Materialia 56 (6) (2008) 1288–1297.

- [35] A. Bauer, S. Neumeier, F. Pyczak, M. Göken, Microstructure and creep strength of different γ/γ'-strengthened Co-base superalloy variants, Scripta Materialia 63 (12) (2010) 1197–1200.
- [36] A. Bauer, S. Neumeier, F. Pyczak, R. F. Singer, M. Göken, Creep properties of different γ'-strengthened Co-base superalloys, Materials Science and Engineering: A 550 (2012) 333–341.
- [37] H.-Y. Yan, J. Coakley, V. A. Vorontsov, N. G. Jones, H. J. Stone, D. Dye, Alloying and the micromechanics of Co-Al-W-X quaternary alloys, Materials Science and Engineering: A 613 (2014) 201–208.
- [38] C. H. Zenk, S. Neumeier, H. J. Stone, M. Göken, Mechanical properties and lattice misfit of γ/γ' strengthened Co-base superalloys in the Co-W-Al-Ti quaternary system, Intermetallics.
- [39] S. Kobayashi, Y. Tsukamoto, T. Takasugi, Phase equilibria in the Co-rich Co-Al-W-Ti quaternary system, Intermetallics 19 (12) (2011) 1908–1912.
- [40] X. F. Ding, T. Mi, F. Xue, H. J. Zhou, M. L. Wang, Microstructure formation in γ-γ' Co-Al-W-Ti alloys during directional solidification, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 599 (2014) 159–163.
- [41] E. A. Lass, Application of Computational Thermodynamics to the Design of a Co-Ni-Based γ'-Strengthened Superalloy, Metallurgical and Materials Transactions A 48A (2017) 2443–2459.
- [42] F. L. Reyes Tirado, J. Perrin Toinin, D. C. Dunand, $\gamma + \gamma'$ microstructures in the Co-Ta-V and Co-Nb-V ternary systems, Acta Materialia 151 (2018) 137–148.
- [43] C. H. Zenk, I. Povstugar, R. Li, F. Rinaldi, S. Neumeier, D. Raabe, M. Göken, A novel type of Co-Ti-Cr-base γ/γ' superalloys with low mass density, Acta Materialia 135 (2017) 244–251.
- [44] H. J. Im, S. K. Makineni, B. Gault, F. Stein, D. Raabe, P.-P. Choi, Elemental partitioning and site-occupancy in γ/γ' forming Co-Ti-Mo and Co-Ti-Cr alloys, Scripta Materialia 154 (2018) 159–162.
- [45] S. K. Makineni, B. Nithin, K. Chattopadhyay, A new tungsten-free γ - γ' Co-Al-Mo-Nb-based superalloy, Scripta Materialia 98 (2015) 36–39.

- [46] G. Moskal, Oxidation behavior of Co-Al-Mo-Nb and Co-Ni-Al-Mo-Nb new tungstenfree γ - γ' cobalt-based superalloys, OCHRONA PRZED KOROZJQ 1 (9) (2017) 28–32.
- [47] A. Tomaszewska, T. Mikuszewski, G. Moskal, D. Migas, Primary microstructure, microsegregation and precipitates characterization of an as-cast new type γ - γ' Co-Al-Mo-Nb cobalt-based superalloy, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 750 (2018) 741–749.
- [48] F. Pyczak, A. Bauer, M. Göken, U. Lorenz, S. Neumeier, M. Oehring, J. Paul, N. Schell, A. Schreyer, A. Stark, F. Symanzik, The effect of tungsten content on the properties of L1₂-hardened Co–Al–W alloys, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 632 (2015) 110–115.
- [49] K. Shinagawa, T. Omori, K. Oikawa, R. Kainuma, K. Ishida, Ductility enhancement by boron addition in Co–Al–W high-temperature alloys, Scripta Materialia 61 (6) (2009) 612–615.
- [50] P. J. Bocchini, C. K. Sudbrack, R. D. Noebe, D. C. Dunand, D. N. Seidman, Microstructural and creep properties of boron- and zirconium-containing cobaltbased superalloys, Materials Science and Engineering: A 682 (2017) 260–269.
- [51] H. Y. Yan, V. A. Vorontsov, D. Dye, Effect of alloying on the oxidation behaviour of Co-Al-W superalloys, Corrosion Science 83 (2014) 382–395.
- [52] L. Klein, Y. Shen, M. S. Killian, S. Virtanen, Effect of B and Cr on the high temperature oxidation behaviour of novel γ/γ' -strengthened Co-base superalloys, Corrosion Science 53 (9) (2011) 2713–2720.
- [53] L. Klein, B. von Bartenwerffer, M. S. Killian, P. Schmuki, S. Virtanen, The effect of grain boundaries on high temperature oxidation of new γ' -strengthened Co-Al-W-B superalloys, Corrosion Science 79 (2014) 29–33.
- [54] Y. Li, F. Pyczak, A. Stark, L. Wang, M. Oehring, J. Paul, U. Lorenz, Temperature dependence of misfit in different Co-Al-W ternary alloys measured by synchrotron X-ray diffraction, Journal of Alloys and Compounds (2019) 152940.
- [55] H. Mughrabi, Microstructural aspects of high temperature deformation of monocrystalline nickel base superalloys: some open problems, Materials Science and Technology 25 (2) (2013) 191–204.
- [56] L. Klein, S. Virtanen, Corrosion properties of novel γ' -strengthened Co-base superalloys, Corrosion Science 66 (2013) 233–241.

- [57] B. Gao, L. Wang, Y. Liu, X. Song, S.-Y. Yang, Z.-Y. Yao, Corrosion behavior of new type Co-based superalloys with different Ni contents, Corrosion Reviews 35 (6) (2017) 110.
- [58] A. Bauer, S. Neumeier, F. Pyczak, M. Göken, Creep strength and microstructure of polycrystalline γ' -strengthened cobalt-base superalloys, Superalloys 2012: 12th International Symposium on Superalloys.
- [59] A. Suzuki, H. Inui, T. M. Pollock, L1₂-Strengthened Cobalt-Base Superalloys, Annual Review of Materials Research 45 (1) (2015) 345–368.
- [60] M. Kolb, L. P. Freund, F. Fischer, I. Povstugar, S. K. Makineni, B. Gault, D. Raabe, J. Muller, E. Spiecker, S. Neumeier, M. Göken, On the grain boundary strengthening effect of boron in γ/γ' Cobalt-base superalloys, Acta Materialia 145 (2018) 247–254.
- [61] M. Knop, P. Mulvey, F. Ismail, A. Radecka, K. M. Rahman, T. C. Lindley, B. A. Shollock, M. C. Hardy, M. P. Moody, T. L. Martin, P. A. J. Bagot, D. Dye, A New Polycrystalline Co-Ni Superalloy, JOM 66 (12) (2014) 2495–2501.
- [62] W. J. Boettinger, U. R. Kattner, K. W. Moon, J. H. Perepezko, DTA and Heat-flux DSC Measurements of Alloy Melting and Freezing, National Institute of Standard and Technology.
- [63] D. J. Larson, T. J. Prosa, R. M. Ulfig, B. P. Geiser, T. F. Kelly, Local Electrode Atom Probe Tomography, A User's Guide, Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [64] D. N. Seidman, Three-Dimensional Atom-Probe Tomography: Advances and Applications, Annual Review of Materials Research 37 (1) (2007) 127–158.
- [65] D. N. Seidman, K. Stiller, An Atom-Probe Tomography Primer, MRS Bulletin-Materials Research Society 34 (10) (2011) 717–724.
- [66] E. A. Marquis, M. K. Miller, D. Blavette, S. P. Ringer, C. K. Sudbrack, G. D. W. Smith, Structural Materials: Understanding Atomic-Scale Microstructures, MRS Bulletin-Materials Research Society 34 (10) (2012) 725–731.
- [67] D. J. Larson, A. Cerezo, J. Juraszek, K. Hono, G. Schmitz, Atom-Probe Tomographic Studies of Thin Films and Multilayers, MRS Bulletin-Materials Research Society 34 (10) (2012) 732–737.

- [68] L. J. Lauhon, P. Adusumilli, P. Ronsheim, P. L. Flaitz, D. Lawrence, Atom-Probe Tomography of Semiconductor Materials and Device Structures, MRS Bulletin-Materials Research Society 34 (10) (2012) 738–743.
- [69] T. F. Kelly, O. Nishikawa, J. A. Panitz, T. J. Prosa, Prospects for Nanobiology with Atom-Probe Tomography, MRS Bulletin-Materials Research Society 34 (10) (2012) 744–750.
- [70] M. Ooshima, K. Tanaka, N. L. Okamoto, K. Kishida, H. Inui, Effects of quaternary alloying elements on the γ' solvus temperature of Co-Al-W based alloys with fcc/L1₂ two-phase microstructures, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 508 (1) (2010) 71–78.
- [71] J. Zhang, J. Wang, H. Harada, Y. Koizumi, The effect of lattice misfit on the dislocation motion in superalloys during high-temperature low-stress creep, Acta Materialia 53 (17) (2005) 4623–4633.
- [72] S. Ma, D. Brown, M. A. M. Bourke, M. R. Daymond, B. S. Majumdar, Microstrain evolution during creep of a high volume fraction superalloy, Materials Science and Engineering: A 399 (1) (2005) 141–153.
- [73] F. Pyczak, A. Bauer, M. Göken, S. Neumeier, U. Lorenz, M. Oehring, N. Schell, A. Schreyer, A. Stark, F. Symanzik, Plastic deformation mechanisms in a crept L1₂ hardened Co-base superalloy, Materials Science and Engineering: A 571 (2013) 13–18.
- [74] M. Lean, M. Society, Directionally Solidified Materials for High Temperature Service, Book (Metals Society), Metals Society, 1983. URL https://books.google.com/books?id=2nGxAAAIAAJ
- [75] O. C. Hellman, J. A. Vandenbroucke, J. Rüsing, D. Isheim, D. N. Seidman, Analysis of Three-dimensional Atom-probe Data by the Proximity Histogram, Microscopy and Microanalysis 6 (05) (2000) 437–444.
- [76] J. Rusing, J. T. Sebastian, O. H. and, Three-dimensional investigation of ceramic/metal heterophase interfaces by atom-probe microscopy, Microscopy and Microanalysis 6 (05) (2000) 445–451.
- [77] P. J. Bocchini, C. K. Sudbrack, R. D. Noebe, D. C. Dunand, D. N. Seidman, Effects of titanium substitutions for aluminum and tungsten in Co-10Ni-9Al-9W (at%) superalloys, Materials Science and Engineering: A 705 (2017) 122–132.

- [78] D. J. Sauza, P. J. Bocchini, D. C. Dunand, D. N. Seidman, Influence of ruthenium on microstructural evolution in a model Co-Al-W superalloy, Acta Materialia 117 (2016) 135–145.
- [79] S. Meher, S. Nag, J. Tiley, A. Goel, R. Banerjee, Coarsening kinetics of γ' precipitates in cobalt-base alloys, Acta Materialia 61 (11) (2013) 4266–4276.
- [80] Y. Amouyal, Z. Mao, D. N. Seidman, Effects of tantalum on the partitioning of tungsten between the γ and γ' -phases in nickel-based superalloys: Linking experimental and computational approaches, Acta Materialia 58 (18) (2010) 5898–5911.
- [81] J. L. Smialek, P. J. Bonacuse, Compositional effects on the cyclic oxidation resistance of conventional superalloys, Materials at High Temperatures 33 (4-5) (2016) 489–500.
- [82] N. Birks, G. H. Meier, F. S. Pettit, Introduction to the High Temperature Oxidation of Metals, Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- [83] Y. Chiang, D. Birnie, W. Kingery, Physical Ceramics: Principles for Ceramic Science and Engineering, Wiley, 1996. URL https://books.google.com/books?id=cCFmQgAACAAJ
- [84] B. Chattopadhyay, G. C. Wood, The transient oxidation of alloys, Oxidation of Metals 2 (4) (1970) 373–399.
- [85] J. Wolfenstine, H. K. Kim, J. C. Earthman, High temperature creep behavior of polycrystalline Ni₃Al(Zr,B), Scripta Metallurgica et Materialia 26 (12) (1992) 1823– 1828.
- [86] J. Lapin, High temperature creep of precipitation-strengthened Ni₃Al-based alloy, Intermetallics 7 (5) (1999) 599–609.
- [87] J. Lapin, J. Marecek, Effect of growth rate on microstructure and mechanical properties of directionally solidified multiphase intermetallic Ni-Al-Cr-Ta-Mo-Zr alloy, Intermetallics 14 (10-11) (2006) 1339–1344.
- [88] O. I. Gorbatov, I. L. Lomaev, Y. N. Gornostyrev, A. V. Ruban, D. Furrer, V. Venkatesh, D. L. Novikov, S. F. Burlatsky, Effect of composition on antiphase boundary energy in Ni₃Al based alloys: Ab initio calculations, Physical review B 93 (22) (2016) 382.
- [89] J. E. Saal, C. Wolverton, Energetics of antiphase boundaries in $\gamma' \operatorname{Co}_3(Al,W)$ -based superalloys, Acta Materialia 103 (2016) 57–62.

- [90] W. Y. Wang, F. Xue, Y. Zhang, S.-L. Shang, Y. Wang, K. A. Darling, L. J. Kecskes, J. Li, X. Hui, Q. Feng, Z.-K. Liu, Atomic and electronic basis for solutes strengthened (010) anti-phase boundary of L1₂ Co₃(Al, TM): A comprehensive first-principles study, Acta Materialia 145 (2018) 30–40.
- [91] J. Coakley, E. A. Lass, D. Ma, M. Frost, D. N. Seidman, D. C. Dunand, H. J. Stone, Rafting and elastoplastic deformation of superalloys studied by neutron diffraction, Scripta Materialia 134 (2017) 110–114.
- [92] Y. Li, F. Pyczak, J. Paul, M. Oehring, U. Lorenz, Z. Yao, Y. Ning, Rafting of γ' precipitates in a Co-9Al-9W superalloy during compressive creep, Materials Science and Engineering: A 719 (2018) 43–48.
- [93] F. Xue, C. H. Zenk, L. P. Freund, M. Hoelzel, S. Neumeier, M. Göken, Double minimum creep in the rafting regime of a single-crystal Co-base superalloy, Scripta Materialia 142 (2018) 129–132.
- [94] H. Mughrabi, The importance of sign and magnitude of γ/γ' lattice misfit in superalloys—with special reference to the new γ' -hardened cobalt-base superalloys, Acta Materialia 81 (2014) 21–29.
- [95] R. W. Jackson, M. S. Titus, M. R. Begley, T. M. Pollock, Thermal expansion behavior of new Co-based alloys and implications for coatings, Surface and Coatings Technology 289 (2016) 61–68.
- [96] V. A. Vorontsov, J. S. Barnard, K. M. Rahman, H. Y. Yan, P. A. Midgley, D. Dye, Coarsening behaviour and interfacial structure of γ' precipitates in Co-Al-W based superalloys, Acta Materialia 120 (2016) 14–23.
- [97] J. Midtlyng, A. I. Epishin, N. V. Petrushin, T. Link, G. Nolze, I. L. Svetlov, W. Reimers, Creep behavior of a γ'-strengthened Co-base alloy with zero γ/γ'lattice misfit at 800 °C, 196 MPa, Journal of Materials Research 224 (2017) 1–9.
- [98] S. Socrate, D. M. Parks, Numerical determination of the elastic driving force for directional coarsening in Ni-superalloys, Acta Metallurgica et Materialia 41 (7) (1993) 2185–2209.
- [99] F. R. N. Nabarro, Rafting in Superalloys, Metallurgical and Materials Transactions A 27 (3) (1996) 513–530.
- [100] M. Titus, T. Pollock, CHigh Temperature Creep of New L1₂ Containing Cobalt-base Superalloys., Superalloys 2012 Twelfth Int. Symp. (2012) 823–832.

- [101] T. M. Pollock, J. Dibbern, M. Tsunekane, J. Zhu, A. SUZUKI, New Co-based γ - γ' high-temperature alloys, JOM 62 (1) (2010) 58–63.
- [102] L. Klein, A. Bauer, S. Neumeier, M. Göken, S. Virtanen, High temperature oxidation of γ/γ'-strengthened Co-base superalloys, Corrosion Science 53 (5) (2011) 2027– 2034.
- [103] S. K. Makineni, B. Nithin, D. Palanisamy, K. Chattopadhyay, Phase evolution and crystallography of precipitates during decomposition of new tungsten-free Co(Ni)-Mo-Al-Nb γ-γ' superalloys at elevated temperatures, Journal of materials science 51 (17) (2016) 7843–7860.
- [104] S. K. Makineni, A. Samanta, T. Rojhirunsakool, T. Alam, B. Nithin, A. K. Singh, R. Banerjee, K. Chattopadhyay, A new class of high strength high temperature Cobalt based γ-γ' Co-Mo-Al alloys stabilized with Ta addition, Acta Materialia 97 (2015) 29–40.
- [105] D. Migas, G. Moskal, D. Niemiec, Surface Condition of New γ - γ' Co-Al-Mo-Nb and Co-Al-W Cobalt-Based Superalloys After Oxidation at 800 °C, Journal of Materials Engineering and Performance 27 (2) (2018) 447–456.
- [106] H. J. Zhou, W. D. Li, F. Xue, L. Zhang, X. H. Qu, Q. Feng, Alloying Effects on Microstructural Stability and γ' Phase Nano-Hardness in Co-Al-W-Ta-Ti-Base Superalloys, Superalloys 2016 Int. Symp. 981–990.
- [107] P. Pandey, A. K. Sawant, B. Nithin, Z. Peng, S. K. Makineni, B. Gault, K. Chattopadhyay, On the effect of Re addition on microstructural evolution of a CoNi-based superalloy, Acta Materialia 168 (2019) 37–51.
- [108] M. S. Titus, A. Suzuki, T. M. Pollock, Creep and directional coarsening in single crystals of new γ - γ' cobalt-base alloys, Scripta Materialia 66 (8) (2012) 574–577.
- [109] F. H. Stott, G. C. Wood, J. Stringer, The influence of alloying elements on the development and maintenance of protective scales, Oxidation of Metals 44 (1) (1995) 113–145.
- [110] S. Neumeier, L. P. Freund, M. Göken, Novel wrought γ/γ' cobalt base superalloys with high strength and improved oxidation resistance, Scripta Materialia 109 (2015) 104–107.
- [111] N. Otsu, A Threshold Selection Method from Gray-Level Histograms, IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics 9 (1) 62–66.

- [112] J. C. Russ, Practical Stereology, Springer, New York, 2013.
- [113] F. Xue, M. Wang, Q. Feng, Alloying Effects on Heat-Treated Microstructure in Co-Al-W- Base Superalloys at 1300 °C and 900 °C, Superalloys 2012 813–821.
- [114] L. Wang, M. Oehring, U. Lorenz, J. Yang, F. Pyczak, Influence of alloying additions on L1₂ decomposition in γ-γ' Co-9Al-9W-2X quaternary alloys, Scripta Materialia 154 (2018) 176–181.
- [115] S. S. Naghavi, V. I. Hegde, A. Saboo, C. Wolverton, Energetics of cobalt alloys and compounds and solute-vacancy binding in fcc cobalt: A first-principles database, Acta Materialia 124 (2017) 1–8.
- [116] J. A. Marqusee, J. Ross, Theory of Ostwald ripening: Competitive growth and its dependence on volume fraction, The Journal of Chemical Physics 80 (1) (1984) 536-543.
- [117] I. M. Lifshitz, V. V. Slyozov, The kinetics of precipitation from supersaturated solid solutions, Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids 19 (1-2) (1961) 35–50.
- [118] A. Wagner, Theorie der alterung von niederschlägen durch umlösen (Ostwaldreifung), Fur Elektrochem 65 (1961) 581–591.
- [119] A. Baldan, Review Progress in Ostwald ripening theories and their applications to nickel-base superalloys - Part I: Ostwald ripening theories, Journal of materials science 37 (11) (2002) 2171–2202.
- [120] V. A. Snyder, J. Alkemper, P. W. Voorhees, Transient Ostwald ripening and the disagreement between steady-state coarsening theory and experiment, Acta Materialia 49 (4) (2001) 699–709.
- [121] S. Meher, R. Banerjee, Partitioning and site occupancy of Ta and Mo in Co-base γ/γ' alloys studied by atom probe tomography, Intermetallics 49 (2014) 138–142.
- [122] S. Meher, T. Rojhirunsakool, P. Nandwana, J. Tiley, R. Banerjee, Determination of solute site occupancies within γ' precipitates in nickel-base superalloys via orientation-specific atom probe tomography, Ultramicroscopy 159 (2015) 272–277.
- [123] Y. Amouyal, Z. Mao, C. Booth-Morrison, D. N. Seidman, On the interplay between tungsten and tantalum atoms in Ni-based superalloys: An atom-probe tomographic and first-principles study, Applied Physics Letters 94 (4) (2009) 041917–4.

- [124] B. Nithin, A. Samanta, S. K. Makineni, T. Alam, P. Pandey, A. K. Singh, R. Banerjee, K. Chattopadhyay, Effect of Cr addition on γ-γ' cobalt-based Co-Mo-Al-Ta class of superalloys: a combined experimental and computational study, Journal of materials science 52 (18) (2017) 11036–11047.
- [125] T. Murakumo, T. Kobayashi, Y. Koizumi, H. Harada, Creep behaviour of Ni-base single-crystal superalloys with various γ' volume fraction, Acta Materialia 52 (12) (2004) 3737–3744.
- [126] C. H. Zenk, S. Neumeier, M. Kolb, N. Volz, S. G. Fries, O. Dolotko, I. Povstugar, D. Raabe, M. Göken, The Role of the Base Element in γ' Strengthened Cobalt/Nickel-Base Superalloys, in: Superalloys 2016, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2016, pp. 969–980.
- [127] M. S. Titus, Y. M. Eggeler, A. Suzuki, T. M. Pollock, Creep-induced planar defects in L1₂-containing Co- and CoNi-base single-crystal superalloys, Acta Materialia 82 (2015) 530–539.
- [128] T. M. Pollock, Alloy design for aircraft engines, Nature materials 15 (8) (2016) 809–815.
- [129] P. Pandey, S. K. Makineni, A. Samanta, A. Sharma, S. M. Das, B. Nithin, C. Srivastava, A. K. Singh, D. Raabe, B. Gault, K. Chattopadhyay, Elemental site occupancy in the L1₂ A₃B ordered intermetallic phase in Co-based superalloys and its influence on the microstructure, Acta Materialia 163 (2019) 140–153.
- [130] D. S. Ng, D.-W. Chung, J. P. Toinin, D. N. Seidman, D. C. Dunand, E. A. Lass, Effect of Cr Additions on a γ-γ' Microstructure and Creep Behavior of a Cobalt-Based Superalloy with Low W Content, Under review at Materials Science and Engineering:A.
- [131] D.-W. Chung, J. P. Toinin, E. A. Lass, D. N. Seidman, D. C. Dunand, Effects of Cr on the Properties of Multicomponent Cobalt-Based Superalloys with Ultra High γ' Volume Fraction, Under review at Journal of Alloys and Compounds.
- [132] L. P. Freund, O. M. D. M. Messé, J. S. Barnard, M. Göken, S. Neumeier, C. M. F. Rae, Segregation assisted microtwinning during creep of a polycrystalline L1₂hardened Co-base superalloy, Acta Materialia 123 (2017) 295–304.
- [133] S. K. Makineni, M. Lenz, S. Neumeier, E. Spiecker, D. Raabe, B. Gault, Elemental segregation to antiphase boundaries in a crept CoNi-based single crystal superalloy, Scripta Materialia 157 (2018) 62–66.

- [134] T. M. Smith, B. D. Esser, B. Good, M. S. Hooshmand, G. B. Viswanathan, C. M. F. Rae, M. Ghazisaeidi, D. W. McComb, M. J. Mills, Segregation and Phase Transformations Along Superlattice Intrinsic Stacking Faults in Ni-Based Superalloys, Metallurgical and Materials Transactions A 49 (9) (2018) 4186–4198.
- [135] G. B. Viswanathan, R. Shi, A. Genc, V. A. Vorontsov, L. Kovarik, C. M. F. Rae, M. J. Mills, Segregation at stacking faults within the γ' phase of two Ni-base superalloys following intermediate temperature creep, Scripta Materialia 94 (2015) 5–8.
- [136] B. W. Krakauer, J. G. Hu, S. M. Kuo, R. L. Mallick, A. Seki, D. N. Seidman, J. P. Baker, R. J. Loyd, A system for systematically preparing atom-probe fieldion-microscope specimens for the study of internal interfaces, Review of Scientific Instruments 61 (11) (1990) 3390–3398.
- [137] D. J. Sauza, D. C. Dunand, D. N. Seidman, Microstructural evolution and hightemperature strength of a γ(f.c.c.)/γ'(L12) Co–Al–W–Ti–B superalloy, Acta Materialia 174 (2019) 427–438.
- [138] M. Cottura, Y. Le Bouar, B. Appolaire, A. Finel, Role of elastic inhomogeneity in the development of cuboidal microstructures in Ni-based superalloys, Acta Materialia 94 (2015) 15–25.
- [139] R. Mukherjee, T. A. Abinandanan, M. P. Gururajan, Phase field study of precipitate growth: Effect of misfit strain and interface curvature, Acta Materialia 57 (13) (2009) 3947–3954.
- [140] R. Wu, Z. Yue, M. Wang, Effect of initial γ/γ' microstructure on creep of single crystal nickel-based superalloys: A phase-field simulation incorporating dislocation dynamics, Journal of Alloys and Compounds.
- [141] F. Long, D.-W. Chung, F. Xue, E. A. Lass, D. N. Seidman, D. C. Dunand, Microstructure and Creep Performance of a Multicomponent Co-based L1₂-ordered Intermetallic Alloy, Under review at Acta Materialia.
- [142] N. Matan, D. C. Cox, C. M. F. Rae, R. C. Reed, On the kinetics of rafting in CMSX-4 superalloy single crystals, Acta Materialia 47 (7) (1999) 2031–2045.
- [143] T. Krol, D. Baither, E. Nembach, Softening of the superalloy NIMONIC PE16 by precipitate free zones along grain boundaries, Materials Science and Engineering: A 387-389 (2004) 214–217.

- [144] T. Krol, D. Baither, E. Nembach, Quantification of the detrimental effects of precipitate free zones on the yield strength of a superalloy, Scripta Materialia 48 (8) (2003) 1189–1194.
- [145] T. Krol, D. Baither, E. Nembach, The formation of precipitate free zones along grain boundaries in a superalloy and the ensuing effects on its plastic deformation, Acta Materialia 52 (7) (2004) 2095–2108.
- [146] M. Kamaraj, Rafting in single crystal nickel-base superalloys An overview, Sadhana 28 (1-2) (2003) 115–128.
- [147] S. Lu, S. Antonov, L. Li, Q. Feng, Two Steady-State Creep Stages in Co-Al-W-Base Single-Crystal Superalloys at 1273 K/137 MPa, Metallurgical and Materials Transactions A 45 (2018) 345–11.
- [148] R. C. Reed, N. Matan, D. C. Cox, M. A. Rist, C. M. F. Rae, Creep of CMSX-4 superalloy single crystals: effects of rafting at high temperature, Acta Materialia 47 (12) (1999) 3367–3381.
- [149] S. Neumeier, H. U. Rehman, J. Neuner, C. H. Zenk, S. Michel, S. Schuwalow, J. Rogal, R. Drautz, M. Göken, Diffusion of solutes in fcc Cobalt investigated by diffusion couples and first principles kinetic Monte Carlo, Acta Materialia 106 (2016) 304–312.
- [150] K. W. Moon, C. E. Campbell, M. E. Williams, W. J. Boettinger, Diffusion in FCC Co-rich Co-Al-W Alloys at 900 and 1000 °C, Journal of Phase Equilibria and Diffusion 37 (4) (2016) 402–415.
- [151] S. S. Naghavi, V. I. Hegde, C. Wolverton, Diffusion coefficients of transition metals in fcc cobalt, Acta Materialia 132 (2017) 467–478.
- [152] A. R. P. Singh, S. Nag, J. Y. Hwang, G. B. Viswanathan, J. Tiley, R. Srinivasan, H. L. Fraser, R. Banerjee, Influence of cooling rate on the development of multiple generations of γ' precipitates in a commercial nickel base superalloy, Materials Characterization 62 (9) (2011) 878–886.
- [153] X. P. Tan, D. Mangelinck, C. Perrin-Pellegrino, L. Rougier, C. A. Gandin, A. Jacot, D. Ponsen, V. Jaquet, Atom probe tomography of secondary γ' precipitation in a single crystal Ni-based superalloy after isothermal aging at 1100 °C, Journal of Alloys and Compounds 611 (2014) 389–394.

- [154] L. T. Stephenson, M. P. Moody, P. V. Liddicoat, S. P. Ringer, New Techniques for the Analysis of Fine-Scaled Clustering Phenomena within Atom Probe Tomography (APT) Data, Microscopy and Microanalysis 13 (6) (2007) 448–463.
- [155] J. M. Hyde, A. Cerezo, T. J. Williams, Statistical analysis of atom probe data: Detecting the early stages of solute clustering and/or co-segregation, Ultramicroscopy 109 (5) (2009) 502–509.
- [156] P. Felfer, A. V. Ceguerra, S. P. Ringer, J. M. Cairney, Detecting and extracting clusters in atom probe data: A simple, automated method using Voronoi cells, Ultramicroscopy 150 (2015) 30–36.
- [157] A. Epishin, T. Link, U. Brückner, P. D. Portella, Kinetics of the topological inversion of the γ/γ'-microstructure during creep of a nickel-based superalloy, Acta Materialia 49 (19) (2001) 4017–4023.
- [158] A. Epishin, T. Link, M. Nazmy, M. Staubli, H. K. ffer, G. Nolze, Microstructural Degradation of CMSX-4: Kinetics and Effect on Mechanical Properties, in: Superalloys 2008 (Eleventh International Symposium), TMS, 2008, pp. 725–731.
- [159] J. Coakley, E. A. Lass, D. Ma, M. Frost, H. J. Stone, D. N. Seidman, D. C. Dunand, Lattice parameter misfit evolution during creep of a cobalt-based superalloy single crystal with cuboidal and rafted gamma-prime microstructures, Acta Materialia 136 (2017) 118–125.
- [160] S. Nategh, S. A. Sajjadi, Dislocation network formation during creep in Ni-base superalloy GTD-111, Materials Science and Engineering: A 339 (1-2) (2003) 103– 108.
- [161] T. Sugui, Z. Huihua, Z. Jinghua, Y. Hongcai, X. Yongbo, H. Zhuangqi, Formation and role of dislocation networks during high temperature creep of a single crystal nickel-base superalloy, Materials Science and Engineering: A 279 (1-2) (2000) 160– 165.
- [162] C. Wang, M. A. Ali, S. Gao, J. V. Goerler, I. Steinbach, Combined phase-field crystal plasticity simulation of P- and N-type rafting in Co-based superalloys, Acta Materialia 175 (2019) 21–34.
- [163] P. J. Bocchini, E. A. Lass, K.-W. Moon, M. E. Williams, C. E. Campbell, U. R. Kattner, D. C. Dunand, D. N. Seidman, Atom-probe tomographic study of γ/γ' interfaces and compositions in an aged Co-Al-W superalloy, Scripta Materialia 68 (8) (2013) 563–566.

- [164] A. Pineau, Influence of uniaxial stress on the morphology of coherent precipitates during coarsening—elastic energy considerations, Acta Metallurgica 24 (6) (1976) 559–564.
- [165] H. Mughrabi, M. Ott, U. Tetzlaff, New microstructural concepts to optimize the high-temperature strength of γ' -hardened monocrystalline nickel-based superalloys, Materials Science and Engineering: A 234-236 (1997) 434–437.
- [166] X. Wu, P. Wollgramm, C. Somsen, A. Dlouhy, A. Kostka, G. Eggeler, Double minimum creep of single crystal Ni-base superalloys, Acta Materialia 112 (2016) 242–260.
- [167] T. M. Pollock, A. S. Argon, Creep resistance of CMSX-3 nickel base superalloy single crystals, Acta Metallurgica et Materialia.
- [168] F. R. N. Nabarro, C. M. Cress, P. Kotschy, The thermodynamic driving force for rafting in superalloys, Acta Materialia 44 (8) (1996) 3189–3198.
- [169] I. L. Svetlov, B. A. Golovko, A. I. Epishin, N. P. Abalakin, Diffusional Mechanism of γ' -Phase Particles Coalescence in Single-Crystals of Nickel-Base Superalloys, Scripta Metallurgica et Materialia 26 (9) (1992) 1353–1358.
- [170] P. Henderson, L. Berglin, C. Jansson, On rafting in a single crystal nickel-base superalloy after high and low temperature creep, Scripta Materialia 40 (2) (1998) 229–234.
- [171] P. Lukas, J. Cadek, V. Sustek, L. Kunz, Creep of CMSX-4 single crystals of different orientations in tension and compression, Materials Science and Engineering: A 208 (2) (1996) 149–157.
- [172] Y. Li, F. Pyczak, J. Paul, M. Oehring, U. Lorenz, Z. Yao, Microstructure evolution in L1₂ hardened Co-base superalloys during creep, Journal of Materials Research 32 (24) (2017) 4522–4530. doi:10.1557/jmr.2017.362.
- [173] Y. Xingfu, T. Sugui, D. Hongqiang, Y. Huichen, W. Minggang, S. Lijuan, C. Shusen, Microstructure evolution of a pre-compression nickel-base single crystal superalloy during tensile creep, Materials Science and Engineering: A 506 (1-2) (2009) 80–86.
- [174] D. Barba, T. M. Smith, J. Miao, M. J. Mills, R. C. Reed, Segregation-Assisted Plasticity in Ni-Based Superalloys, Metallurgical and Materials Transactions A 49 (9) (2018) 4173–4185.

- [175] T. M. Smith, Y. Rao, Y. Wang, M. Ghazisaeidi, M. J. Mills, Diffusion processes during creep at intermediate temperatures in a Ni-based superalloy, Acta Materialia 141 (2017) 261–272.
- [176] J. Svoboda, P. Lukas, Model of creep in 001-oriented superalloy single crystals, Acta Materialia 46 (10) (1998) 3421–3431.
- [177] J. Svoboda, P. Lukas, Creep deformation modelling of superalloy single crystals, Acta Materialia 48 (10) (2000) 2519–2528.
- [178] H. Mughrabi, H. Feng, H. Biermann, IUTAM Symposium on Micromechanics of Plasticity and Damage of Multiphase Materials: Proceedings of the IUTAM Symposium Held in Sèvres, Paris (1996) 115–122.
- [179] C. Y. Chen, W. M. Stobbs, Interfacial segregation and influence of antiphase boundaries on rafting in a γ/γ' alloy, Metallurgical and Materials Transactions A 35 (3) (2004) 733–740.
- [180] S. Gao, M. Fivel, A. Ma, A. Hartmaier, Influence of misfit stresses on dislocation glide in single crystal superalloys: A three-dimensional discrete dislocation dynamics study, Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids 76 (2015) 276–290.
- [181] K. Tanaka, T. Ohashi, K. Kishida, H. Inui, Single-crystal elastic constants of Co₃(Al,W) with the L1₂ structure, Applied Physics Letters 91 (18) (2007) 181907.
- [182] W. W. Xu, J. J. Han, Y. Wang, C. P. Wang, X. J. Liu, Z. K. Liu, First-principles investigation of electronic, mechanical and thermodynamic properties of L1₂ ordered Co₃(M, W) (M=Al, Ge, Ga) phases, Acta Materialia 61 (14) (2013) 5437–5448.
- [183] R. Harikrishnan, J.-B. le Graverend, A creep-damage phase-field model: Predicting topological inversion in Ni-based single crystal superalloys, Materials & Design 160 (2018) 405–416.
- [184] M. Ott, H. Mughrabi, Dependence of the high-temperature low-cycle fatigue behaviour of the monocrystalline nickel-base superalloys CMSX-4 and CMSX-6 on the γ/γ' -morphology, Materials Science and Engineering: A 272 (1) (1999) 24–30.
- [185] S. M. Allen, J. W. Cahn, A microscopic theory for antiphase boundary motion and its application to antiphase domain coarsening, Acta Metallurgica 27 (6) (1979) 1085–1095.
- [186] N. Moelans, B. Blanpain, P. Wollants, An introduction to phase-field modeling of microstructure evolution, Calphad 32 (2) (2008) 268–294.

- [187] J. W. Cahn, J. E. Hilliard, Free Energy of a Nonuniform System. I. Interfacial Free Energy, The Journal of Chemical Physics 28 (2) (1958) 258–267.
- [188] J. W. Cahn, Free Energy of a Nonuniform System. II. Thermodynamic Basis, The Journal of Chemical Physics 30 (5) (1959) 1121–1124.
- [189] J. W. Cahn, J. E. Hilliard, Free Energy of a Nonuniform System. III. Nucleation in a Two-Component Incompressible Fluid, The Journal of Chemical Physics 31 (3) (1959) 688–699.
- [190] C. J. Permann, D. R. Gaston, D. Andrs, R. W. Carlsen, F. Kong, A. D. Lindsay, J. M. Miller, J. W. Peterson, A. E. Slaughter, R. H. Stogner, R. C. Martineau, Moose: Enabling massively parallel multiphysics simulation (2019). arXiv:1911. 04488.
- [191] L. T. Mushongera, M. Fleck, J. Kundin, Y. Wang, H. Emmerich, Effect of Re on directional -coarsening in commercial single crystal Ni-base superalloys: A phase field study, Acta Materialia 93 (C) (2015) 60–72.
- [192] M. Cottura, B. Appolaire, A. Finel, Y. Le Bouar, Coupling the Phase Field Method for diffusive transformations with dislocation density-based crystal plasticity: Application to Ni-based superalloys, Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids 94 (2016) 473–489.
- [193] Tcni database (2017).
- [194] D. J. Larson, B. Gault, B. P. Geiser, F. De Geuser, F. Vurpillot, Atom probe tomography spatial reconstruction: Status and directions, Current Opinion in Solid State and Materials Science 17 (5) (2013) 236–247.
- [195] J. Coakley, A. Radecka, D. Dye, P. A. J. Bagot, T. L. Martin, T. J. Prosa, Y. Chen, H. J. Stone, D. N. Seidman, D. Isheim, Characterizing nanoscale precipitation in a titanium alloy by laser-assisted atom probe tomography, Materials Characterization 141 (2018) 129–138.
- [196] P. Felfer, B. Scherrer, J. Demeulemeester, W. Vandervorst, J. M. Cairney, Mapping interfacial excess in atom probe data, Ultramicroscopy 159 (2015) 438–444.
- [197] W. E. Lorensen, H. E. Cline, Marching cubes: A high resolution 3D surface construction algorithm, Vol. 21, ACM, 1987.
- [198] N. R. Pal, S. K. Pal, A review on image segmentation techniques, Pattern recognition 26 (9) (1993) 1277–1294.

- [199] A. Garcia-Garcia, S. Orts-Escolano, S. Oprea, V. Villena-Martinez, J. Garcia-Rodriguez, A review on deep learning techniques applied to semantic segmentation, arXiv preprint arXiv:1704.06857.
- [200] K. He, X. Zhang, S. Ren, J. Sun, Delving deep into rectifiers: Surpassing humanlevel performance on imagenet classification, in: Proceedings of the IEEE international conference on computer vision, 2015, pp. 1026–1034.
- [201] Y. Wu, M. Schuster, Z. Chen, Q. V. Le, M. Norouzi, W. Macherey, M. Krikun, Y. Cao, Q. Gao, K. Macherey, et al., Google's neural machine translation system: Bridging the gap between human and machine translation, arXiv preprint arXiv:1609.08144.
- [202] M. Teichmann, M. Weber, M. Zoellner, R. Cipolla, R. Urtasun, Multinet: Real-time joint semantic reasoning for autonomous driving, arXiv preprint arXiv:1612.07695.
- [203] G. Litjens, T. Kooi, B. E. Bejnordi, A. A. A. Setio, F. Ciompi, M. Ghafoorian, J. A. van der Laak, B. Van Ginneken, C. I. Sánchez, A survey on deep learning in medical image analysis, Medical image analysis 42 (2017) 60–88.
- [204] M. Kampffmeyer, A.-B. Salberg, R. Jenssen, Semantic segmentation of small objects and modeling of uncertainty in urban remote sensing images using deep convolutional neural networks, in: Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition workshops, 2016, pp. 1–9.
- [205] Z. Zhang, F. Xing, H. Su, X. Shi, L. Yang, Recent advances in the applications of convolutional neural networks to medical image contour detection, arXiv preprint arXiv:1708.07281.
- [206] J.-J. Hwang, T.-L. Liu, Pixel-wise deep learning for contour detection, arXiv preprint arXiv:1504.01989.
- [207] J. Long, E. Shelhamer, T. Darrell, Fully convolutional networks for semantic segmentation, in: Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition, 2015, pp. 3431–3440.
- [208] S. Xie, Z. Tu, Holistically-nested edge detection, in: Proceedings of the IEEE international conference on computer vision, 2015, pp. 1395–1403.
- [209] I. Kokkinos, Pushing the boundaries of boundary detection using deep learning, arXiv preprint arXiv:1511.07386.

- [210] Y. Liu, M.-M. Cheng, X. Hu, K. Wang, X. Bai, Richer convolutional features for edge detection, in: Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), 2017 IEEE Conference on, IEEE, 2017, pp. 5872–5881.
- [211] P. Bocchini, D.-W. Chung, D. C. Dunand, D. N. Seidman, Atom probe tomography reconstruction and analysis for the temporal evolution of Co-Al-W superalloys at 750°C, http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.18126/M2WS7W (2018).
- [212] K. Simonyan, A. Zisserman, Very deep convolutional networks for large-scale image recognition, arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.1556.
- [213] J. Deng, W. Dong, R. Socher, L.-J. Li, K. Li, L. Fei-Fei, Imagenet: A large-scale hierarchical image database, in: Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 2009. CVPR 2009. IEEE Conference on, Ieee, 2009, pp. 248–255.
- [214] P. Arbelaez, M. Maire, C. Fowlkes, J. Malik, Contour detection and hierarchical image segmentation, IEEE transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence 33 (5) (2011) 898–916.
- [215] S. Plimpton, Fast parallel algorithms for short-range molecular dynamics, Journal of computational physics 117 (1) (1995) 1–19.
- [216] G. P. P. Pun, V. Yamakov, Y. Mishin, Interatomic potential for the ternary Ni-Al-Co system and application to atomistic modeling of the B2-L1₀ martensitic transformation, Modelling and Simulation in Materials Science and Engineering 23 (6) (2015) 065006.
 URL http://stacks.iop.org/0965-0393/23/i=6/a=065006
- [217] D. Erdeniz, W. Nasim, J. Malik, A. R. Yost, S. Park, A. De Luca, N. Q. Vo, I. Karaman, B. Mansoor, D. N. Seidman, D. C. Dunand, Effect of vanadium micro-alloying on the microstructural evolution and creep behavior of Al-Er-Sc-Zr-Si alloys, Acta Materialia 124 (2017) 501–512.
- [218] Y. Wang, X. Zhao, K. Huang, Deep crisp boundaries, in: 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), IEEE, 2017, pp. 1724–1732.
- [219] A. J. Ardell, Gradient energy, interfacial energy and interface width, Scripta Materialia 66 (7) (2012) 423 - 426. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scriptamat. 2011.11.043. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1359646211007366

- [220] A. J. Ardell, V. Ozolins, Trans-interface diffusion-controlled coarsening, Nature materials 4 (4) (2005) 309–316.
- [221] E. Y. Plotnikov, Z. Mao, R. D. Noebe, D. N. Seidman, Temporal evolution of the $\gamma(\text{fcc})/\gamma'(\text{L1}_2)$ interfacial width in binary Ni-Al alloys, Scripta Materialia 70 (2014) 51–54.
- [222] E. Maire, P. J. Withers, Quantitative x-ray tomography, International Materials Reviews 59 (1) (2014) 1-43. arXiv:https://doi.org/10.1179/1743280413Y.
 000000023, doi:10.1179/1743280413Y.000000023.
 URL https://doi.org/10.1179/1743280413Y.000000023
- [223] V. Cnudde, M. Boone, High-resolution x-ray computed tomography in geosciences: A review of the current technology and applications, Earth-Science Reviews 123 (2013) 1 - 17. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2013.04.003. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S001282521300069X
- [224] G. Möbus, B. J. Inkson, Nanoscale tomography in materials science, Materials Today 10 (12) (2007) 18 - 25. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-7021(07) 70304-8. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1369702107703048
- [225] P. A. Midgley, R. E. Dunin-Borkowski, Electron tomography and holography in materials science, Nature materials 8 (4) (2009) 271–280.

APPENDIX A

Evaluation of Cobalt-Based Superalloy Thermodynamic Database

A.1. Introduction

This chapter provides the evaluation of Pandat/CompuTherm's thermodynamic database, PanCo_TH, ranging from Co-Al-W ternary system to complex multinary systems with up to eight components. The goal is to assess the strength and shortcomings of the database for γ' strengthened Co-based superalloys and whether the database will add value to CHiMaD's Precipitation Strengthened Alloys Use-Case Group.

A.2. Evaluation

A.2.1. Ternary Co-Al-W and Quaternary Co-Al-W-Ni

Figure A.1 compares the Co-Al-W ternary phase diagrams at 900°C measured experimentally [16] and calculated from PanCo_TH database [17]. The calculated phase diagram closely resembles the experimentally measured phase diagram with γ' , γ , D0₁₉ and B2 phase field predicted relatively accurately. Figure A.2 demonstrates that PanCo_TH database captures the Ni quaternary addition accurately. With increasing Ni content, the γ' phase field expands correspondingly. This results agrees with the observation by Shinagawa *et al.*[6] which show γ' phase exists from the Co side to the Ni side in the Co-Al-W-Ni



Figure A.1. Co-Al-W ternary phase diagram at 900°C a) measured experimentally [16] and b) reproduced from the PanCo_TH database [17].

quaternary system. In addition, increasing amount of Ni also widen the W solubility in γ' phase.



Figure A.2. Comparison of experimentally measured [6] and PanCo_TH calculated quaternary Co-Al-W-Ni 900°C phase diagram with a)10at% Ni and b) 50at% Ni.

A.2.2. Quinternary Co-Al-W-Ni-Cr

A.2.2.1. Comparison with in-house measurement. To assess the accuracy and comprehensiveness of PanCo_TH, testing beyond published quaternary systems were performed. Table A.1 shows the EDS measured composition, SEM derived and thermody-namically calculated volume fraction of an in-house casted quinternary Co-Al-W-Ni-Cr alloy series with Cr concentration ranging from 0 to 6at%. Preliminary quantification shows an increase in γ' volume fraction from 0 to 4at% Cr follow by a decrease for the 6at% alloy. However, PanCo_TH predicts a continuous increase of γ' volume fraction from 0 to 6at% Cr.

Table A.1. EDS measured composition, SEM derived and thermodynamically calculated volume fraction of γ' phase in an in-house arc-melted quinternary alloy series with varying concentration of Cr.

	Со	Ni	Al	W	Cr	В	SEM volume fraction $\%$	Pandat volume fraction $\%$
0-Cr	53.16	31.26	9.65	5.93	0	_	34.1	24.9
2-Cr	53.03	29.98	9.42	5.5	2.07	_	41.8	28.4
4-Cr	51.33	30.53	9.48	4.72	3.94	-	46.5	30.0
6-Cr	49.87	30.56	9.37	4.22	5.98	_	42.0	31.1

A.2.2.2. Comparison with Literature Reported Measurement by Povstugar et

al. Table A.2 presents the APT measurements and PanCo_TH calculated composition and volume fraction of five alloys studied by Povstugar *et al.* [2]. Through the lever rule derived volume fraction, the results show that γ' phase fraction increases with higher Cr concentration. However, PanCo_TH predicts that composition of 4Cr and 8Cr samples are out of γ' phase field where only D0₁₉ and B2 phases are present. This indicates PanCo_TH's incapability in predicting the stable phases correctly when there is no Ni present in the alloys. With the addition of 9 and 18at%Ni, PanCo_TH correctly predicts the stability of γ' phase although with notable deviation in volume fraction. The elemental partitioning behaviors are predicted accurately throughout the 5 alloys evaluated herein.

Composition at% Volume fraction %Alloy W Cr Method Phase Co Ni Al $D0_{19}$ B2 γ' μ Base APT 85.5 8.5 6.0 38 ± 2 0 0 γ γ' 76.6 9.414.0••• ••• 6.70 0 Pandat γ 84.6 8.9 6.526.9... ... 77.3 12.3 γ' 10.5... ... APT 0 0 $4\mathrm{Cr}$ 7.9 57 ± 2 0 80.6 5.95.5 γ ... γ' 75.9 9.511.4 3.2... Pandat 81.3 7.96.34.50 20.09.020 γ ... γ' • • • ... • • • • • • ... 8Cr APT 73.9 8.06.811.2 64 ± 2 0 0 0 γ ... γ' 73.9 9.410.46.4... Pandat 79.2 7.80 0 10.5410.837.45.6 γ ... γ' APT 0 9Ni8Cr 66.78.3 7.86.710.7 64 ± 3 0 0 γ γ' 9.410.19.9 64.26.4Pandat 7.2 $10.7 \quad 88.02 \quad 0$ 0 0.3968.7 8.3 5.1 γ γ' 64.6 9.19.39.47.618Ni8Cr APT 59.215.66.07.411.8 64 ± 2 0 0 0 γ γ' 54.219.710.59.7 5.6Pandat 16.30 0.05 γ 60.56.45.611.193.110 18.19.2 γ' 55.79.27.8

Table A.2. Comparison of the literature reported phase composition and volume fraction of Cr containing Co based superalloys measured by APT [2] and calculated from PanCo_TH.

A.2.3. Multinary Systems

A.2.3.1. L24Cr. Table A.3 shows the comparison between APT and PanCo_TH calculated results for an in-house alloy series, L24-Cr. Composition of L24-0Cr was designed by Eric Lass (NIST) using TCNI8 database [193]. Evaluation shows that PanCo_TH predicts elemental partition with high degree of accuracy and captures the trend of phase

					Cor	mpos	ition a	Volume fraction %					
L24	Method	Phase	Co	Ni	Al	W	Cr	Ti	Ta	В	γ'	Ni ₃ Ta	μ
0Cr	APT	γ									83.5*	0	0
		γ'	48.5	31.0	12.0	3.9	0	2.1	2.3	0.062			
	Pandat	γ	62.5	24.3	6.5	4.1	0	0.47	2.0		81.5	0	0
		γ'	45.9	31.3	12.0	5.8	0	2.3	2.6				
4Cr	APT	γ									94.6*	0	0
		γ'	46.4	30.7	11.4	3.5	4.2	1.8	2.0	0.041			
	Pandat	γ	55.9	23.9	5.8	4.0	7.6	0.32	2.3		93.0	1.4	0
		γ'	45.0	30.5	11.0	5.5	3.8	2.0	2.1				
8Cr	APT	γ	50.4	19.6	6.0	2.4	20.5	0.5	0.4	0.035	86.0	0	trace*
		γ'	41.4	32.0	11.8	3.9	6.3	2.0	2.4	0.041			
	Pandat	γ	48.1	23.2	5.8	4.5	15.2	0.25	2.9		82.3	0	0
		γ'	41.4	31.5	11.1	5.2	6.4	2.2	2.2				
12Cr	APT	γ									43.4*	0	$trace^*$
		γ'											
	Pandat	γ	42.3	23.6	6.3	4.3	19.4	0.26	2.8		61.2	0	2.0
		γ'	37.0	34.8	12.1	4.1	7.3	2.7	1.9				

Table A.3. Comparison of the phase composition and volume fraction of L24Cr alloy series measured by APT and calculated from PanCo_TH.

*SEM measured volume fraction

fraction with varying Cr content. PanCo_TH correctly predicts trend of γ' volume fraction; with increasing Cr concentration, the volume fraction first increases then decrease accompany by formation of μ phase.

A.2.3.2. L19Cr. L19 is another alloy designed by Eric Lass. This alloy uses Mo and Nb in substitution for W to reduce the density of the material. A series of study with different Cr concentration was added to L19-0Cr base alloy, but only the data for 0-Cr is available at this moment. Similar to L24Cr, Table A.4 shows PanCo_TH captures the elemental partition behavior between γ and γ' with high degree of accuracy except for Ta here. The volume fraction prediction also lies close to the APT lever rule calculated values. Comparison shows that PanCo_TH performs adequately for the 0-Cr samples. However, base on further analysis with higher Cr concentration, PanCo_TH predicts γ

			Composition at%										Volume fraction $\%$
L19	Method	Phase	Co	Ni	Al	W	Cr	Ti	Ta	Mo	Nb	В	γ'
0Cr	APT	γ	63.5	24.1	4.6	1.3	0	1.7	0.3	3.0	1.3	0	54.4
		γ'	41.9	33.6	9.4	2.3	0	5.8	1.5	3.1	2.5	0	
	Pandat	γ	62.8	24.8	4.3	1.9	0	1.4	1.1	3.2	0.5	0	53
		γ'	42.6	34.5	9.3	2.1	0	6.3	0.91	2.8	1.4	0	

Table A.4. Comparison of the phase composition and volume fraction of L19 alloy measured by APT and calculated from PanCo_TH.

and γ' to be the only stable phases up until 12at% Cr, yet SEM microstructure shows secondary precipitate formation higher than 8at% Cr. Thus, the database accuracy with addition of Mo and Nb remains questionable. Future work will assist in determining the reliability of PanCo_TH with Mo and Nb addition.

A.3. Conclusion

PanCo_TH database constructed by CompuTherm LLC is evaluated in this report. Phase diagram and point calculations ranging from ternary to eight elements multinary systems showcase the strength and weakness of the database. The phase diagram constructed for ternary Co-Al-W and quaternary Co-Al-W-Ni systems agree closely with the literature published results. Calculations for alloys beyond quaternary Co-Al-W-Ni systems, especially with addition of Cr, begin to display inconsistency between the experimental measurements and PanCo_TH prediction. For example, Povstugar *et al.* show their Ni-free Cr containing systems contain high volume fraction of γ' , yet PanCo_TH predicts stable D0₁₉ and B2 phases instead. Similarly, preliminary in-house experimental results show TCP phase formation in L19-Cr with Cr higher than 8at%, but PanCo_TH predicts γ' to be stable to 12at% Cr. Overall, the database does not perform well in Ni-free and Mo-, Nb-containing alloys.
APPENDIX B

Derivation of Residuals and Jacobians for Cahn-Hilliard Equation with Anisotropic Interfacial Energy

B.1. Introduction

As discussed in Chapter 6, while elastic energy strongly determines the γ' -precipitate morphology in a superalloy, interfacial energy may contribute toward the equilibrium morphology when lattice misfit or particle size is small. Difference in interfacial energy between the {100}, {110} and {111} lattice plane may result in subtle difference in precipitate morphology. However, to this point, no work has been performed to assess the interaction between elastic mechanical energy and anisotropic interfacial energy contribution in a γ' -strengthened superalloy system.

By implementing the anisotropic interfacial contribution to the existing phase field model described in Chapter 6, γ' -morphology, in addition to the elastic contribution, will be further dependent on the interfacial energy anisotropy. Figure B.1 shows the γ' morphology with different interfacial energy when the lattice misfit is negligible. Figure B.1a) shows the equilibrium morphology where {100} plane has the lowest interfacial energy than {110} and {111}. In contrast, in Figure B.1b), by adjusting the interfacial contribution such that {100} now has the highest interfacial energy, instead of obtaining a cuboidal morphology, precipitate now exhibit a diamond morphology. In this chapter, the mathematics necessary for implementation of an anisotropic interfacial energy into the phase field model is derived.



Figure B.1. Precipitate morphology a) with a low {100} interfacial energy and b) with a low {111} interfacial energy.

B.2. Energy Functional with Anisotropic Gradient Coefficient

Free energy functional for an anisotropic interface system without elastic energy contribution is expressed as:

(B.1)
$$F(u_h) = f_{\circ} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon(\mathbf{n})^2 |\nabla u_h|^2$$

The gradient coefficient $\epsilon(\mathbf{n})$ can be model by the cubic harmonic equation as:

(B.2)
$$\epsilon(\mathbf{n}) = \boldsymbol{\epsilon}$$
$$= W_{\circ}(1 - 3\epsilon_4)\left[1 + \frac{4\epsilon_4}{1 - 3\epsilon_4} \frac{(\partial_x u_h)^4 + (\partial_y u_h)^4 + (\partial_z u_h)^4}{|\nabla u_h|^4}\right]$$
$$= \epsilon_{\circ}\left[1 + \bar{\epsilon} \frac{(\partial_x u_h)^4 + (\partial_y u_h)^4 + (\partial_z u_h)^4}{|\nabla u_h|^4}\right]$$

where W_{\circ} is assumed to be 1 here and ϵ_4 is the anisotropic strength. Note that when $\epsilon_4 > 1/15$, the phase field evolution equation becomes ill-posed. Thus, the present model

may only be used to model system with a weak anisotropy. Here, $\partial_x u_h = \frac{\partial u_h}{\partial x}$, $\partial_y u_h = \frac{\partial u_h}{\partial y}$ and $\partial_z u_h = \frac{\partial u_h}{\partial z}$ are the gradient of the phase field variable in each Cartesian direction, where u_h is equivalent to η phase variable described in Chapter 6.

B.3. Derivation of the Residuals

Using Equation B.1 and B.2, Euler-Lagrange equation yields:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta F}{\delta u_h} &= \frac{\partial f_{\text{bulk}}}{\partial u_h} - \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial (\partial_x u_h)} [\frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 |\nabla u_h|^2] - \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \frac{\partial}{\partial (\partial_y u_h)} [\frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 |\nabla u_h|^2] - \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{\partial}{\partial (\partial_z u_h)} [\frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 |\nabla u_h|^2] \\ &= \frac{\partial f_{\text{bulk}}}{\partial u_h} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} (\epsilon^2 (\partial_x u_h)) - \frac{\partial}{\partial y} (\epsilon^2 (\partial_y u_h)) - \frac{\partial}{\partial z} (\epsilon^2 (\partial_z u_h)) - \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial x} (\epsilon \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_x u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2) - \frac{\partial}{\partial y} (\epsilon \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_y u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2) - \frac{\partial}{\partial z} (\epsilon \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_z u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2) - \\ \end{split}$$

Simplifying the above equation yields:

(B.3)
$$\frac{\delta F}{\delta u_h} = \mu$$
$$= \frac{\partial f_{\text{bulk}}}{\partial u_h} - \nabla \cdot \left(\epsilon^2 \nabla u_h\right) - \nabla \cdot \left[\epsilon \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2\right]$$

where μ is the chemical potential, and $\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z}u_h)}$ is a vector corresponding to the derivative of $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}$ with respect to $\partial_x u_h, \partial_y u_h$ and $\partial_z u_h$. Full derivation of $\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z}u_h)}$ is shown in Section B.5.1.

Using the divergence theorem along with product rule, Cahn-Hilliard equation shown in Eq. 6.4 can be expressed into weak form in terms of the inner product of volume (*, *) and surface $\langle *, * \rangle$ integrals. The weak form for the chemical potential μ is:

$$\mathbf{R}_{i,\mu} = \left(\frac{\partial u_h}{\partial t}, \psi_i\right) + \left(M\nabla\mu, \nabla\psi_i\right) - \left\langle M\nabla\mu \cdot \mathbf{n}, \psi_i\right\rangle$$

where t is the time, M is the mobility. The weak form of the operating phase field variable u_h is

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{R}_{i,u_h} &= ((\frac{\partial f_{\text{bulk}}}{\partial u_h} - \mu), \psi) + (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^2 \nabla u_h, \nabla \psi_i) - \langle \boldsymbol{\epsilon}^2 \nabla u_h \cdot \mathbf{n}, \psi_i \rangle \\ &+ (\boldsymbol{\epsilon} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2, \nabla \psi_i) - \langle \boldsymbol{\epsilon} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2 \cdot \mathbf{n}, \psi_i \rangle \end{split}$$

 $\mathbf{R}_{i,\mu}$ is implemented in the existing kernel in MOOSE [190], *SplitCHWRes*, and the surface integrals are implemented in the boundary conditions, the remaining Residuals describing an anisotropic interface are

(B.4)
$$\mathbf{R}_{i} = (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^{2} \nabla u_{h}, \nabla \psi_{i}) + (\boldsymbol{\epsilon} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_{h})} |\nabla u_{h}|^{2}, \nabla \psi_{i})$$
$$= \mathbf{R} \mathbf{1}_{i} + \mathbf{R} \mathbf{2}_{i}$$

where $\mathbf{R1}_i$ and $\mathbf{R2}_i$ correspond to individual volume integral.

B.4. Derivation of the Jacobian

The Jacobians of the Residuals (Equation B.4) is the derivative of \mathbf{R}_i with respect to u_j :

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{J}_{i,j} &= \frac{\partial \mathbf{R}_i}{\partial u_j} \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^2 \nabla u_h, \nabla \psi_i) + \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} (\boldsymbol{\epsilon} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2, \nabla \psi_i) \\ (\mathrm{B.5}) &= (2\boldsymbol{\epsilon} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j} \nabla u_h, \nabla \psi_i) + (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^2 \frac{\partial (\nabla u_h)}{\partial u_j}, \nabla \psi_i) \\ &+ (\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2, \nabla \psi_i) + (\boldsymbol{\epsilon} \frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2, \nabla \psi_i) + \\ (\boldsymbol{\epsilon} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} \frac{\partial (|\nabla u_h|^2)}{\partial u_j}, \nabla \psi_i) \\ &= \mathbf{J} \mathbf{1}_{i,j} + \mathbf{J} \mathbf{2}_{i,j} + \mathbf{J} \mathbf{3}_{i,j} + \mathbf{J} \mathbf{4}_{i,j} + \mathbf{J} \mathbf{5}_{i,j} \end{aligned}$$

where $\mathbf{J1}_{i,j}$ to $\mathbf{J5}_{i,j}$ correspond to individual volume integral. The following subsection solves for the expression of individual Jacobian.

B.4.1. Calculation of $J1_{i,j}$

 $\mathbf{J1}_{i,j} = (2\boldsymbol{\epsilon}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j}\nabla u_h, \nabla\psi_i)$ where $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}$ is shown in Equation B.2. Here we solve for $\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j}$:

(B.6)

$$\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial u_j} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} \left[\epsilon_\circ + \epsilon_\circ \bar{\epsilon} \left(\frac{(\partial_x u_h)^4 + (\partial_y u_h)^4 + (\partial_z u_h)^4}{|\nabla u_h|^4} \right) \right] \\
= \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} \left[\epsilon_\circ + \epsilon_\circ \bar{\epsilon} \left(n_x^4 + n_y^4 + n_z^4 \right) \right] \\
= \epsilon_\circ \bar{\epsilon} \left(\frac{\partial n_x^4}{\partial u_j} + \frac{\partial n_y^4}{\partial u_j} + \frac{\partial n_z^4}{\partial u_j} \right)$$

where
$$\frac{\partial n_x^4}{\partial u_j}$$
, $\frac{\partial n_y^4}{\partial u_j}$ and $\frac{\partial n_x^4}{\partial u_j}$ are:

$$\begin{aligned}
\frac{\partial n_x^4}{\partial u_j} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} \left(\frac{(\partial_x u_h)^4}{|\nabla u_h|^4} \right) \\
&= \frac{4(\partial_x u_h)^3(\partial_x \phi_j)|\nabla u_h|^4 - (\partial_x u_h)^4 \frac{\partial |\nabla u_h|^4}{\partial u_j}}{|\nabla u_h|^8} \\
\frac{\partial n_y^4}{\partial u_j} &= \frac{4(\partial_y u_h)^3(\partial_y \phi_j)|\nabla u_h|^4 - (\partial_y u_h)^4 \frac{\partial |\nabla u_h|^4}{\partial u_j}}{|\nabla u_h|^8} \\
\frac{\partial n_z^4}{\partial u_j} &= \frac{4(\partial_z u_h)^3(\partial_z \phi_j)|\nabla u_h|^4 - (\partial_z u_h)^4 \frac{\partial |\nabla u_h|^4}{\partial u_j}}{|\nabla u_h|^8}
\end{aligned}$$

The full derivation and expansion of $\frac{\partial |\nabla u_h|^4}{\partial u_j}$ is shown in Supplemental Section B.5.2, Equation B.10.

B.4.2. Calculation of $J2_{i,j}$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{J2}_{i,j} &= (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^2 \frac{\partial (\nabla u_h)}{\partial u_j}, \nabla \psi_i) \\ &= (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^2 \nabla \phi_j, \nabla \psi_i) \end{aligned}$$

B.4.3. Calculation of $J3_{i,j}$

 $\mathbf{J3}_{i,j} = \left(\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial u_j} \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} |\nabla u_h|^2, \nabla \psi_i\right) \text{ where } \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial u_j} \text{ is derived in Section B.4.1 Equation B.6 and} \\ \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} \text{ in Supplemental Section B.5.1, Equation B.8.}$

B.4.4. Calculation of $J4_{i,j}$

$$\mathbf{J4}_{i,j} = \left(\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\overline{\partial u_j \partial(\partial_{x,y,z}u_h)}} |\nabla u_h|^2, \nabla \psi_i\right). \text{ To calculate for } \frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial(\partial_{x,y,z}u_h)}:$$
(B.7)
$$\frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial(\partial_{x,y,z}u_h)} = \left(\frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial(\partial_x u_h)}, \frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial(\partial_y u_h)}, \frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial(\partial_z u_h)}\right)$$

where

$$\frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial (\partial_x u_h)} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} \left[4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\epsilon} \frac{\alpha_x}{|\nabla u_h|^6} \right]$$
$$= 4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\epsilon} \frac{\left(\frac{\partial \alpha_x}{\partial u_j} |\nabla u_h|^6\right) - \left(\alpha_x \frac{\partial |\nabla u_h|^6}{\partial u_j}\right)}{|\nabla u_h|^{12}}$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial (\partial_y u_h)} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} \Big[4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}} \frac{\alpha_y}{|\nabla u_h|^6} \Big] \\ = 4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}} \frac{(\frac{\partial \alpha_y}{\partial u_j} |\nabla u_h|^6) - (\alpha_y \frac{\partial |\nabla u_h|^6}{\partial u_j})}{|\nabla u_h|^{12}}$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial (\partial_z u_h)} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} \left[4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\epsilon} \frac{\alpha_z}{|\nabla u_h|^6} \right]$$
$$= 4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\epsilon} \frac{\left(\frac{\partial \alpha_z}{\partial u_j} |\nabla u_h|^6\right) - \left(\alpha_z \frac{\partial |\nabla u_h|^6}{\partial u_j}\right)}{|\nabla u_h|^{12}}$$

where $\frac{\partial \alpha_{x,y,z}}{\partial u_j}$ are derived in Supplemental Section B.5.3 Equation B.12 and $\frac{\partial |\nabla u_h|^6}{\partial u_j}$ in Supplemental Section B.5.2 Equation B.11.

B.4.5. Calculation of $J5_{i,j}$

$$\mathbf{J5}_{i,j} = (oldsymbol{\epsilon} rac{\partial oldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} rac{\partial (|
abla u_h|^2)}{\partial u_j},
abla \psi_i)$$

where $\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)}$ in Equation B.8 and $\frac{\partial (|\nabla u_h|^2)}{\partial u_j}$ in Equation B.9.

B.5. Summary

This section provides a summary of the full expression of individual Residuals and Jacobians, that ultimately implemented into the MOOSE finite element framework to enable simulation of anisotropic interfacial energy.

$$\mathbf{R1}_i = (\boldsymbol{\epsilon}^2 \nabla u_h, \nabla \psi_i)$$

	Expression	Equation					
	ε	B.2					
$\mathbf{R2}_i$	$=(\epsilon rac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} v)})$	$\overline{u_h} abla u_h ^2, abla$	$7\psi_i)$				
	Expression	Equation					
-	ε	B.2					
	$rac{\partial oldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)}$	B.8					
$\mathbf{J1}_{i,j} = (2\boldsymbol{\epsilon}\frac{\partial\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j}\nabla u_h, \nabla\psi_i)$							
	Expression	Equation					
	ε	B.2					
	$rac{\partial oldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j}$	B.6					
	$\mathbf{J2}_{i,j}=(oldsymbol{\epsilon}^{2\mathbf{V}})$	$\nabla \phi_j, \nabla \psi_i)$					
	Expression	Equation					
	ε	B.2					
$\mathbf{J3}_{i,j}$ =	$= \left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y})}\right)$	$\left \nabla u_h\right ^2$	$, \nabla \psi_i)$				
	Expression	Equation					
-	$rac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j}$	B.6					
	$rac{\partial oldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)}$	B.8					
$\mathbf{J4}_{i,j}$ =	$= (\boldsymbol{\epsilon} \frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial (\partial_{x,y})}$	$\overline{u_{,z}u_h} \nabla u_h ^2$	$,\nabla\psi_i)$				

Expression	Equation
ϵ	B.2
$rac{\partial^2 oldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial u_j \partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)}$	B.7

$$\mathbf{J5}_{i,j} = (\boldsymbol{\epsilon} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} \frac{\partial (|\nabla u_h|^2)}{\partial u_j}, \nabla \psi_i)$$

Expression	Equation
ϵ	B.2
$rac{\partial oldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)}$	B.8
$\frac{\partial(\nabla u_h ^2)}{\partial u_j}$	B.9

Supplemental Information

This section shows the work for more complicated derivation that is needed for Jacobian of anisotropic interfacial energy.

B.5.1. Calculation of $\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial ((\partial_{x,y,z}u_h))}$

(B.8)
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_{x,y,z} u_h)} = \left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_x u_h)}, \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_y u_h)}, \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_z u_h)}\right)$$

where
$$\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_x u_h)}$$
, $\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_y u_h)}$ and $\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_z u_h)}$ are calculated as follow:

$$\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_x u_h)} = \epsilon_o \bar{\epsilon} \frac{\partial}{\partial (\partial_x u_h)} \Big[\frac{(\partial_x u_h)^4 + (\partial_y u_h)^4 + (\partial_z u_h)^4}{[(\partial_x u_h)^2 + (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_z u_h)^2]^2} \Big]$$

$$= 4\epsilon_o \bar{\epsilon} \Big[\frac{(\partial_x u_h)^3 ((\partial_x u_h)^2 + (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_z u_h)^2) - (((\partial_x u_h)^4 + (\partial_y u_h)^4 + (\partial_z u_h)^4)((\partial_x u_h))}{((\partial_x u_h)^2 + (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_z u_h)^2)^3} \Big]$$

$$= 4\epsilon_o \bar{\epsilon} \Big[\frac{(\partial_x u_h)^5 + (\partial_x u_h)^3 (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_x u_h)^3 (\partial_z u_h)^2 - (\partial_x u_h)(\partial_y u_h)^4 - (\partial_x u_h)((\partial_z u_h)^4}{((\partial_x u_h)^2 + (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_x u_h)(\partial_y u_h)^4 - (\partial_x u_h)(\partial_z u_h)^4} \Big]$$

$$= 4\epsilon_o \bar{\epsilon} \frac{(\partial_x u_h)^3 (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_x u_h)^3 (\partial_z u_h)^2 - (\partial_x u_h)(\partial_y u_h)^4 - (\partial_x u_h)(\partial_z u_h)^4}{|\nabla u_h|^6}$$

$$=4\epsilon_{0}\bar{\epsilon}\frac{\partial_{x}u_{h}}{\left|\nabla u_{h}\right|^{2}}\left[\frac{\left[\partial_{x}u_{h}\right]^{2}\left[\left(\partial_{x}u_{h}\right)^{2}+\left(\partial_{y}u_{h}\right)^{2}+\left(\partial_{z}u_{h}\right)^{2}\right]-\left(\partial_{x}u_{h}\right)^{4}-\left(\partial_{y}u_{h}\right)^{4}-\left(\partial_{z}u_{h}\right)^{4}}{\left|\nabla u_{h}\right|^{4}}\right]$$

$$=4\epsilon_0\bar{\epsilon}\frac{\partial_x u_h}{\left|\nabla u_h\right|^2}\left[\frac{\left[\partial_x u_h\right]^2\left[(\partial_y u_h)^2+(\partial_z u_h)^2\right]-(\partial_y u_h)^4-(\partial_z u_h)^4}{\left|\nabla u_h\right|^4}\right]$$

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_y u_h)} &= 4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}} \frac{(\partial_y u_h)^3 (\partial_x u_h)^2 + (\partial_y u_h)^3 (\partial_z u_h)^2 - (\partial_y u_h) (\partial_x u_h)^4 - (\partial_y u_h) (\partial_z u_h)^4}{|\nabla u_h|^6} \\ &= 4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}} \frac{\alpha_y}{|\nabla u_h|^6} \end{aligned}$$

$$=4\epsilon_0\bar{\epsilon}\frac{\partial_y u_h}{\left|\nabla u_h\right|^2}\left[\frac{\left[\partial_y u_h\right]^2\left[(\partial_x u_h)^2+(\partial_y u_h)^2+(\partial_z u_h)^2\right]-(\partial_x u_h)^4-(\partial_y u_h)^4-(\partial_z u_h)^4}{\left|\nabla u_h\right|^4}\right]$$

$$=4\epsilon_{0}\overline{\epsilon}\frac{\partial_{y}u_{h}}{\left|\nabla u_{h}\right|^{2}}\left[\frac{\left[\partial_{y}u_{h}\right]^{2}\left[\left(\partial_{x}u_{h}\right)^{2}+\left(\partial_{z}u_{h}\right)^{2}\right]-\left(\partial_{x}u_{h}\right)^{4}-\left(\partial_{z}u_{h}\right)^{4}}{\left|\nabla u_{h}\right|^{4}}\right]$$

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\epsilon}}{\partial (\partial_z u_h)} &= 4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}} \frac{(\partial_z u_h)^3 (\partial_x u_h)^2 + (\partial_z u_h)^3 (\partial_y u_h)^2 - (\partial_z u_h) (\partial_x u_h)^4 - (\partial_z u_h) (\partial_y u_h)^4}{|\nabla u_h|^6} \\ &= 4\epsilon_{\circ} \bar{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}} \frac{\alpha_z}{|\nabla u_h|^6} \end{split}$$

$$=4\epsilon_0\bar{\epsilon}\frac{\partial_z u_h}{\left|\nabla u_h\right|^2}\left[\frac{\left[\partial_z u_h\right]^2\left[(\partial_x u_h)^2+(\partial_y u_h)^2+(\partial_z u_h)^2\right]-(\partial_x u_h)^4-(\partial_y u_h)^4-(\partial_z u_h)^4}{\left|\nabla u_h\right|^4}\right]$$

$$=4\epsilon_0\bar{\epsilon}\frac{\partial_z u_h}{\left|\nabla u_h\right|^2}\left[\frac{\left[\partial_z u_h\right]^2\left[(\partial_x u_h)^2+(\partial_y u_h)^2\right]-(\partial_x u_h)^4-(\partial_y u_h)^4}{\left|\nabla u_h\right|^4}\right]$$

B.5.2. Calculation for $\frac{\partial(|\nabla u_h|^2)}{\partial u_j}$, $\frac{\partial(|\nabla u_h|^4)}{\partial u_j}$ and $\frac{\partial(|\nabla u_h|^6)}{\partial u_j}$

(B.9)
$$\frac{\partial(|\nabla u_h|^2)}{\partial u_j} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j}((\partial_x u_h)^2 + (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_z u_h)^2)$$
$$= 2((\partial_x u_h)(\partial_x \phi_j) + (\partial_y u_h)(\partial_y \phi_j) + (\partial_z u_h)(\partial_z \phi_j))$$

(B.10)
$$\frac{\partial (|\nabla u_h|^4)}{\partial u_j} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} ((\partial_x u_h)^2 + (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_z u_h)^2)^2$$
$$= 2((\partial_x u_h)^2 + (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_z u_h)^2) \frac{\partial |\nabla u_h|^2}{\partial u_j}$$
$$= 2|\nabla u_h|^2 \frac{\partial (|\nabla u_h|^2)}{\partial u_j}$$

(B.11)
$$\frac{\partial(|\nabla u_h|^6)}{\partial u_j} = 3|\nabla u_h|^4 \frac{\partial(|\nabla u_h|^2)}{\partial u_j}$$

B.5.3. Calculation for $\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial u_j}$

 $\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial u_j}$ can be written as a vector where its components α_x , α_y and α_z correspond to the numerators of $\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_x u_h)}$, $\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_y u_h)}$ and $\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial (\partial_z u_h)}$ in Equation B.8 in Section B.5.1.

(B.12)
$$\frac{\partial \alpha}{\partial u_j} = \left(\frac{\partial \alpha_x}{\partial u_j}, \frac{\partial \alpha_y}{\partial u_j}, \frac{\partial \alpha_z}{\partial u_j}\right)$$

Using product rule:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \alpha_x}{\partial u_j} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} ((\partial_x u_h)^3 (\partial_y u_h)^2 + (\partial_x u_h)^3 (\partial_z u_h)^2 - (\partial_x u_h) (\partial_y u_h)^4 - (\partial_x u_h) (\partial_z u_h)^4) \\ &= (3(\partial_x u_h)^2 (\partial_x \phi_j) (\partial_y u_h)^2 + 2(\partial_y u_h) (\partial_y \phi_j) (\partial_x u_h)^3) \\ &+ (3(\partial_x u_h)^2 (\partial_x \phi_j) (\partial_z u_h)^2 + 2(\partial_z u_h) (\partial_z \phi_j) (\partial_x u_h)^3) \\ &- ((\partial_x \phi_j) (\partial_y u_h)^4 + 4(\partial_y u_h)^3 (\partial_y \phi_j) (\partial_x u_h)) - ((\partial_x \phi_j) (\partial_z u_h)^4 + 4(\partial_z u_h)^3 (\partial_z \phi_j) (\partial_x u_h)) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \alpha_y}{\partial u_j} &= (3(\partial_y u_h)^2 (\partial_y \phi_j) (\partial_x u_h)^2 + 2(\partial_x u_h) (\partial_x \phi_j) (\partial_y u_h)^3) \\ &+ (3(\partial_y u_h)^2 (\partial_y \phi_j) (\partial_z u_h)^2 + 2(\partial_z u_h) (\partial_z \phi_j) (\partial_y u_h)^3) \\ &- ((\partial_y \phi_j) (\partial_x u_h)^4 + 4(\partial_x u_h)^3 (\partial_x \phi_j) (\partial_y u_h)) - ((\partial_y \phi_j) (\partial_z u_h)^4 + 4(\partial_z u_h)^3 (\partial_z \phi_j) (\partial_y u_h)) \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \alpha_z}{\partial u_j} &= (3(\partial_z u_h)^2 (\partial_z \phi_j) (\partial_x u_h)^2 + 2(\partial_x u_h) (\partial_x \phi_j) (\partial_z u_h)^3) \\ &+ (3(\partial_z u_h)^2 (\partial_z \phi_j) (\partial_y u_h)^2 + 2(\partial_y u_h) (\partial_y \phi_j) (\partial_z u_h)^3) \\ &- ((\partial_z \phi_j) (\partial_x u_h)^4 + 4(\partial_x u_h)^3 (\partial_x \phi_j) (\partial_z u_h)) - ((\partial_z \phi_j) (\partial_y u_h)^4 + 4(\partial_y u_h)^3 (\partial_y \phi_j) (\partial_z u_h)) \end{aligned}$$

APPENDIX C

Phase Segmentation in Atom-Probe Tomography Using Deep Learning-Based Edge Detection

C.1. Introduction

Advances in atom-probe tomography (APT) allow three-dimensional atomic reconstruction of materials with an unparalleled spatial and atomic resolution [64, 194, 195]. Application of APT to various materials, *e.g.*, metals, ceramics, biominerals and composites, now provides atomic structure-property relations to facilitate further materials development. APT is particularly useful in studying interfacial properties of precipitates, surfaces and thin films. Once the interface is identified, the elemental distribution along the interface may be closely examined using various statistical tools, such as proximity histograms [75] and elemental mapping [196].

Traditionally, interfaces are identified through iso-concentration surfaces constructed based on the marching cubes algorithm, which extracts an iso-concentration surface from a discrete scalar field with user-supplied concentration values [197]. The method is subjective and prone to inconsistencies due to local composition inhomogeneities. In addition, such a labor-intensive manual process prevents analyses of large amounts of APT datasets, limiting the scope of APT studies. In this paper, we focus on identifying the interface in a precipitate-matrix system by phase segmentation. This approach holds the potential to expedite and reduce inconsistencies in the process of identifying interfaces and study of interfacial properties, and can furthermore be scaled up to high-performance computer platforms.

Segmentation is an approach used to partition two- (or three-) dimensional space into visually distinct and homogeneous regions with respect to certain properties. Segmentation is widely studied in the context of digital images, where the spatial information is represented by means of picture elements (pixels) in two-dimension and volume elements (voxels) in three dimensions. A pixel is the smallest unit of information that makes up a digital image in two-dimension; it is usually a square, and pixels are typically arranged in a two-dimensional grid. The color intensity in each pixel is represented by three channels, representing the intensities of red, blue and green (commonly referred to as RGB), respectively, and their combination uniquely defines the intensity of the pixel. The attributes of the voxel are similar to that of the pixel, except that it is in three dimensions.

Classical approaches to segmentation include those that are intensity-thresholding based, edge-detection or boundary-based, region/similarity-based, clustering-based, as well as graph-based approaches (see [198] for a detailed review). These approaches are primarily unsupervised, *i.e.*, the segmentation models are obtained from datasets consisting of image data without any explicitly labeled segments. There are also several supervised segmentation approaches that use *a priori* knowledge involving the ground truth of the segments to recognize and label the pixels in a new image according to one of the object classes on which the model is trained. This approach is usually referred to as semantic segmentation [199], and tends to identify different objects present in an image as well as their location.

The success of deep learning approaches in surpassing the human level accuracy in tasks such as images classification [200] and language translation [201] has motivated several recent works in the field of digital image segmentation. This research has typically been focused on the semantic segmentation approach, as it has the potential to achieve complete image/scene understanding, which is a crucial aspect of computer vision. There are several applications under the umbrella of computer vision, such as autonomous transport [202] and human-computer interaction as well as other applications, such as medical image analysis [203], remote sensing [204], which have adopted semantic segmentation. One shortcoming of this approach is that it is only applicable for segmenting the objects (with a distinct shape) used in training sets.

Alternatively, edge/contour detection has also been significantly improved with deep learning approaches [205]. A supervised learning approach is used for edge detection, wherein each pixel is labeled as either edge or non-edge. This approach is slightly different from semantic segmentation, in that there are only two classes (edge and no-edge) and lesser semantic knowledge; hence this approach could be applicable for segmentation of objects with morphologies different from those in training data. In the case of APT, the precipitate shape can range from a thin slab to a complicated irregular volume; it is therefore a compelling case for the application of edge detection to segment the precipitate from the matrix.

Early deep learning approaches for edge detection used a conventional convolutional neural network (CNN) [206], while the latter approaches replaced the CNN with fully

convolutional networks (FCNs), which provide an end-to-end framework for pixel-wise label prediction [207]. The holistic nested edge detection (HED) approach [208] was subsequently proposed, which utilizes FCN along with the side outputs (model predictions at the intermediate layers of the network) and deep supervision to significantly improve the edge detection. HED was also demonstrated to achieve human level accuracy in edge detection. Several enhancements have been proposed for HED [209, 210], but it still remains the most widely used approach because of its efficiency and multi-scaling scheme to handle resolution and scale problems [205]; hence, we adopt HED for segmentation in this work.

Although the deep learning approaches have been shown to be successful in many tasks, one shortcoming is that they rely heavily on being provided with precise and abundant data to train the deep neural networks underlying the approaches. Especially for the supervised learning used for edge detection, large amounts of labeled data are required. Although labeled data are abundantly available for edge detection in natural images, it is challenging in problems such as interface detection in APT as significant time and effort are required to conduct each experiment [194] and to manually identify the iso-concentration surfaces as labeled data. We circumvent this challenge of labeled data collection for training the edge detection model by adopting transfer learning, which in general seeks to generalize a model trained on one task to another similar task. More specifically, the transfer learning approach we adopt utilizes the knowledge acquired from learning edge detection features on the source domain (natural images), which has abundant labeled data, to a target domain (APT) edge detection. In our work, we present and demonstrate a digital image segmentation based surface extraction as an alternative to manual, and *ad hoc*, construct of iso-concentration surfaces for APT datasets. We show that our approach can transfer learnt edge detection features from natural images to segment APT reconstructions accurately and efficiently. We demonstrate the qualitative and quantitative accuracy of our approach using a synthetic data set constructed with molecular dynamics simulations, as well as experimental APT datasets of Co and Al superalloys [**211**].

C.2. Methodology: Segmentation of Phases

C.2.1. Holistically-Nested Edge Detection (HED)

We adopt HED, an end-to-end edge detection approach that performs image-to-image prediction (*i.e.*, takes an image as input, and outputs the prediction at each pixel) by means of a deep learning model that leverages FCN and deeply supervised nets. A FCN is similar to the regular CNN model used for classification, but the last fully connected layer is replaced by another convolution layer with a large filter size, which allows pixelwise label prediction. Deep supervision is achieved by using the local output from each of the hidden layers (that is analogous to the final output obtained from a network truncated at the current hidden layer) and back-propagating the error not only from the final layer, but simultaneously from all the local outputs in the learning stage. The side outputs and deep supervision contribute to a significant performance gain over the patch-based CNN and simple FCN for edge detection.

The training phase of this approach aims to learn a functional mapping between the two-dimensional input image described by N pixels X_k , k = 1, ..., N, where edge detection

is desired, and the corresponding ground truth binary edge map (Y_k) on all the pixels of image X_k . This map is obtained by training a neural network, which is composed of a VGGNet (a neural network consisting of 16 convolutional layers, five pooling layers and three fully-connected layers, which was proposed by the Visual Geometry Group (VGG) [212]), where the fifth pooling layer and the fully connected layers are trimmed, resulting in five stages with a total of 16 convolutional layers. The side output layer is connected to the last convolutional layer in each stage for deep-supervision.

The process of collecting APT data is expensive and time-consuming, and manually identifying the interfaces is cumbersome, labor-intensive and subjective. Hence, we adopt the transfer-learning approach in which: (1) the parameters for the trimmed VGGNet part of the network are initialized to the weights from VGGNet pre-trained on the Imagenet dataset [213]; and (2) the entire network is then trained using the Berkeley Segmentation Dataset and Benchmark (BSDS 500) [214] dataset (composed of 200 training, 100 validation, and 200 testing images) containing a wide variety of natural scenes with at least one discernable object (*e.g.* birds, animals, etc.). Each image in the dataset has been manually annotated to obtain the ground truth contours. This training approach is similar to the procedure for edge prediction in natural images outlined by Xie and Tu (2015) [208]. Figure C.1 shows an example of the image and the contours from the BSD dataset.

C.2.2. Orthogonal Volumetric Segmentation

The neural network trained using the procedure mentioned in the previous section is then used to perform segmentation on a three-dimensional APT dataset.



(a) Original image (b) Annotated ground truth contours

Figure C.1. Sample training image from BSDS 500 dataset

Before segmentation, the data have to be prepared and processed into a suitable format. The datasets obtained from APT consist of the spatial coordinates of each atom, as well as a label for their chemical identity. These data are transformed into a regular 3D grid of atomic concentrations, where the grid is obtained by partitioning the 3D space into a series of voxels, and the concentration is calculated for a given chemical species on each voxel based on its relative atomic fraction with respect to the other species. This grid along with the concentrations is herein referred to as the **concentration space**. The concentration values range between [0, 1], hence they can be converted into grayscale images with a single intensity channel, and subsequently replicate these intensity values into three channels corresponding to RGB of each voxel. The segmentation approach can then be applied to the **concentration space** and its associated RGB voxels.

We propose to segment the concentration space by extracting 2D slices in each of the three orthogonal directions and detecting the edges using the HED model trained on natural images. Once the edges are obtained on each of the image slices in the three orthogonal directions, a 3D edge detection map for each slice direction is obtained by stacking all the 2D edges in that direction. Then all the three 3D edge detection maps are merged into one by taking a union of all the voxels detected to have edges. Since there are only two phases in the APT datasets studied herein, the obtained edge detection map in 3D serves as the interfacial surface between the two phases. However, we note that the thickness of this surface depends on the thickness of the edges delineating the two surfaces. If the edges are thicker and extend to more than one voxel, there could be two surfaces, one on either side of the edge. This, however, is still acceptable as it only shifts the proximity histograms described in the next section by a small distance from the interface, and hence do not have significant effects on the interface properties calculations.

C.2.3. Proximity Histogram Calculation

The 3D point cloud data from the APT results consisting of the atomic positions and elemental identities; when combined with the edge-detected surface, a one-dimensional plot that represents the change in the relative concentration of the chemical species as a function of the distance from the surface is obtained. This plot is referred to as the proximity histogram or *proxigram*, and is acquired following the procedure outlined in Hellman et. al.(2000) [75], except that the iso-concentration surface is herein replaced by the interfacial surface obtained by edge detection. Algorithm 1 outlines the approach used to obtain the *proxigrams*.

C.3. Data Acquisition and Preparation

C.3.1. Synthetic data set for validation and verification

To create a verifiable test case, a synthetic sample with a known concentration was created using a molecular dynamics (MD) approach—an atomistic simulation method, where the

Algorithm 1 P	roxigram	calcu	lation
---------------	----------	-------	--------

- 1: Obtain the edge detected surface
- 2: Triangulate the surface to obtain mesh and corresponding elemental surface normals
- 3: for i = 1 to number of elements do
- 4: Calculate the distance of each atom with elemental identity i from the surface
- 5: $Hist_i \leftarrow Obtain histogram of the distances using a bin width B$
- 6: $Hist_{all} \leftarrow$ Repeat the histogram calculation using atoms from all elements
- 7: for i = 1 to number of elements do
- 8: $Proxigram_i = Hist_i/Hist_{all}$

motion of atoms is modeled using Newton's laws of motion. In these simulations, the forces between atoms are modeled using empirical forcefield equations, and motion is created using various time integration schemes. The synthetic sample was first created by inserting two different amorphous mixtures of Al and Co into a box at opposite ends. The two phases were bridged with an amorphous interface, whose mixture was initially a linear gradient of 5Å. Once the initial structure was generated it was then heated under molecular dynamics using the LAMMPS software package[**215**]. This was done at a constant temperature of 2000 K for 100 picoseconds of simulation time in order to smooth out the interface. The Embedded Atom potential by Mishin *et al.* was used for the inter-atomic forces[**216**]. The MD synthetic structure contains one layer with an 80/20 Co to Al mixture and a second layer with a 50/50 mixture. The total number of atoms from all the elements, Co and Al, was 16,000, and the dimensions of the volume enclosing them are $1000 \times 100 \times 100$ Å³.

Similarly, a layered synthetic structure with the composition of a Co-based superalloy (see below) was generated using Cameca's IVAS analysis code. To more closely emulate the structure obtained from APT, where atomic positions deviate from the perfect crystalline lattice due to uncertainties from the field-induced evaporation process [63], the

IVAS synthetic dataset was artificially introduced with a random spatial deviation from the theoretical atomic sites.

C.3.2. APT dataset

Cobalt and aluminum superalloys were used as model materials for experimental APT datasets. The Co-based superalloy used herein is a ternary alloy with 8.8 at.% Al and 7.3 at.% of W. Coherent precipitates of the γ' -phase (L1₂) are formed in the γ -phase (fcc) matrix with concentration differences in the two phases following the bulk thermodynamic potentials. These concentration differences lead to concentration changes across interfaces that can be used to identify them. The Al superalloy study herein is an Al-Er-Sc-Zr-Si alloy that is strengthened by ordered (L1₂) coherent Al₃(Er,Sc,Zr) precipitates and has a concentration of 0.005 at% Er, 0.02 at% Sc, 0.07 at% Zr and 0.06 at% Si.

Atom-probe tomograms of the alloys were obtained by preparing nanotips and analyzing them using a Cameca's local-electrode atom-probe (LEAP) 4000X-Si equipped with picosecond ultraviloet laser. During the pulsed laser illumination, surface atoms are evaporated toward a two-dimensional position sensitive detector, thus constructing three-dimensional atomic tomograms of the specimens. Along with the time-of-flight measurements, the mass-to-charge ratio of the atoms can be determined, providing chemical information for each individual atoms. The experimental procedures and tomogram reconstruction conditions are detailed in Ref. [217]. The APT raw datasets were processed using IVAS for mass spectra analyses and spatial reconstructions. After raw data processing, a position file that contains the reconstructed species' spatial positions and massto-charge state ("m/n") ratios was obtained. Additionally, a range file which matches an m/n ratio to a particular elements enables identification of each atomic species [**63**].

C.4. Results and Discussion

C.4.1. Segmentation

We evaluate the effectiveness and quantitative fidelity of the proposed supervised edge detection and transfer learning based digital image segmentation approach using three different interface modalities: (1) layered interface, in which the precipitate and matrix are two different layers separated by a thin interface; (2) isolated interface, in which the precipitate is an ellipsoid embedded in the matrix; and (3) interconnected interface, which is a general case where the precipitate phase exhibits an irregular morphology. The layered interface structures examined herein are synthetic and were generated using molecular dynamics simulations or using IVAS software. The isolated and interconnected precipitates APT data sets were obtained experimentally.

C.4.1.1. Layered structures. A synthetic layer structure was generated using the molecular dynamics approach outlined in Section C.3.1. Concentration space was obtained for the Co atoms with a voxel size chosen as $2 \times 2 \times 2$ Å³. In this particular case, there was no interface component in the X-direction, so only the slices in the Y- and Z-directions are used. A 2D slice in the Y-direction and the corresponding image showing the edge detection map (indicated in white) is shown in Figure C.2a. The edge detection map correctly identified the interface between the top and bottom regions. A similar

exercise on a slice in the Z-direction is shown in Figure C.2b, where the interface was also captured appropriately by the edge detection map. Merging the 2D edge detection map from slices in Y- and Z- direction produces the surface separating the top and bottom regions as shown in Figure C.2c.



(a) Concentration space (b) Concentration space (c) The edge surface ob-(left) and edge detection (left) and edge detection tained by merging the edges map (right) of a slice along map (right) of a slice along in Y- and Z-directions the Y-direction. the Z-direction.

Figure C.2. Two- and three-dimensional edge detection map in a synthetic Co-Al alloy generated from MD simulation.

Similarly, a synthetic structure of a Co-based superalloy generated using IVAS is shown in Figure C.3. The synthetic structure contains a layer of $\gamma'(L1_2)$ precipitate and a layer of $\gamma(\text{f.c.c.})$ matrix. This dataset contains additional spatial variations compared to the MD structure. As in the previous case, 2D slices were only generated in the Yand Z- directions to obtain the edge detected surfaces. A slice in the Y-direction and the corresponding edge detection map is shown in Figure C.3a, and corresponding images for a slice in the Z-direction are displayed in Figure C.3b. The total number of atoms from all the elements Co, Al and W was 1,983,127, with the dimensions of the enclosing volume being $41 \times 51 \times 51$ nm³. Concentration space was obtained for the Co atoms with a voxel size chosen as $1 \times 1 \times 1$ nm³. We note that, unlike the previous case, the detected edges are thicker and we observe secondary edges on the side (Figure C.3a). The thickness of the edges is a consequence of the uncertainty in the boundary between the top and bottom layers as well as the HED edge detection algorithm itself, which tends to produce thicker edges [218]. Alternative edge detection approaches such as the Crisp Edge Detection (CED) [218] could be used to alleviate this situation and decrease the thickness of the edges. The consequence of a thicker edge is only that we would obtain two surfaces, one at the top and other at the bottom as displayed in Figure C.3. This, however, does not affect the accuracy of the *proxigram* because it only shifts the *proxigrams* obtained). The secondary edges detected on the side could be removed by preprocessing the 2D slices to remove the empty volume.

C.4.1.2. Isolated Phase. To further validate the effectiveness of the implemented segmentation method, an experimental APT dataset of a $L1_2$ strengthened Al-Er-Sc-Zr-Si superalloy is used. The interface exhibits a more complex morphology with the precipitate having an ellipsoidal morphology.

The total number of atoms from all the elements, Al, Er, Sc, Zr and Si, is 668,388 with the dimensions of the enclosing volume being $29.5 \times 23.5 \times 22.5$ nm³. Concentration space is obtained for the Al atoms with a voxel size chosen as $0.5 \times 0.5 \times 0.5$ nm³. For the APT tomogram with a three-dimensional varying morphology, the 2D slices have to be extracted in each of the three orthogonal directions to reconstruct accurately the precipitate geometry. The 2D slices and the corresponding edge detection map in X-, Y-, Z-direction are shown in Figures C.4a, C.4b, C.4c, respectively. The morphology of



(a) Concentration space (left) and edge detection map (right) of a slice along the Y-direction. The desired primary edge separating the two layers as well as the secondary edges are highlighted.



(b) Concentration space (left) and edge detection map (right) of a slice along the Z-direction.

(c) Two surfaces on either side of the thick edge detection map obtained by merging the edges in Y- and Z- directions.

Figure C.3. Two- and three-dimensional edge detection map in synthetic Co-Al-W alloy generated using IVAS.

the precipitate has been accurately retrieved as seen in the edge detection map obtained on a 2D slice in each of the three orthogonal directions, and the fully reconstructed 3D surface obtained from fusing all slices in three directions (Figure C.4d). We observe the thick edges in the experimental APT dataset as well. The ability to capture accurately the interface in the Al superalloy, which contains tens of percents of alloying elements (Si, Sc, Zr and Er), signifies the interface identifying capability of the HED method.

C.4.1.3. Interconnected Phases. Figure C.5 shows the three-dimensional reconstruction of the entire APT nanotip from a Co-based superalloy [211]. The narrow γ matrix



(a) Concentration space (left) and edge de- (b) Concentration space (left) and edge detection map (right) of a slice along the X- tection map (right) of a slice along the Ydirection.



(c) Concentration space (left) and edge de- (d) The edge surface obtained by merging the tection map (right) of a slice along the Z- edges on slices in the X-,Y-, and Z-direction. direction.

Figure C.4. Two- and three-dimensional edge detection map in the experimentally obtained APT data set from an L1₂-strengthened Al-Si-Sc-Er superalloy.

channel and the inter-connectivity of the γ' from precipitate coalescence result in an overall complex interfacial structure.

This is the most general case in which the precipitate is irregular and distributed throughout the examining volume. The total number of atoms from all the elements, Co, Al and W, is 19,104,918 with the dimensions of the enclosing volume being $112 \times 90.5 \times 90.5 \text{ nm}^3$. The concentration space is obtained for the Co atoms with a voxel size

chosen as $0.5 \times 0.5 \times 0.5$ nm³. A 2D slice of the concentration space in the X-direction and the corresponding edges detected are shown in Figure C.5a, where it can be seen that the edge detection approach accurately identifies and segments the γ matrix phase from the γ' precipitate phase. A 2D slice in Y-, Z-direction and their corresponding edge detection map is shown in Figure C.5b and C.5c, respectively. The full 3D representation of the surface delineating the γ and γ' phases that is obtained by fusing the information from the 2D slices in the three orthogonal directions is shown in Figure C.5d.

A qualitative comparison of the concentration space and the edge detection maps on each slice show that the location of the matrix/precipitate interface is fairly well captured by the edges. In order to make a quantitative comparison, we obtain the isoconcentration surface using IVAS, by carefully tuning the Co concentration until the precipitate and matrix interface is captured. The obtained iso-concentration surface corresponds to a Co concentration of 0.855 and the detected surface corresponds to this concentration is shown in Figure C.6a. Using the HED approach, for the identical 2D slice, a histogram of the Co concentration at the HED detected edge is shown in Figure C.6b and has a peak at Co = 0.87, which agrees well with the iso-concentration surface obtained via IVAS. Thus, validating the interface detected using the HED method against the ubiquitous iso-concentration surface approach.

C.4.2. Proxigram Estimation

Interfacial properties of a material are frequently extracted by fitting various models to the *proxigram* composition profile. For example, sigmoid functions are well suited to model a symmetric interface [**219**, **220**] while manual thresholding more accurately extracts the



direction.



direction.



(a) Concentration space (left) and edge de- (b) Concentration space (left) and edge detection map (right) of a slice along the X- tection map (right) of a slice along the Ydirection.



(c) Concentration space (left) and edge de- (d) Three-dimensional point cloud reconstructection map (right) of a slice along the Z- tion of the entire Co superalloy APT specimen (left) and the resulting interface from the edge detection method (right). This method identifies the interconnected γ matrix channels on the order of tens of nm.

Figure C.5. Two- and three-dimensional edge detection map of the experimentally obtained APT data set from a Co-based superalloy.

properties of an asymmetric interface [221]. The accuracy of interfacial properties impacts derivative material properties, such as interfacial free energy. Specifically, interfacial free energy is dependent on the mean precipitate radius and the supersaturation of each element in the system, which APT datasets apply capture these properties. However, any interface identification or analysis requires determining the interface location through an



(a) A slice of the iso-concentration surface (b) Histogram of the concentrations at the (Co = 0.855) along the X-axis obtained uspixels corresponding to the edge detected map shown in Figure C.5a, has a peak at Co = 0.87.

Figure C.6. Comparison of iso-concentration interface generated using IVAS software and the HED generated interfaces.



(a) *Proxigram* concentration profile from the (b) *Proxigram* concentration profile obtained synthetic MD layered structure using HED and from the synthetic IVAS data set using HED IVAS. and IVAS.

Figure C.7. *Proxigram* comparisons on the MD and IVAS generated synthetic data sets. *Proxigram* concentration profile derived from IVAS display a narrower interfacial width in comparison to the HED method.

iso-concentration analysis. Using the HED approach described herein, interface detection

is performed through compositional contrast rather than an arbitrarily defined concentration value. Therefore, the HED is agnostic with respect to models of an interface, both in regards to detection as well as to other properties, such as symmetric or asymmetric.

The resulting *proxigram* from the layered structure generated using MD is shown in Figure C.7a and those of the synthetic IVAS-generated data are shown in Figure C.7b. For the MD synthetic structure, as the Co concentration does not monotonically vary across the interface, adopting a spline fit and Co concentration thresholding will more accurately capture the interface properties as commonly practiced in the phase-field modelling community. Using the concentration thresholding method, the interface thickness obtained using the HED method is 2.3 Å, while that obtained from IVAS is approximately 1.3 Å. We note that the interfacial width obtained for the same dataset using the isoconcentration surface by IVAS (Figure C.7a) yields an interface thickness that is smaller than that obtained using the HED approach. The far-field concentration of Co on either side of the interface (80.2% and 50.7%) are both accurately recovered by the *proxigram* method, which provides a quantitative validation of the interface obtained using our segmentation approach. Far field concentrations are calculated by averaging the composition after the interfacial contribution has diminished.

Properties of a symmetric interface may be modeled using the following sigmoid function

(C.1)
$$f(x) = \frac{1}{2}(\rho_1 + \rho_2) - \frac{1}{2}(\rho_1 + \rho_2) * \tanh\left(\frac{x-a}{b}\right),$$

where ρ_1 , ρ_2 , a, and b are fitting parameters that correspond to the atomic densities of the two regions of the box, the interface position, and the interfacial thickness, respectively.

Direct measurement of the interfacial thickness of the MD dataset using Equation C.1 on time-averaged histograms of the Co positions along the interfacial direction results in an interfacial thickness of 3.8 Å, whereas fitting Equation C.1 to the HED *proxigram* results in an interfacial thickness of 4.0 Å. This comparison suggests that the HED interface is able to closely capture the interface thickness, which is important for calculating material properties that are particularly sensitive to measurement error, such as the coarsening rate constant.

We also compare the *proxigram* concentration profile obtained from the synthetic layered data generated using IVAS (Figure C.7b). In this case, we use the interfacial surface generated using HED approach as well as that obtained using IVAS. The *proxigram* concentration profiles generated from IVAS use a bin size of 0.5 nm to average local composition fluctuations. As in the earlier case, we find that the concentrations on either side of the interface are accurately obtained using both approaches. However, we find that even though the interfacial thickness is very close for both approaches, the interfacial thickness using the proposed HED approach is slightly larger than than that obtained using IVAS, consistent with our observations for the synthetic MD-generated interface (Figure C.7a).

C.5. Summary and Conclusion

The ability to both rapidly and accurately identify interfaces, as well as to analyze qualitatively and quantitatively is paramount in the analyses of APT data, and also in general tomographic investigations of multi-grain solid structures [222, 223, 224, 225]. Current approaches utilizing iso-concentration surfaces in interface identification require

subjective input and may not be automated and scaled to high-performance computing to extract interfacial properties.

We have proposed and demonstrated a digital image segmentation approach to segment the precipitate and the matrix phases in superalloys, and use that to obtain the interfaces. The segmentation is accomplished using supervised edge detection to accommodate the irregularity in the morphologies of the two phases. Specifically, we utilize the hierarchically nested edge detection approach that consists of fully convolutional networks along with deep supervision. Furthermore, as the process of collecting and manually labeling the interface in the APT data for training the edge detection model can be cumbersome, labor-intensive, expensive and time-consuming, we propose a transfer learning approach to ameliorate this approach. Our approach utilizes the edge detection features learned on the natural images, which has abundant label data and transfers that knowledge towards segmentation in the atom-probe tomography data.

We demonstrated that our approach is qualitatively and quantitatively accurate by comparing the results of our approach with that of proprietary IVAS software from Cameca Instrument Inc. for synthetic and experimental APT data of two-phase systems. Our approach was able to successfully segment the two phases and identify the interfaces with different geometrical features. The identified interfaces correspond well with the qualitative visualization using 2D slices. In cases where the images are noisy and the interface is not clear, we obtain *thick* edges, which could be alleviated by using approaches such as Crisp Edge Detection [**218**].

The approach proposed herein demonstrates the power of machine learning techniques in the analyses of APT data. It should also be readily applicable to analysis of other tomographic data of multi-phase or multi-grain systems, such as X-ray tomography of multi-phase systems, or transmission electron microscopy tomography. By using transfer learning the fully convolutional network can be trained in advance of experiments, and be applied in real time. This may be especially valuable in situations where rapid data analysis during the experiment may provide valuable real-time feedback to the experiment.